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PART I

Certain statements contained herein are forward-looking statements, within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
including, but not limited to, statements pertaining to future financial and/or operating results, future growth in research, technology, clinical
development, and potential opportunities for Asterias, along with other statements about the future expectations, beliefs, goals, plans, or prospects
expressed by management constitute forward-looking statements. Any statements that are not historical fact (including, but not limited to statements that
contain words such as “will,” “believes,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “estimates”) should also be considered to be forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including, without limitation, risks inherent in the development and/or commercialization of
potential products, uncertainty in the results of clinical trials or regulatory approvals, need and ability to obtain future capital, and maintenance of
intellectual property rights. Actual results may differ materially from the results anticipated in these forward-looking statements and as such should be
evaluated together with the many uncertainties that affect the businesses of Asterias, particularly those mentioned in the cautionary statements found in
Asterias’ filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Asterias disclaims any intent or obligation to update these forward-looking statements

References to “Asterias,” “our” or “us” means Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.

The description or discussion, in this Form 10-K, of any contract or agreement is a summary only and is qualified in all respects by reference to the
full text of the applicable contract or agreement.

Preliminary Note Regarding Ownership of Our Common Stock

As of March 23, 2016, we had 530 shareholders of record and there were 38,352,150 shares of our Series A Common Stock (“Series A Shares”)
outstanding, of which 21,747,569 Series A Shares were held by our parent BioTime, Inc. ("BioTime"). These Series A Shares held by BioTime account for
56.7% of our Series A Shares outstanding as a whole. Accordingly, we are a consolidated subsidiary of BioTime.
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Item 1. Business

Overview
 

Asterias is a clinical-stage biotechnology company focused on developing and commercializing novel therapies in the emerging fields of cell
therapy and regenerative medicine. We have two core technology platforms. The first is an immunotherapy platform to teach cancer patients’ immune
systems to attack their tumors. The second is pluripotent stem cell platform. Pluripotent cells are a type of stem cell capable of becoming all of the cell types
in the human body. We are focused on developing therapies to treat conditions with high unmet medical needs and inadequate available therapies, with an
initial focus on the therapeutic areas of oncology and neurology.

In October of 2013, we acquired intellectual property, cell lines, preclinical and clinical data, and other assets from Geron Corporation ("Geron") and
also acquired rights to use certain human embryonic stem ("hES") cell lines and to practice certain patents from our parent company, BioTime, Inc.
("BioTime"). From the assets acquired in these transactions, we have prioritized the development of our two core technology platforms. From
our immunotherapy platform, we are developing two programs. AST-VAC1 (telomerase loaded, autologous dendritic cells) which could teach a patient's own
cells to recognize and fight cancer cells in acute myelogenous leukemia(AML). Together with our collaboration partner, Cancer Research United Kingdom
(“CRUK”) we are also developing AST-VAC2 (telomerase loaded, -allogeneic dendritic cells), -derived from pluripotent stem cells which could provide 'off
the shelf' cells that will teach a patient's immune system to recognize and fight cancer cells, in non-small cell lung cancer. We believe that our
immunotherapy programs have potential for application in additional cancer indications. From our pluripotent stem cell platform we are developing AST-
OPC1, oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, in an initial clinical indication of spinal cord injury, with potential for later expansion into other neurodegenerative
diseases such as stroke and multiple sclerosis.

Products Under Development
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Product Candidates

AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2, Cancer Vaccine Candidates Targeting Telomerase

We are developing two experimental immunotherapeutic programs, AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2, each designed to attack cancer cells by targeting
the cancer cell’s expression of telomerase. Both product candidates use an immune cell type known as dendritic cells to stimulate immune responses to
telomerase. Dendritic cells are antigen processing and presenting cells which are potent initiators of a cellular and antibody-mediated immune response
Telomerase is a ubiquitous cancer antigen, expressed at high levels in nearly all human cancers, but at very low levels or not at all in normal human cells. The
premise underlying these vaccines is to “teach” the patient’s own immune system to attack cancer cells while sparing other normal healthy cells.

AST-VAC1: Autologous Telomerase-loaded, Dendritic Cells

AST-VAC1 is an autologous product candidate, or a product that is derived from cells that come from the treated patient. AST-VAC1 consists of
mature antigen-presenting dendritic cells pulsed with RNA for the protein component of human telomerase (“hTERT”) and a portion of a lysosomal targeting
signal ("LAMP"). LAMP directs the telomerase RNA to the lysosome, the subcellular organelle that directs the RNA to a particular part of the cell membrane.
AST-VAC1 is injected into the patient’s skin, with the objective of the dendritic cells to travel to the lymph nodes and instruct cytotoxic T-cells to kill tumor
cells that express telomerase on their surface.

A Phase 2 clinical trial of AST-VAC1 was conducted at six U.S. medical centers in patients with acute myeloid leukemia (“AML”) in complete
clinical remission. The trial examined the safety and feasibility of a prime-boost vaccination regimen (an initial injection ("prime") followed by multiple
additional injections ("boost") to generate and extend the duration of telomerase immunity. This trial completed patient enrollment in December 2009. Thirty
three patients with AML entered the study in their first or second complete remission. Prior to or shortly after completing consolidation chemotherapy,
patients underwent leukapheresis, a process of collecting of white blood cells directly from the patient. AST-VAC1 was produced at a centralized
manufacturing facility from the patient-specific white blood cells. Patient blood cells were differentiated to dendritic cells in culture, modified to express
telomerase linked to the LAMP targeting signal, aliquoted and cryopreserved. AST-VAC1 was released for patient dosing contingent on several product
specifications that included identity of mature dendritic cells, confirmation of telomerase expression, number of viable cells per dose after thawing, and
product sterility.

AST-VAC1 was successfully manufactured and released in 24 out of the 33 patients enrolled in the study. Three patients progressed prior to
vaccination, therefore only 21 of the 24 patients for whom AST-VAC1 was successfully manufactured and released received vaccine. The 21 patients were
vaccinated weekly for six weeks, with AST-VAC1 administered intra-dermally (injection into the skin), followed by a non-treatment period of four weeks,
and then subsequent boost injections every other week for 12 weeks. Monthly extended boost injections were then administered until the vaccine product
supply was depleted or the patient relapsed.

Twenty-one patients received AST-VAC1 in the study, including 19 in clinical remission and two in early relapse. AST-VAC1 was found to have a
favorable safety and tolerability profile in this study over multiple vaccinations, with up to 32 serial vaccinations administered (median = 17). Idiopathic
thrombocytopenic purpura (bleeding into the skin caused by low platelets in blood) (grade 3-4) was reported in one patient. Other toxicities (grade 1-2)
included rash or headache. These data from the trial were presented at the December 2010 American Society of Hematology annual meeting.

Patient immune response to telomerase after vaccination with AST-VAC1 was evaluated using a test called the enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot
(“ELISPOT”) assay to measure the presence of activated T-cells specific to hTERT. Positive immune responses were detected in 55% of patients.

We have performed follow-up data collection on the 19 patients treated in complete remission to determine the long term effects of the AST-VAC1
administration on remission duration and disease-free survival. The results of this data collection were reported in an oral presentation at the American
Society of Clinical Oncology annual meeting in May 2015. Eleven of 19 patients (58%) remained in complete remission at a median follow-up of 52 months.
These results compare to historical data suggesting that between 20-40% of patients would be expected to be relapse free at 3-4 years. Additionally, of the 7
patients in the higher risk over 60 year old group, 4 (57%) remained relapse free at a median follow up of 54 months. Historically, relapse free survival rates in
this population have been 10-20% at 3-4 years. We are in the process of preparing a manuscript describing our findings, and performing certain process
development, clinical and regulatory activities.
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We have conducted an End of Phase 2 meeting with the FDA with the goal of reviewing the proposed clinical development plan for AST-VAC1. In
February 2016, we announced that the FDA indicated general agreement with Asterias' proposed development plan for registration of AST-VAC1 through a
single Phase 3 trial to support an accelerated development pathway and BLA filing. In this study, Asterias will assess the impact of AST-VAC1 compared to
placebo on the duration of relapse-free-survival as the primary endpoint, and on overall survival as the secondary endpoint in patients who have achieved
complete remission using standard therapies. The proposed trial will include AML patients 60 years and older, along with younger individuals who are at
high risk for relapse and are not candidates for allogeneic bone marrow transplantation. Pending positive results, this trial could be the basis for accelerated
approval of AST-VAC1. We currently plan to submit a request for a Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) to the FDA to confirm the primary endpoint and other
design elements of this pivotal Phase 3 trial.

AST-VAC2: hES Cell-Derived Allogeneic Dendritic Cells

AST-VAC2 is an allogeneic, or non-patient specific, cancer vaccine candidate designed to stimulate patient immune responses to telomerase. AST-
VAC2 is produced from hES cells and can be modified with any antigen. We believe that the use of hES, as opposed to collecting and using the patient’s own
blood, as the starting material for AST-VAC2 provides a scalable system for the production of a large number of vaccine doses in a single lot. Allogeneic
vaccine production has the potential to have lower manufacturing costs, “off-the-shelf” availability and broader patient availability, and ensure product
consistency. In addition, we believe that this approach has the potential to stimulate a more robust immune response through an adjuvant effect of the
immune mismatch between the genetic makeup of AST-VAC2 and patients. Further, we believe AST-VAC2 may be synergistic with immune checkpoint
inhibitors currently in development for many cancer indications. This is because immune checkpoint inhibitors function by relieving suppressive
mechanisms exerted on T-cells by the tumor, whereas AST-VAC2 is designed to specifically target the T-cells to attack the telomerase expressing tumor cells.

Product Development Strategy for AST-VAC2

During September 2014, we entered into a Clinical Trial and Option Agreement with Cancer Research UK (“CRUK”) with CRUK and Cancer
Research Technology Limited, (“CRT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRUK the “CRUK Agreement”. Under the CRUK Agreement, CRUK has agreed to
fund Phase 1/2 clinical development of our AST-VAC2 product candidate loaded with the same LAMP-telomerase construct we have used in AST-VAC1.
Under the terms of the CRUK Agreement, we are responsible, at our own cost, for completing process development and manufacturing scale-up of the AST-
VAC2 manufacturing process and transferring the resulting cGMP-compatible process to CRUK. CRUK is responsible, at its own cost, for manufacturing
clinical grade AST-VAC2 and for carrying out the Phase 1/2 clinical trial of AST-VAC2.

In January 2016 we announced that we had completed the technology transfer of the AST-VAC2 manufacturing process to CRUK. CRUK is now
verifying and scaling up the production of AST-VAC2 in their facility in preparation for pilot and full cGMP campaigns. Upon successful completion of
AST-VAC2 production campaigns, Cancer Research UK’s Centre for Drug Development (“CDD”) will submit a Clinical Trial Authorization application to
the UK regulatory authorities for the Phase 1/2 clinical trial in non-small cell lung cancer, which will be sponsored, managed and funded by CDD. The
clinical trial will examine the safety, immunogenicity and activity of AST-VAC2 and position the immunotherapy to be tested for numerous clinical
indications. We will continue to serve in a collaborative and advisory role with CRUK throughout this process.
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Upon completion of the Phase 1/2 study, we will have an exclusive first option to acquire the data generated in the trial. If we exercise that option
we will be obligated to make payments upon the execution of the license agreement, upon the achievement of various milestones, and then royalties on sales
of products. In connection with the CRUK Agreement, we sublicensed to CRUK for use in the clinical trials and product manufacturing process certain
patents that have been licensed or sublicensed to us by third parties. We would also be obligated to make payments to those licensors and sublicensors upon
the achievement of various milestones, and then royalties on sales of products if AST-VAC2 is successfully developed and commercialized.

AST-OPC1 Glial Progenitor Cells

Our AST-OPC1 product candidate is comprised of oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, which are cells that become oligodendrocytes after injection,
derived from a cGMP master cell bank of undifferentiated hES cells that has been fully qualified for human use. These cells, which are stored frozen until
ready for use, are produced under cGMP conditions and screened for adventitious agents.

Oligodendrocytes are nature’s neuronal insulating cells. Like the insulation covering an electrical wire, oligodendrocytes enable the conduction of
electrical impulses along nerve fibers throughout the central and peripheral nervous system. They are also known to promote neural growth, as well as induce
blood vessel formation around nerve axons. AST-OPC1 cells reproduce all of the natural functions of oligodendrocytes in animal models, including:
producing myelin that wraps around nerve fibers; producing neurotrophic factors which encourage neuro-regeneration and sprouting of new nerve endings,
and inducing new blood vessels which provide nutrients and remove waste matter from neural tissue as it functions in the body.

The pathology of spinal cord injury involves extensive loss of the myelin sheath produced by oligodendrocytes at the site of injury.

There are currently no drugs approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) specifically for the treatment of spinal cord
injury, although methylprednisolone, a corticosteroid generally used as an anti-inflammatory drug, is sometimes prescribed on an off-label basis to reduce
acute inflammation in the injured spinal cord immediately after injury. It is believed that in order to effect substantial benefit in treating this complex injury,
multiple mechanisms of action are required, such as re-myelination of the demyelinated axons, generation of new blood vessels to repair the ischemic damage
from injury, and the presence of biologics that cause neuro-sprouting or new nerve growth to enable the severed axons to repair. In studies to date, AS-OPC1
cells have been shown to exhibit all three effects.

Multiple studies in a validated rat model of spinal cord injury have been performed using AST-OPC1. These studies have shown that a single
injection of AST-OPC1 cells at the site of injury produces durable re-myelination, new blood vessel formation, and new neuronal sprouting, all of which
result in sustained and significant improvement in the animal’s locomotion within several months after injection. These data provided the rationale to initiate
testing of AST-OPC1 to treat acute spinal cord injury in humans.

Phase I Safety Trial

After FDA authorization, AST-OPC1 was tested in patients with acute spinal cord injury beginning in October 2010. The trial was an open label
design conducted at seven U.S. neuro-trauma sites. Five subjects were treated in the trial, each of whom had a sub-acute functional complete thoracic (chest)
spinal cord lesion. Patients enrolled in the study received a single dose of 2 x 10 6 cells at the injury site between seven and 14 days after injury. All subjects
received temporary low dose immune suppression treatment for 60 days. The primary endpoint of the study was safety, with secondary endpoints of
neurologic function assessed by five different validated measures of sensory and motor function. Each subject received a screening MRI, and if treated and
entered into the treatment protocol, received eight follow-up MRIs in the first year and multiple physical exams and laboratory testing. The patients then
entered a separate protocol after the first year which will follow them intermittently over a period of 15 years.

As of March 23, 2016, the first patient has completed all five years of their follow-up data set and the remaining 4 patients have completed their four
year follow-up data set. No surgical complications during or post-surgery have been observed, and there have been no significant adverse events to date in
any patient attributable to the AST-OPC1 product, the surgery to deliver the cells, or the immunosuppressive regimen. There have been five minor adverse
events possibly related to AST-OPC1 such as transient fever and nerve pain. There have been no unexpected neurological changes to date, nor has there been
evidence of adverse changes or cavitation on multiple MRIs. MRI results in four of the five subjects are consistent with prevention of lesion cavity formation.
Immune monitoring, conducted in some of the patients, has not detected any evidence of immune responses to AST-OPC1 at time periods of up to one year
post-transplant.
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Phase I/IIa Dose Escalation Study: Subjects with Neurologically Complete Cervical Spinal Cord Injuries

Based on the results of the completed Phase I trial of AST-OPC1 in thoracic Spinal Cord Injury (“SCI”), we obtained permission from the FDA in
August 2014 to initiate a Phase I/IIa dose escalation trial in patients with neurologically complete cervical spinal cord injuries. Individuals with
neurologically complete cervical SCI have an enormous unmet medical need due to the loss of function in all four limbs as well as multiple additional
impairments such as impaired bowel and bladder function, reduced sensation, spasticity, sudden changes in blood pressure, deep vein thrombosis, sexual
dysfunction, increased infections, skin pressure sores, and chronic pain. These individuals frequently require significant assistance for their care and activities
of daily living. One recent published study estimated the lifetime costs of care for a person who suffers a cervical SCI at age 25 to be $4.2 million (Y. C. Cao
and M. J. DeVivo (2009)).

Scientifically, the injured cervical spinal cord is a much better location than the upper or middle thoracic spinal cord to test the safety and potential
activity of AST-OPC1. This is partly due to the fact that damaged and demyelinated nerve axons in thoracic injuries need to regrow over several spinal
segments in order to restore neural function. In contrast, damaged and demyelinated nerve axons in cervical injuries only need to regrow a short distance to
restore neural function.

We initiated enrollment of the Phase I/IIa dose escalation trial of AST-OPC1 in patients with complete cervical injuries in March 2015. The trial is
designed to assess safety and activity of three escalating doses of AST-OPC1 in complete cervical SCI, the first targeted indication for AST-OPC1. The trial is
an open-label, single-arm study in patients with sub-acute, C-5 to C-7, neurologically complete cervical SCI. These individuals have lost all sensation and
movement below their injury site with severe paralysis of the upper and lower limbs. AST-OPC1 will be administered 14 to 30 days post-injury. Patients will
be followed by neurological exams and imaging methods to assess the safety and activity of the product. We completed enrollment in the first (2 million
cells) dose cohort in August 2015. No serious adverse events related to AST-OPC1, the administration procedure, or the immunosuppressive regimen have
been observed to date. We are currently open for enrollment in the second (10 million cells) cohort. Following collection of initial safety data from this
second dose cohort, we plan to seek FDA concurrence to increase the robustness of the proof of concept in the Phase I/IIa clinical trial by expanding
enrollment. Asterias has received a Strategic Partnerships Award grant from the California Institute for Regenerative Medicine, which provides for up to $14.3
million of non-dilutive funding for the Phase I/IIa clinical trial and other product development activities for AST-OPC1, subject to achieving certain
milestones.

Additionally, in February 2016, we announced that the FDA had granted our application for Orphan Drug Designation of AST-OPC1 for the
treatment of acute spinal cord injury.

AST-OPC1 CIRM Grant

The California Institute for Regenerative Medicine, or CIRM, provided us a Strategic Partnerships Award grant that provides for up to $14.3 million
of non-dilutive funding for the Phase I/IIa clinical trial and other product development activities for AST-OPC1, subject to achieving certain milestones. The
grant will provide partial funding for the SCIStar study and for product development efforts to refine and scale manufacturing methods to support
commercialization. Under our amended agreement effective March 2, 2016, CIRM will disburse the grant funds to us contingent on our achievement of
certain specific progress milestones. As the distributions of the CIRM grant are subject to meeting certain milestones, there can be no assurance that we will
receive the entire amount granted. In addition, pursuant to the Award, we agreed to notify and report to CIRM information relating to serious adverse events,
studies, press releases clinical trial information and routine communications in accordance with an agreed schedule.

As of March 28, 2016, we have received $7.8 million of payments from CIRM, and recent progress on the Phase l/2a dose escalation trial for OPC-1
is expected to result in a further $2.5 million payment under the terms of the existing CIRM award grant.
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Failure to timely achieve milestones or otherwise satisfy CIRM regarding any delay could lead CIRM to suspend payments. The foregoing
description of our arrangement with CIRM is a summary only and is qualified by reference to the Notice of Grant Award, dated as of October 16, 2014, the
Amendment to Notice of Grant Award, dated as of November 26, 2014, and Amendment No. 2 to the Notice of Grant Award, dated as of March 2, 2016
between us and CIRM.

We will need to raise additional capital in order to conduct the Phase I/IIa clinical trial and any subsequent clinical trial and product development
work. We intend to apply for a supplementary CIRM grant to provide funding for the clinical trial expansion.

Manufacturing and Process Development Technologies

We have sufficient existing clinical grade lots of AST-OPC1 for the ongoing Phase 1/2 trial, and cGMP master and working cell banks of
undifferentiated human embryonic stem (hES) cells of the H1 and H7 cell lines. Both the H1 and H7 hES cell lines have been routinely expanded under either
cGMP (H1) or pilot (H7) conditions. No limit to the expandability of hES cell lines has been observed. The cGMP cell banks of undifferentiated hES cells
have been qualified for human biologics production per FDA guidelines. They exhibit normal chromosomal structure and are considered suitable for the
production of biologics for human clinical use.

Additionally we have completed construction of and are currently validating a cGMP manufacturing facility at our Fremont, California
headquarters. This facility is intended for use to produce additional cGMP cell banks and AST-OPC1 to supply Phase 3 clinical development and early
commercial drug supply.

Intellectual Property

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietary position by, among other methods, filing United States and foreign patent applications related to our
proprietary technologies and any improvements that we consider important to the development and implementation of our business and strategy. In addition
to relying on patents, we rely on trade secrets, know-how, and continuing technological advancement to maintain our competitive position. We will enter
into intellectual property, invention, and non-disclosure agreements with our employees, and it will be our practice to enter into confidentiality agreements
with our consultants. There can be no assurance, however, that these measures will prevent the unauthorized disclosure or use of our trade secrets and know-
how, or that others may not independently develop similar trade secrets and know-how or obtain access to our trade secrets, know-how, or proprietary
technology.

Our success depends, in part, upon our ability to obtain and maintain patent and other intellectual property protection for our product candidates
including compositions-of-matter, dosages, and formulations, manufacturing methods, and novel applications, uses and technological innovations related to
our product candidates and core technologies. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how and continuing technological innovation to further develop and
maintain our competitive position. Our business would be negatively impacted if we are not successful in developing additional proprietary technologies
that are patentable.

We cannot ensure that patents will be granted with respect to any of our pending patent applications or with respect to any patent applications that
may be filed by us in the future, nor can we ensure that any of our existing or subsequently granted patents will be useful in protecting our drug candidates,
technological innovations, and processes. The claims of any patents that are issued may not provide meaningful protection, may not provide a basis for
commercially viable products or may not provide us with any competitive advantages. Because of the extensive time required for clinical development and
regulatory review of a product candidate, it is possible that any patent related to our product candidates may expire before any of our product candidates can
be commercialized, or may remain in force for only a short period of time following commercialization, thereby reducing the advantage afforded by any such
patent. In addition, others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies, duplicate any of our technologies and, if patents are licensed or
issued to us, design around the patented technologies licensed to or developed by us. Therefore, our competitors may be able to commercialize similar
products, or may be able to duplicate our business strategy, without infringing our patents or otherwise using our intellectual property.
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The protection afforded by any particular patent depends upon many factors, including the type of patent, scope of coverage encompassed by the
granted claims, availability of extensions of patent term, availability of legal interpretation of patent laws in the United States and other countries that could
diminish our ability to protect our inventions and to enforce our intellectual property rights. Furthermore, others may have patents that relate to our
technology or business that may prevent us from marketing our product candidates unless we are able to obtain a license to those patents. Accordingly, while
our ability to maintain and solidify our proprietary position for our products and core technologies will depend, in part, on our success in obtaining and
enforcing valid patent claims, we cannot predict with certainty the enforceability of any granted patent claims or of any claims that may be granted from our
patent applications.

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are characterized by extensive litigation and other challenges regarding patents and other
intellectual property rights that involve complex legal and factual questions making our patent position generally uncertain. Any existing or subsequently
granted patents may be challenged, invalidated, found unenforceable, circumvented or infringed. We have been in the past and are currently involved in
administrative proceedings with respect to our patents and patent applications and may, as a result of our extensive portfolio, be involved in such
proceedings in the future. Additionally, in the future, we may claim that a third party infringes our intellectual property or a third party may claim that we
infringe its intellectual property. In any of the administrative proceedings or in litigation, we may incur significant expenses, damages, attorneys’ fees, costs
of proceedings and experts’ fees, and management and employees may be required to spend significant time in connection with these actions.

A patent interference proceeding may be instituted with the United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) when more than one person files a
patent application covering the same technology, or if someone wishes to challenge the validity of an issued patent on patents and applications filed before
March 16, 2013. At the completion of the interference proceeding, the USPTO will determine which competing applicant is entitled to the patent, or whether
an issued patent is valid. Patent interference proceedings are complex, highly contested legal proceedings, and the USPTO’s decision is subject to appeal.
This means that if an interference proceeding arises with respect to any of our patent applications, we may experience significant expenses and delay in
obtaining a patent, and if the outcome of the proceeding is unfavorable to us, the patent could be issued to a competitor rather than to us. For patents and
applications filed after March 16, 2013 a derivation proceeding may be initiated where the USPTO may determine if one patent was derived from the work of
an inventor on another patent. Inventorship may also be challenged in litigation.

In addition to interference proceedings, the USPTO can reevaluate issued patents at the request of a third party seeking to have the patent
invalidated. There are proceedings at the USPTO (ex parte reexamination, post grant review, or inter partes review proceeding), which allow third parties to
challenge the validity of an issued patent where there is a reasonable likelihood of invalidity. As with the USPTO interference proceedings, these USPTO
proceedings will be very expensive to contest and can result in the cancelation of a patent. This means that patents owned or licensed by us may be subject to
further administrative challenges and may be lost if the outcome of the challenge is unfavorable to us.

There are also challenges to obtaining patents in countries outside of the United States. In particular, under European patent law and the patent laws
of certain other countries, oppositions to the issuance of patents may be filed. These foreign proceedings can be very expensive to contest and can result in
significant delays in obtaining a patent or can result in a denial of a patent application. Also in Europe, there is uncertainty about the eligibility of hES cell
subject matter for a patent. The European Patent Convention prohibits the granting of European patents for inventions that concern "uses of human embryos
for industrial or commercial purposes". A recent decision at the Court of Justice of the European Union interpreted parthenogeneticly produced hES cells as
patentable subject matter. Consequently, the European Patent Office now recognizes that human pluripotent stem cells (including human ES cells) can be
created without a destructive use of human embryos as of June 5, 2003, and patent applications relating to hES cell subject matter with a filing and priority
date after this date are no longer automatically excluded from patentability under Article 53 (a) EPC and Rule 28(c) EPC.

We may benefit from a variety of regulatory frameworks in the United States, Europe, China and other territories that provide periods of non-patent-
based exclusivity for qualifying drug products. See “FDA and Foreign Regulation.”

The patent portfolio that we acquired pursuant to the Asset Contribution Agreement with Geron, dated January 4, 2013 (the "Asset Contribution
Agreement"), includes over 400 patents and patent applications previously owned or licensed to Geron that are directed to pluripotent stem cell-, human hES
cell-, and dendritic cell-based product opportunities. The portfolio encompasses a number of cell types that can be made from hES cells, including
hepatocytes (liver cells), cardiomyocytes (heart muscle cells), neural cells (nerve cells, including dopaminergic neurons and oligodendrocytes), chondrocytes
(cartilage cells), pancreatic islet β cells, osteoblasts (bone cells), hematopoietic cells (blood-forming cells) and dendritic cells. Also included in the patent
portfolio are technologies for growing hES cells without the need for cell feeder layers or conditioned media, and novel synthetic growth surfaces.
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In addition, in February 2016, we executed a broad, non-exclusive cross-license with BioTime and its subsidiary ES Cell International Pte Ltd.
Under this license, we have received: (i) non-exclusive worldwide rights in a range of therapeutic fields of use to a further 35 patents and applications relating
to hES cells, and (ii) non-exclusive worldwide rights for therapeutic applications of pluripotent stem cell-derived neural and cardiac cells to 22 patents and
applications relating to hydrogel formulations.

The patent positions for our two most advanced programs are summarized below.

Dendritic cells: The patent rights relevant to dendritic cells include rights licensed from third parties and various patent families directed to the
growth of hES cells and their differentiation into dendritic cells. This portfolio is related to our AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2 products. There are issued patents
in the United States, Australia, Europe, Canada, China, Hong Kong, and Japan. The expiration dates of these patents range from 2019 to 2025. The
commercial success of our AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2 products depends, in part, upon our ability to exclude competition in these products with this patent
portfolio, regulatory exclusivity, or a combination of both.

Neural cells: The patent rights relevant to neural cells, such as oligodendrocyte progenitor cells, include various patent families directed to the
growth of hES cells and their differentiation into neural cells. These patent rights also include rights licensed from the University of California. There are
issued patents in the United States, Australia, Canada, United Kingdom, Japan, China, Hong Kong, India, Korea, Singapore and Israel. The expiration dates of
these patents will be within 2020 to 2030. The commercial success of our AST-OPC1 product depends, in part, upon our ability to exclude competition in
this product with this patent portfolio, regulatory exclusivity, or a combination of both.

In addition, Asterias has patent protection in the Unites States and various other jurisdictions for producing cardiomyocytes, pancreatic islet cells,
hepatocytes, chondrocytes, hematopoietic cells, and osteoblasts. The expiration dates of these patents range from 2020 to 2032. Should a competitor not be
able to market a product covered by these patents or if Asterias cannot license these patents before their expiration, the benefits for procurement and
maintenance of these rights would not be fully realized and the associated costs would not be fully reimbursed.

Licensed Stem Cell Technology and Stem Cell Product Development Agreements

Telomerase Sublicense

We received the Telomerase Sublicense from Geron in connection with our acquisition of Geron’s stem cell assets. The Telomerase Sublicense grants
us an exclusive sublicense under certain patents owned by the University of Colorado’s University License Equity Holdings, Inc. relating to telomerase and
entitles us to use the technology covered by the patents in the development of AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2 as immunological treatments for cancer. Under the
Telomerase Sublicense, we paid Geron a one-time upfront license fee of $65,000, and we will pay Geron an annual license maintenance fee of $10,000 due on
each anniversary of the effective date of the agreement, and a 1% royalty on sales of any products that we may develop and commercialize that are covered
by the sublicensed patents. The Telomerase Sublicense will expire concurrently with the expiration of Geron’s license. That license will terminate during
April 2017 when the licensed patents expire. The Telomerase Sublicense may also be terminated by us by giving Geron 90 days written notice, by us or by
Geron if the other party breaches its obligations under the sublicense agreement and fails to cure their breach within the prescribed time period, or by us or by
Geron upon the filing or institution of bankruptcy, reorganization, liquidation or receivership proceedings, or upon an assignment of a substantial portion of
the assets for the benefit of creditors by the other party.

We are obligated to indemnify Geron, Geron’s licensor, and certain other parties for certain liabilities, including those for personal injury, product
liability, or property damage relating to or arising from the manufacture, use, promotion or sale of a product, or the use by any person of a product made,
created, sold or otherwise transferred by us or our sublicensees that is covered by the patents sublicensed under this agreement.
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License Agreement with University of California

Geron assigned to us its Exclusive License Agreement with The Regents of the University of California for patents covering a method for directing
the differentiation of multipotential hES cells to glial-restricted progenitor cells that generate pure populations of oligodendrocytes for remyelination and
treatment of spinal cord injury. Pursuant to this agreement, we have an exclusive worldwide license under such patents, including the right to grant
sublicenses, to create products for biological research, drug screening, and human therapy using the licensed patents.

Under the license agreement, we will be obligated to pay the university a royalty of 1% from sales of products that are covered by the licensed patent
rights, and a minimum annual royalty of $5,000 starting in the year in which the first sale of a product covered by any licensed patent rights occurs, and
continuing for the life of the applicable patent right under the agreement. The royalty payments due are subject to reduction, but not by more than 50%, to
the extent of any payments that we may be obligated to pay to a third party for the use of patents or other intellectual property licensed from the third party in
order to make, have made, use, sell, or import products or otherwise exercise our rights under the Exclusive License Agreement. We will be obligated to pay
the university 7.5% of any proceeds, excluding debt financing and equity investments, and certain reimbursements, that we receive from sublicensees, other
than our affiliates and joint ventures relating to the development, manufacture, purchase, and sale of products, processes, and services covered by the licensed
patent.

The license agreement will terminate on the expiration of the last-to-expire of the university's issued licensed patents. If no further patents covered
by the license agreement are issued, the license agreement would terminate in 2024. The university may terminate the agreement in the event of our breach of
the agreement. We can terminate the agreement upon 60 days' notice.

World-Wide Non Exclusive WARF License

On October 7, 2013, we entered into a Non-Exclusive License Agreement with the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (“WARF”) under which
we were granted a worldwide non-exclusive license under certain WARF patents and WARF-owned embryonic stem cell lines to develop and commercialize
therapeutic, diagnostic and research products. The licensed patents include patents covering methods for growth and differentiation of primate embryonic
stem cells. The licensed stem cell lines include the H1, H7, H9, H13 and H14 hES cell lines.

In consideration of the rights licensed to us, we have agreed to pay WARF an upfront license fee and have agreed to pay, payments upon the
attainment of specified clinical development milestones, royalties on sales of commercialized products, and, subject to certain exclusions, a percentage of
any payments that we may receive from any sublicenses that we may grant to use the licensed patents or stem cell lines.

The license agreement will terminate with respect to licensed patents upon the expiration of the last licensed patent to expire. We may terminate the
license agreement at any time by giving WARF prior written notice. WARF may terminate the license agreement if payments of earned royalties, once begun,
cease for a specified period of time or if we and any third parties collaborating or cooperating with us in the development of products using the licensed
patents or stem cell lines fail to spend a specified minimum amount on research and development of products relating to the licensed patents or stem cell
lines for a specified period of time.

WARF also has the right to terminate the license agreement if we breach the license agreement or become bankrupt or insolvent or if any of the
licensed patents or stem cell lines are offered to creditors.

We will indemnify WARF and certain other designated affiliated entities from liability arising out of or relating to the death or injury of any person
or damage to property due to the sale, marketing, use, or manufacture of products that are covered by the licensed patents, or licensed stem cells, or
inventions or materials developed or derived from the licensed patents or stem cell lines.
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ViaCyte Cross-License

As part of a settlement agreement in May 2014 related to litigation in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California (Civil
Action No. C12-04813), ViaCyte, Inc. (“ViaCyte”) and Asterias granted to each other a royalty free, fully paid license to each other’s technology relating to
endoderm lineage cells including definitive endoderm and gut endoderm cells, only to the extent necessary to allow the licensee to make, use, sell, offer for
sale, or import endodermal lineage cells. The Asterias patents that were licensed to ViaCyte in the settlement include those based on U.S. Patent Application
No. 11/262,633. The ViaCyte patents that were licensed to us in the settlement included those based on U.S. Patent Application Nos. 11/021,618,
12/093,590, 10/584,338, 11/165,305, 11/317,387, and 11/860,494.

Royalty Agreement with Geron

In connection with our acquisition of Geron’s stem cell assets, we entered into a Royalty Agreement with Geron pursuant to which we agreed to pay
Geron a 4% royalty on net sales (as defined in the Royalty Agreement), by us or any of our affiliates or sales agents, of any products that we develop and
commercialize that are covered by the patents Geron contributed to us. In the case of sales of such products by a person other than us or one of our affiliates or
sales agents, we will be required to pay Geron 50% of all royalties and cash payments received by us or by our affiliate in respect of a product sale. Royalty
payments will be subject to proration in the event that a product covered by a patent acquired from Geron is sold in combination with another product that is
not covered by a patent acquired from Geron. The Royalty Agreement will terminate at the expiration or termination date of the last issued patent contributed
by Geron under the Royalty Agreement. We estimate that the latest patent expiration date will be 2032.

Clinical Trial and Option Agreement with Cancer Research United Kingdom

During September 2014, we entered into a Clinical Trial and Option Agreement (the “CRUK Agreement”) with Cancer Research UK (“CRUK”) and
Cancer Research Technology Limited, (“CRT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRUK, pursuant to which CRUK has agreed to fund Phase I/IIa clinical
development of our AST-VAC2 product candidate. We will, at our own cost, complete process development and manufacturing scale-up of the AST-VAC2
manufacturing process and will transfer the resulting cGMP-compatible process to CRUK. CRUK will, at its own cost, manufacture clinical grade AST-VAC2
and will carry out the Phase I/IIa clinical trial of AST-VAC2 in cancer patients in both resected early-stage and advanced forms of lung cancer. We will have
an exclusive first option to obtain a license to use the data from the clinical trial. If we exercise that option we will be obligated to make payments upon the
execution of the License Agreement, upon the achievement of various milestones, and then royalties on sales of products, and, if we sublicense product
development or commercialization rights to a third party, we would pay CRT a share of any sublicense revenues we receive from the third party, with CRT’s
share varying from a high of 40% in the case of a sublicense entered into prior to commencement of a Phase II clinical trial, to substantially lower rates in the
case of a sublicense entered into at various later stages of clinical development but prior to completion of a Phase III clinical trial, and as low as 7.5% in the
case of a sublicense entered into after completion of a Phase III clinical trial. In connection with the CRUK Agreement, we sublicensed to CRUK for use in the
clinical trials and product manufacturing process certain patents that have been licensed or sublicensed to us by third parties. We would also be obligated to
make payments to those licensors and sublicensors upon the achievement of various milestones, and then royalties on sales of products if AST-VAC2 is
successfully developed and commercialized.

If we decline to exercise our option, CRT will then have an option to obtain a license to use our intellectual property relating to AST-VAC2 to
continue the development and commercialization of AST-VAC2 and related products for which we will be entitled to receive a share of the revenue relating
to development and partnering proceeds. The CRT’s option will be exercisable by CRT for four months from when our option expires.

The CRUK Agreement will expire upon the earliest of (i) the date we obtain a license to use the clinical data pursuant to an exercise of our option,
(ii) the date CRT obtains a license to continue the development and commercialization of AST-VAC2 pursuant to an exercise of our option and (iii) the
expiration of both our option and the CRT’s option. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any party may terminate the CRUK Agreement prior to its expiration for
events including (i) a party materially breaches the agreement and such breach is not cured within 60 days after the non-breaching party delivers written
notice, (ii) any party is insolvent or liquidated or (iii) if regulatory approval of the clinical trial is not obtained within two years after the parties complete the
technology transfer phase of the agreement, or if regulatory approval is revoked, withdrawn or otherwise terminated, or if a regulatory authority orders a halt
or hold on the clinical trial for more than 18 months. In addition, CRUK will have the right to terminate the CRUK Agreement under certain other
circumstances.
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The CRUK Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants from us and CRUK, as well as customary provisions relating to
indemnity, confidentiality and other matters.

Services Agreement with Cell Therapy Catapult Services Limited

We entered into a Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Cell Therapy Catapult Services Limited (“Catapult”), a research organization
specializing in the development of technologies which speed the growth of the cell and gene therapy industry. Under the Services Agreement, Catapult will
license to us, certain background intellectual property and will develop a scalable manufacturing and differentiation process for our human embryonic stem
cell derived AST-VAC2 allogeneic (non-patient specific) dendritic cancer vaccine development program. In consideration for the license and Catapult’s
performance of services, we agreed to make aggregate payments of up to GBP £4,350,000 over the next five years. At our option of, up to GBP £3,600,000 of
such payments may be settled in shares of our Series A Common Stock.

The Services Agreement may be terminated by we for any reason upon 60 days prior written notice. Catapult may terminate the Services Agreement
on 60 days prior written notice if it encounters a technical issue that would prevent it from completing the services at all or without obtaining additional
resources, or if the estimated time and cost of completing the services will be exceeded and both parties do not reach agreement on revised time and cost
terms. Catapult may terminate the Services Agreement in the event we fail to pay any amount due under the Services Agreement 30 days after Catapult makes
a written demand for payment. In addition, a non-breaching party may terminate the Services Agreement upon the occurrence a material breach that is not
remedied within 30 days. Either party may terminate the Services Agreement in the event the other party becomes subject to insolvency, receivership,
liquidation, or a similar event.

Manufacturing

We entered into a new lease for a 44,000 square foot facility in Fremont, California at which we constructed a cGMP compliant facility for the
production of our product candidates that cost approximately $4.9 million of which we used $4.4 million in a tenant improvement allowance from the
landlord. Construction began at the Fremont facility during the first quarter of 2015 and all facilities were moved in during the fourth quarter of 2015. The
lease on our Menlo Park facility expired in January 2016.

Marketing

Because our planned products are still in the research and development stage, we will not initially need to have our own marketing personnel. If we
are successful in developing marketable products, we will need to build our own marketing and distribution capability for our products, which would require
the investment of significant financial and management resources, or we will need to find collaborative marketing partners, independent sales representatives,
or wholesale distributors for the commercial sale of those products.

If we market products through arrangements with third parties, we may pay sales commissions to sales representatives or we may sell or consign
products to distributors at wholesale prices. This means that our gross profit from product sales may be less than would be the case if we were to sell our
products directly to end users at retail prices through our own sales force. On the other hand, selling to distributors or through independent sales
representatives would allow us to avoid the cost of hiring and training our own sales employees. There can be no assurance we will be able to negotiate
distribution or sales agreements with third parties on favorable terms to justify our investment in our products or achieve sufficient revenues to support our
operations.
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Competition

We face substantial competition in our business, and that competition is likely to intensify further as new products and technologies reach the
market. Superior new products are likely to sell for higher prices and generate higher profit margins once acceptance by the medical community is achieved.
Those companies that are successful in introducing new products and technologies to the market first may gain significant economic advantages over their
competitors in the establishment of a customer base and track record for the performance of their products and technologies. Such companies will also benefit
from revenues from sales that could be used to strengthen their research and development, production, and marketing resources. All companies engaged in
the medical products industry face the risk of obsolescence of their products and technologies as more advanced or cost effective products and technologies
are developed by their competitors. As the industry matures, companies will compete based upon the performance and cost effectiveness of their products.

The stem cell industry is characterized by rapidly evolving technology and intense competition. Our competitors include major multinational
pharmaceutical companies, specialty biotechnology companies, and chemical and medical products companies operating in the fields of regenerative
medicine, cell therapy, tissue engineering, and tissue regeneration. Many of these companies are well-established and possess technical, research and
development, financial, and sales and marketing resources significantly greater than ours. In addition, certain smaller biotech companies have formed
strategic collaborations, partnerships, and other types of joint ventures with larger, well established industry competitors that afford these companies’
potential research and development and commercialization advantages. Academic institutions, governmental agencies, and other public and private research
organizations are also conducting and financing research activities which may produce products directly competitive to those we are developing.

We believe that some of our competitors are trying to develop hES cell, iPS cell, and mesenchymal stem cell-based technologies and products that
may compete with our potential stem cell products based on efficacy, safety, cost, and intellectual property positions.

We may also face competition from companies that have filed patent applications relating to the cloning or differentiation of stem cells. We may be
required to seek licenses from these competitors in order to commercialize certain of our proposed products, and such licenses may not be granted.

Government Regulation

Government authorities at the federal, state and local level, and in other countries, extensively regulate among other things, the development,
testing, manufacture, quality, approval, distribution, labeling, packaging, storage, record keeping, marketing, import/export and promotion of drugs,
biologics, and medical devices. Authorities also heavily regulate many of these activities for human cells, tissues and cellular and tissue-based products or
HCT/Ps.

FDA and Foreign Regulation

We believe that the FDA will regulate most of our proposed products as biologicals. In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs and biologicals
under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act or FDCA, the Public Health Service Act, or PHSA, and implementing regulations. In addition, establishments
that manufacture human cells, tissues, and cellular and tissue-based products are subject to additional registration and listing requirements, including current
good tissue practice regulations. Many of our proposed products will be reviewed by the FDA staff in its Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research
(“CBER”) Office of Cellular, Tissue and Gene Therapies.

Clinical Development

Our domestic biological products will be subject to rigorous FDA review and approval procedures. After testing in animals to evaluate the potential
efficacy and safety of the product candidate, an IND must be submitted to the FDA to obtain authorization for human testing. Extensive clinical testing,
which is generally done in three phases, must then be undertaken at one or more hospitals or medical centers to demonstrate optimal use, safety, and efficacy
of each product in humans. Each clinical trial will also be subject to review by an independent Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) at each institution at
which the trial will occur. The IRB will consider, among other things, ethical factors, the safety of human subjects, and the possible liability of the institution.
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Clinical trials are generally conducted in three “phases.” Phase 1 clinical trials are conducted in a small number of healthy volunteers or volunteers
with the target disease or condition to assess safety. Phase 2 clinical trials are conducted with groups of patients afflicted with the target disease or condition
in order to determine preliminary efficacy, optimal dosages and expanded evidence of safety. In some cases, an initial trial is conducted in diseased patients
to assess both preliminary efficacy and preliminary safety, in which case it is referred to as a Phase 1/2 trial. Phase 3 trials are large-scale, multi-center,
comparative trials and are conducted with patients afflicted with the target disease or condition in order to provide enough data to demonstrate the efficacy
and safety required by the FDA. The FDA closely monitors the progress of each of the three phases of clinical testing and may, at its discretion, re-evaluate,
alter, suspend, or terminate the clinical trial based upon the data which have been accumulated to that point and its assessment of the risk/benefit ratio to the
intended patient population. All adverse events must be reported to the FDA. Monitoring of all aspects of the study to minimize risks is a continuing process.
The time and expense required to perform this clinical testing can far exceed the time and expense of the research and development initially required to
create the product.

Applications for Marketing Approval

No action can be taken to market any therapeutic product in the United States until an appropriate application, which in the case of a cell therapy or
vaccine product will be a Biologics License Application (“BLA”), has been approved by the FDA. Submission of the application is no guarantee that the
FDA will find it complete and accept it for filing. If an application is accepted for filing, following the FDA’s review, the FDA may grant marketing approval,
request additional information or deny the application if it determines that the application does not provide an adequate basis for approval. FDA regulations
also restrict the export of therapeutic products for clinical use prior to BLA approval. To date, the FDA has not granted marketing approval to any hES-based
therapeutic products and it is possible that the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies may subject our product candidates to additional or more stringent review
than drugs or biologicals derived from other technologies.

The FDA offers several programs to expedite development of products that treat serious or life-threatening illnesses and that provide meaningful
therapeutic benefits to patients over existing treatments. A product may be eligible for breakthrough therapy designation if it treats a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and preliminary clinical evidence indicates it may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or
more clinically significant endpoints. Features of breakthrough therapy designation include intensive guidance from FDA on an efficient development
program, intensive involvement of FDA staff in a proactive, collaborative review process, and rolling review of marketing applications. Under its accelerated
approval regulations, the FDA may approve a product based on a surrogate endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefits or based on an effect
on a clinical endpoint other than survival or irreversible morbidity. The applicant will then be required to conduct additional, post-approval confirmatory
trials to verify and describe clinical benefit, and the product may have certain post-marketing restrictions as necessary to assure safe use. The FDA may
withdraw approval granted under the traditional route or under an accelerated approval, if it is warranted. The FDA may also consider ways to use the
accelerated approval pathway for rare or very rare diseases, and a new review designation has been created to help foster the innovation of promising new
therapies with the potential to shorten the timeframe for conducting pivotal trials and speed up patient access to the approved product. There is no assurance
that the FDA will grant breakthrough therapy or accelerated approval status to any of our product candidates.

Combination Products

If we develop any products that are used with medical devices, they may be considered combination products, which are defined by the FDA to
include products comprised of two or more regulated components or parts such as a biologic and a device. When regulated independently, biologics and
devices each have their own regulatory requirements. However, the regulatory requirements for a combination product comprised of a biologic administered
with a delivery device can be more complex, because in addition to the individual regulatory requirements for each component, additional combination
product regulatory requirements may apply. There is an Office of Combination Products at the FDA that coordinates the review of such products and
determines the primary mode of action of a combination product. The definition and regulatory requirements for combination products may differ
significantly among other countries in which we may seek approval of our product candidates.
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Post-Approval Matters

Even after initial FDA approval has been obtained, further studies may be required to provide additional data on safety or to gain approval for the
use of a product as a treatment for clinical indications other than those initially targeted. Use of a product during testing and after marketing could reveal side
effects that could delay, impede, or prevent FDA marketing approval, result in an FDA-ordered product recall, or in FDA-imposed limitations on permissible
uses or in withdrawal of approval. For example, if the FDA becomes aware of new safety information after approval of a product, it may require us to conduct
further clinical trials to assess a known or potential serious risk and to assure that the benefit of the product outweigh the risks. If we are required to conduct
such a post-approval study, periodic status reports must be submitted to the FDA. Failure to conduct such post-approval studies in a timely manner may result
in substantial civil or criminal penalties. Data resulting from these clinical trials may result in expansions or restrictions to the labeled indications for which a
product has already been approved.

FDA Regulation of Manufacturing

The FDA regulates the manufacturing process of pharmaceutical products, and human tissue and cell products, requiring that they be produced in
compliance with cGMP. See “Manufacturing.” The FDA regulates and inspects equipment, facilities, laboratories and processes used in the manufacturing
and testing of products prior to providing approval to market products. If after receiving approval from the FDA, a material change is made to manufacturing
equipment or to the location or manufacturing process, additional regulatory review may be required. The FDA also conducts regular, periodic visits to re-
inspect the equipment, facilities, laboratories and processes of manufacturers following an initial approval. If, as a result of those inspections, the FDA
determines that that equipment, facilities, laboratories or processes do not comply with applicable FDA regulations and conditions of product approval, the
FDA may seek civil, criminal or administrative sanctions and/or remedies against the manufacturer, including suspension of manufacturing operations. Issues
pertaining to manufacturing equipment, facilities or processes may also delay the approval of new products undergoing FDA review.

FDA Regulation of Advertising and Product Promotion

The FDA also regulates the content of advertisements used to market pharmaceutical and biological products. Claims made in advertisements
concerning the safety and efficacy of a product, or any advantages of a product over another product, must be supported by clinical data filed as part of a
BLA or an amendment to a BLA, and must be consistent with the FDA approved labeling and dosage information for that product.

Foreign Regulation

Sales of pharmaceutical and biological products outside the United States are subject to foreign regulatory requirements that vary widely from
country to country. Even if FDA approval has been obtained, approval of a product by comparable regulatory authorities of foreign countries must be
obtained prior to the commencement of marketing the product in those countries. The time required to obtain such approval may be longer or shorter than
that required for FDA approval.

California State Regulations

The state of California has adopted legislation and regulations that require institutions that conduct stem cell research to notify, and in certain cases
obtain approval from, a Stem Cell Research Oversight Committee (“SCRO Committee”) before conducting the research. Advance notice, but not approval by
the SCRO Committee, is required in the case of in vitro research that does not derive new stem cell lines. Research that derives new stem cell lines, or that
involves fertilized human oocytes or blastocysts, or that involves clinical trials or the introduction of stem cells into humans, or that involves introducing
stem cells into animals, requires advanced approval by the SCRO Committee. Clinical trials may also entail approvals from an IRB at the medical center at
which the study is conducted, and animal studies may require approval by an Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.
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All hES cell lines that will be used in our research must be acceptably derived. To be acceptably derived, the pluripotent stem cell line must have
either:

· Been listed on the National Institutes of Health Human Embryonic Stem Cell Registry, or

· Been deposited in the United Kingdom Stem Cell Bank, or

· Been derived by, or approved for use by, a licensee of the United Kingdom Human Fertilisation and Embryology Authority, or

· Been derived in accordance with the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Guidelines for Human Stem Cell Research under an application
approved by the National Stem Cell Oversight Committee, or

· Been derived in accordance with the Japanese Guidelines for Derivation; or

· Been approved by CIRM in accordance with California Code of Regulations Title 17, Section 100081; or

· Been derived under the following conditions:

(a) Donors of gametes, embryos, somatic cells, or human tissue gave voluntary and informed consent;

(b) Donors of gametes, embryos, somatic cells, or human tissue did not receive valuable consideration. This provision does not prohibit
reimbursement for permissible expenses as determined by an IRB;

(c) Donation of gametes, embryos, somatic cells, or human tissue was overseen by an IRB (or, in the case of foreign sources, an IRB-equivalent);
and

(d) Individuals who consented to donate stored gametes, embryos, somatic cells, or human tissue were not reimbursed for the cost of storage prior
to the decision to donate.

Other hES lines may be deemed acceptably derived if they were derived in accordance with (a), (b), and (d) above and the hES line was derived prior
to the publication of the National Academy of Sciences guidelines on April 26, 2005 and a SCRO Committee has determined that the investigator has
provided sufficient scientific rationale for the need for use of the line, which should include establishing that the proposed research cannot reasonably be
carried out with covered lines that did have IRB approval.

California regulations also require that certain records be maintained with respect to stem cell research and the materials used, including:

· A registry of all human stem cell research conducted, and the source(s) of funding for this research.

· A registry of human pluripotent stem cell lines derived or imported, to include, but not necessarily limited to:

(a) The methods utilized to characterize and screen the materials for safety;

(b) The conditions under which the materials have been maintained and stored;
 

(c) A record of every gamete donation, somatic cell donation, embryo donation, or product of somatic cell nuclear transfer that has been donated,
created, or used;

(d) A record of each review and approval conducted by the SCRO Committee.
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California Proposition 71

During November 2004, California State Proposition 71 (“Prop. 71”), the California Stem Cell Research and Cures Initiative, was adopted by state-
wide referendum. Prop. 71 provides for a state-sponsored program designed to encourage stem cell research in the State of California, and to finance such
research with State funds totaling approximately $295,000,000 annually for 10 years beginning in 2005. This initiative created CIRM, which will provide
grants, primarily but not exclusively, to academic institutions to advance both hES cell research and adult stem cell research.

Medicare, Medicaid, and Similar Reimbursement Programs

Sales of our products will depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our products will be covered by third-party payors, such as government
health programs, commercial insurance and managed healthcare organizations. These third-party payors are increasingly challenging the prices charged for
medical products and services. Additionally, the containment of healthcare costs has become a priority of federal and state governments and the prices of
drugs have been a focus in this effort. The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost-
containment programs, including price controls, restrictions on reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products. Adoption of price
controls and cost-containment measures, and adoption of more restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and measures, could further limit our
net revenue and results. If these third-party payors do not consider our products to be cost-effective compared to other therapies, they may not cover our
products after approved as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow us to sell our products on a profitable
basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act of 2010,
collectively referred to as the ACA, enacted in March 2010, is expected to have a significant impact on the health care industry. ACA is expected to expand
coverage for the uninsured while at the same time containing overall healthcare costs. With regard to pharmaceutical products, among other things, ACA is
expected to expand and increase industry rebates for drugs covered under Medicaid programs and make changes to the coverage requirements under the
Medicare Part D program. We cannot predict the impact of ACA on pharmaceutical companies, as many of the ACA reforms require the promulgation of
detailed regulations implementing the statutory provisions which has not yet occurred. In addition, although the United States Supreme Court upheld the
constitutionality of most of the ACA, some states have indicated that they intend to not implement certain sections of the ACA, and some members of the
U.S. Congress are still working to repeal parts of the ACA. These challenges add to the uncertainty of the legislative changes enacted as part of ACA.

In addition, in some non-U.S. jurisdictions, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements
governing drug pricing vary widely from country to country. For example, the European Union provides options for its member states to restrict the range of
medicinal products for which their national health insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. A
member state may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of us
placing the medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for
pharmaceutical products will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our products. Historically, products launched in the
European Union do not follow price structures of the United States and generally tend to be significantly lower.

Additional Information

We were incorporated in September 2012 under the name BioTime Acquisition Corporation in the state of Delaware. We changed our name to
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. in March 2013. Our principal executive offices are located at 6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California 94555. Our
telephone number is 510-456-3800. We currently maintain an Internet website at www.asteriasbiotherapeutics.com.
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We are an "emerging growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012. We will remain an "emerging growth
company" until the earliest of (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more; (ii) the last day of our fiscal
year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our first sale of common equity securities, such as our common stock, pursuant to an effective registration
statement under the Securities Act; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or (iv)
the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). We refer to the
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 herein as the "JOBS Act," and references herein to "emerging growth company" shall have the meaning
associated with it in the JOBS Act.

Employees

As of March 16, 2016 we employed 41 persons on a full time basis. Seventeen of our employees hold Ph.D. degrees in one or more fields of science.
None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. All of our employees are based in the United States.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business is subject to various risks, including those described below. You should consider the following risk factors, together with all of the
other information included in this report, which could materially adversely affect our proposed operations, our business prospects, and financial condition,
and the value of an investment in our business. There may be other factors that are not mentioned here or of which we are not presently aware that could also
affect our business operations and prospects.

Risks Related to Our Business Operations

We have a history of operating losses and negative cash flows

Since our inception in September 2012, we have incurred operating losses and negative cash flow, and we expect to continue to incur losses and
negative cash flow in the future. Our net losses for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were $15.0 million, $10.1 million, and $22.4
million respectively, and we had an accumulated deficit of $48.2 million and $33.2 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. Our net loss for
the year ended December 31, 2013 and our accumulated deficit as of that date include $17.5 million charged as in-process research and development
expenses (“IPR&D”) in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805-50 on account of our acquisition of certain assets from Geron. See
Notes 2 and 3 to the Financial Statements. BioTime previously funded our formation and operating costs but we do not expect BioTime to continue to do so
in the future. We have limited cash resources and will depend upon future equity financings, research grants, financings through collaborations with third
parties, and sales of BioTime common shares that we have as a source of funding for our operations. There is no assurance that we will be able to obtain the
financing we need from any of those sources, or that any such financing that may become available will be on terms that are favorable to us and our
shareholders.

Failure to attract and retain skilled personnel and key relationships could impair our research and development efforts

Our operations are still in the start-up stage and we had only 38 employees as of December 31, 2015. We will need to recruit and hire additional
qualified research scientists, laboratory technicians, clinical development, and management personnel. Competition for these types of personnel is intense
and we may experience delays in hiring the qualified people that we need. The inability to attract and retain sufficient qualified management, scientific, or
technical personnel may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our product development and other business objectives and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. We partially rely on BioTime to provide financial accounting management and
personnel, human resources, and intellectual property management. We will also rely on consultants and advisors who are either self-employed or employed
by other organizations, and they may have conflicts of interest or other commitments, such as consulting or advisory contracts with other organizations, that
may affect their ability to perform services for us.
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We will spend a substantial amount of our capital on research and development but we might not succeed in developing products and technologies that
are useful in medicine

· The product development work we plan to do is costly, time consuming and uncertain as to its results.

· We will attempt to develop new medical products and technologies that might not prove to be safe and efficacious in human medical applications.
Many of the products and technologies that we will seek to develop have not been applied in human medicine and have only been used in
laboratory studies in vitro or in animals. Only two of the product candidates that we have acquired have been used in clinical trials, and those were
early stage trials involving only a small number of patients.

· If we are successful in developing a new technology or product, refinement of the new technology or product and definition of the practical
applications and limitations of the technology or product may take years and require the expenditure of large sums of money.

The amount and pace of research and development work that we can do or sponsor, and our ability to commence and complete clinical trials required
to obtain FDA and foreign regulatory approval of our products, depends upon the amount of money available to us

· We may have to limit our laboratory research and development work based on the amount of our cash resources.

· We plan to seek research and development grants from government agencies and to enter into collaborative product development agreements
through which third parties will provide funding or otherwise bear the cost of research and development or clinical trials of our product candidates.
There is no assurance that the amount of any grants that we may receive will be adequate for our needs. The agreements we entered into to date with
CIRM and CRUK are subject to termination if certain milestones are not achieved. Hence, there is no assurance that we will receive the full value of
the agreement with either entity.

· Unless we are able to generate sufficient revenue or raise additional funds when needed, it is likely that we will be unable to continue our planned
activities, even if we make progress in our research and development projects.

We will need to issue additional equity or debt securities in order to raise additional capital needed to pay our operating expenses

· We plan to incur substantial research and product development expenses, and we will need to raise additional capital to pay operating expenses
until we are able to generate sufficient revenues from product sales, royalties, and license fees.

· It is likely that additional sales of equity or debt securities will be required in the near future to meet our short-term capital needs, unless we receive
substantial research grants and revenues from the sale of any products that receive regulatory approval or we are successful in licensing or
sublicensing our technology and we receive substantial licensing fees and royalties.

· Sales of additional equity securities could result in the dilution of the interests of present shareholders.

The condition of certain cells, cell lines and other biological materials that we acquired from Geron could impact the time and cost of commencing our
research and product development programs

The cells, cell lines and other biological materials that we acquired are being stored under cryopreservation protocols intended to preserve their
functionality. We have successfully completed the verification of the viability of three lots of AST-OPC1 cells that we intend to use in clinical trials.
However, the functional condition of the other materials cannot be certified until they are tested in an appropriate laboratory setting by qualified scientific
personnel using validated equipment. We intend to perform that testing on the cells that we intend to use in our research and development programs as the
need arises.
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To the extent that the cells we plan to use are not sufficiently functional for our purposes, we would need to incur the time and expense of
regenerating cell lines from cell banks, or regenerating cell banks from cell stocks, which could delay and increase the cost of our research and development
work using those cells.

Sales of any products we may develop may be adversely impacted by the availability of competing products

· In order to compete with other products, particularly those that sell at lower prices, our products will have to provide medically significant
advantages.

· Physicians and hospitals may be reluctant to try a new product due to the high degree of risk associated with the application of new technologies
and products in the field of human medicine.

· There also is a risk that our competitors may succeed at developing safer or more effective products that could render our products and technologies
obsolete or noncompetitive.

Any products that receive regulatory approval may be difficult and expensive to manufacture on a commercial scale

· hES derived therapeutic cells have only been produced on a small scale and not in quantities and at levels of purity and viability that will be needed
for wide scale commercialization. If we are successful in developing products that consist of hES cells or other cells or products derived from hES or
other cells, we will need to develop, alone or in collaboration with one or more pharmaceutical companies or contract manufacturers, technology for
the commercial production of those products.

· Our hES cell or other cell-based products are likely to be more expensive to manufacture on a commercial scale than most other drugs on the market
today. The high cost of manufacturing a product will require that we charge our customers a high price for the product in order to cover our costs and
earn a profit. If the price of our products is too high, hospitals and physicians may be reluctant to purchase our products, especially if lower priced
alternative products are available, and we may not be able to sell our products in sufficient volumes to recover our costs of development and
manufacture or to earn a profit.

We do not have our own marketing, distribution, and sales resources for the commercialization of any products that we might successfully develop

· If we are successful in developing marketable products, we will need to build our own marketing, distribution, and sales capability for our products,
which would require the investment of significant financial and management resources, or we will need to find collaborative marketing partners,
independent sales representatives, or wholesale distributors for the commercial sale of our products.

· If we market products through arrangements with third parties, we may pay sales commissions to sales representatives or we may sell or consign
products to distributors at wholesale prices. As a result, our gross profit from product sales may be lower than it would be if we were to sell our
products directly to end users at retail prices through our own sales force.

· There can be no assurance that we will able to negotiate distribution or sales agreements with third parties on favorable terms to justify our
investment in our products or achieve sufficient revenues to support our operations.
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We do not have the ability to independently conduct clinical trials required to obtain regulatory approvals for our therapeutic product candidates

We will need to rely on third parties, such as CRUK, contract research organizations, data management companies, contract clinical research
associates, medical institutions, clinical investigators and contract laboratories to conduct any clinical trials that we may undertake for our products. We may
also rely on third parties to assist with our preclinical development of therapeutic product candidates. If we outsource clinical trials, we may be unable to
directly control the timing, conduct and expense of our clinical trials. If we enlist third parties to conduct clinical trials and they fail to successfully carry out
their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or fail to meet expected deadlines, if the third parties need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the
data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our preclinical development
activities or clinical trials may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or successfully
commercialize our therapeutic product candidates.

We will have certain obligations and may incur liabilities arising from clinical trials, and we do not yet know the scope of any resulting expenses that
might arise

We face the risk of incurring liabilities to patients who participate in clinical trials of our product candidates if they incur any injuries as a result of
their participation. We will also be obligated to obtain information and prepare reports about the health of the clinical trial patients. In addition, we have
assumed Geron’s obligations to obtain information and prepare reports about the health of patients, and we have assumed any liabilities to those patients that
might arise from any injuries they may have incurred, as a result of their participation in the clinical trials of Geron’s GRN-OPC1 cell replacement therapy for
spinal cord damage and its GRN-VAC1 immunological therapy for certain cancers. We are not aware of any claims by patients alleging injuries suffered as a
result of any of those clinical trials, but if any claims are made and if liability can be established, the amount of any liability that we may incur, depending
upon the nature and extent of any provable injuries, could exceed our insurance coverage, and the amount of the liability could be material to our financial
condition.

Our business could be adversely affected if we lose the services of the key personnel upon whom we depend

Our stem cell research program will be directed primarily by our President of Research and Development, Dr. Jane S. Lebkowski, our Chief Operating
Officer, Dr. Katharine E. Spink, and our Chief Medical Officer, Dr. Edward D. Wirth. The loss of their services could have a material adverse effect on us.

Our business and operations could suffer in the event of system failures

Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our contractors and consultants are vulnerable to
damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. Such events could cause
interruption of our operations. For example, the loss of data for our product candidates could result in delays in our regulatory filings and development efforts
and significantly increase our costs. To the extent that any disruption or security breach was to result in a loss of or damage to our data, or inappropriate
disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability and the development of our product candidates could be delayed.

Failure of our internal control over financial reporting could harm our business and financial results

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. Internal control over financial reporting includes maintaining records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect our transactions; providing reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary for preparation of our financial
statements; providing reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of our assets are made in accordance with management authorization; and
providing reasonable assurance that unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements
would be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting is not intended to provide
absolute assurance that a misstatement of our financial statements would be prevented or detected. Our growth and entry into new products, technologies and
markets will place significant additional pressure on our system of internal control over financial reporting. Any failure to maintain an effective system of
internal control over financial reporting could limit our ability to report our financial results accurately and timely or to detect and prevent fraud.
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We will initially rely in part on financial systems maintained by BioTime and upon services provided by BioTime personnel. BioTime will allocate
certain expenses among itself, us, and BioTime’s other subsidiaries, which creates a risk that the allocations may not accurately reflect the benefit of an
expenditure or use of financial or other resources by us, BioTime as our parent company, and the BioTime subsidiaries among which the allocations are
made.

Risks Related to Our Industry

We will face certain risks arising from regulatory, legal, and economic factors that affect our business and the business of other pharmaceutical and
biological product development companies. Because we are a small company with limited revenues and limited capital resources, we may be less able to bear
the financial impact of these risks than larger companies that have substantial income and available capital.

If we do not receive FDA and other regulatory approvals we will not be permitted to sell our products

The cell-based products that we are developing cannot be sold until the FDA and corresponding foreign regulatory authorities approve the products
for medical use. To date, long-term safety and efficacy has not been demonstrated in clinical trials for any of our therapeutic product candidates. The need to
obtain regulatory approval to market a new product means that:

· we will have to conduct expensive and time consuming clinical trials of new products. The full cost of conducting and completing clinical trials
necessary to obtain FDA and foreign regulatory approval of a new product cannot be presently determined, but could exceed our current financial
resources;

· clinical trials and the regulatory approval process for a cell-based product can take several years to complete. As a result, we will incur the expense
and delay inherent in seeking FDA and foreign regulatory approval of new products, even if the results of clinical trials are favorable;

· data obtained from preclinical and clinical studies is susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit, or prevent regulatory agency
approvals. Delays in the regulatory approval process or rejections of an application for approval of a new drug or cell-based product may be
encountered as a result of changes in regulatory agency policy;

· because the therapeutic products we plan to develop with hES and iPS technology involve the application of new technologies and approaches to
medicine, the FDA or foreign regulatory agencies may subject those products to additional or more stringent review than drugs or biologics derived
from other technologies. No therapeutic product based on hES or iPS technology has been approved by the FDA to date.

· a product that is approved may be subject to restrictions on use;

· the FDA can limit or withdraw approval of a product if problems arise; and

· we will face similar regulatory issues in foreign countries.

Clinical trial failures can occur at any stage of the testing and we may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, the clinical trial
process that could delay or prevent commercialization of our current or future therapeutic product candidates

All of our product candidates are either at early stages of clinical development or at the preclinical or research stages of development. Clinical trial
failures or delays can occur at any stage of the trials, and may be directly or indirectly caused by a variety of factors, including but not limited to:

· delays in securing clinical investigators or trial sites for our clinical trials;
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· delays in obtaining Institutional Review Board (“IRB”) and other regulatory approvals to commence a clinical trial;

· slower than anticipated rates of patient recruitment and enrollment, or failing to reach the targeted number of patients due to competition for patients
from other trials;

· limited or no availability of coverage, reimbursement and adequate payment from health maintenance organizations and other third party payors for
the use of agents used in our clinical trials;

· negative or inconclusive results from clinical trials;

· unforeseen side effects interrupting, delaying, or halting clinical trials of our therapeutic product candidates, and possibly resulting in the FDA or
other regulatory authorities denying approval of our therapeutic product candidates;

· unforeseen safety issues;

· uncertain dosing issues;

· approval and introduction of new therapies or changes in standards of practice or regulatory guidance that render our clinical trial endpoints or the
targeting of our proposed indications obsolete;

· inability to monitor patients adequately during or after treatment or problems with investigator or patient compliance with the trial protocols;

· inability to replicate in large controlled studies safety and efficacy data obtained from a limited number of patients in uncontrolled trials;

· inability or unwillingness of medical investigators to follow our clinical protocols; and

· unavailability of clinical trial supplies.

Government imposed bans or restrictions, and religious, moral and ethical concerns on the use of hES cells could prevent us from developing and
successfully marketing stem cell products

· Government imposed bans or restrictions on the use of embryos or hES cells research and development in the United States and abroad could
generally constrain stem cell research, thereby limiting the market and demand for any of our products that receive regulatory approval. In March
2009, President Obama lifted certain restrictions on federal funding of research involving the use of hES cells, and in accordance with President
Obama’s executive order, the National Institutes of Health has adopted new guidelines for determining the eligibility of hES cell lines for use in
federally funded research. The central focus of the proposed guidelines is to assure that hES cells used in federally funded research were derived from
human embryos that were created for reproductive purposes, were no longer needed for this purpose, and were voluntarily donated for research
purposes with the informed written consent of the donors. hES cells that were derived from embryos created for research purposes rather than
reproductive purposes, and other hES cells that were not derived in compliance with the guidelines, are not eligible for use in federally funded
research.

· California law requires that stem cell research be conducted under the oversight of a stem cell research oversight (“SCRO”) committee. Many kinds
of stem cell research, including the derivation of new hES cell lines, may only be conducted in California with the prior written approval of the
SCRO. A SCRO could prohibit or impose restrictions on the research we plan to do.
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· The use of hES cells gives rise to religious, moral and ethical issues regarding the appropriate means of obtaining the cells and the appropriate use
and disposal of the cells. These considerations could lead to more restrictive government regulations or could generally constrain stem cell research
thereby limiting the market and demand for any of our products that receive regulatory approval.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If our efforts to protect our proprietary technologies are not adequate, we may not be able to compete effectively in our market.

We rely upon a combination of patents, trade secret protection and contractual arrangements to protect the intellectual property related to our
technologies. We will only be able to protect our products and proprietary information and technology by preventing unauthorized use by third parties to the
extent that our patents, trade secrets, and contractual position allow us to do so. Any disclosure to or misappropriation by third parties of our trade secrets or
confidential information could compromise our competitive position. Moreover, we are involved in, have in the past been involved in, and may in the future
be involved in legal or administrative proceedings involving our intellectual property and initiated by third parties, which proceedings can result in
significant costs and commitment of management time and attention. As our product candidates continue in development, third parties may attempt to
challenge the validity and enforceability of our patents and proprietary information and technologies.

We also are involved in, have in the past been involved in, and may in the future be involved in initiating legal or administrative proceedings
involving the product candidates and intellectual property of our competitors. These proceedings can result in significant costs and commitment of
management time and attention, and there can be no assurance that our efforts would be successful in preventing or limiting the ability of our competitors to
market competing products. Composition-of-matter patents relating to the active pharmaceutical ingredient are generally considered to be the strongest form
of intellectual property protection for pharmaceutical products, as such patents provide protection not limited to any one method of use. Method-of-use
patents protect the use of a product for the specified method(s), and do not prevent a competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical to our
product for an indication that is outside the scope of the patented method. We rely on a combination of these and other types of patents to protect our product
candidates, and there can be no assurance that our intellectual property will create and sustain the competitive position of our product candidates.

Biotechnology and pharmaceutical product patents involve highly complex legal and scientific questions and can be uncertain. Any patent
applications that we own or license may fail to result in issued patents. Even if patents do successfully issue from our applications, third parties may
challenge their validity or enforceability, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable. Even if our patents and patent
applications are not challenged by third parties, those patents and patent applications may not prevent others from designing around our claims and may not
otherwise adequately protect our product candidates. If the breadth or strength of protection provided by the patents and patent applications we hold with
respect to our product candidates is threatened, competitors with significantly greater resources could threaten our ability to commercialize our product
candidates. Discoveries are generally published in the scientific literature well after their actual development, and patent applications in the United States
and other countries are typically not published until 18 months after filing, and in some cases are never published. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we or
our licensors were the first to make the inventions claimed in our owned and licensed patents or patent applications, or that we or our licensors were the first
to file for patent protection covering such inventions. Subject to meeting other requirements for patentability, for United States patent applications filed prior
to March 16, 2013, the first to invent the claimed invention is entitled to receive patent protection for that invention while, outside the United States, the first
to file a patent application encompassing the invention is entitled to patent protection for the invention. The United States moved to a “first to file” system
under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or AIA, effective March 16, 2013. The effects of this change and other elements of the AIA are currently unclear,
as the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, is still implementing associated regulations, and the applicability of the AIA and associated
regulations to our patents and patent applications have not been fully determined. This new system also includes new procedures for challenging issued
patents and pending patent applications, which creates additional uncertainty. We may become involved in opposition or interference proceedings
challenging our patents and patent applications or the patents and patent applications of others, and the outcome of any such proceedings are highly
uncertain. An unfavorable outcome in any such proceedings could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize
our technology and compete directly with us, or result in our inability to manufacture, develop or commercialize our product candidates without infringing
the patent rights of others.
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In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we seek to rely on trade secret protection and confidentiality agreements to protect proprietary
know-how, information, or technology that is not covered by our patents. Although our agreements require all of our employees to assign their inventions to
us, and we require all of our employees, consultants, advisors and any third parties who have access to our trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other
confidential information and technology to enter into appropriate confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certain that our trade secrets, proprietary know-
how and other confidential information and technology will not be subject to unauthorized disclosure or that our competitors will not otherwise gain access
to or independently develop substantially equivalent trade secrets, proprietary know-how and other information and technology. Furthermore, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent or in the same manner as the laws of the United States. As a result, we may
encounter significant problems in protecting and defending our intellectual property globally. If we are unable to prevent unauthorized disclosure of our
intellectual property related to our product candidates and technology to third parties, we may not be able to establish or maintain a competitive advantage
in our market, which could materially adversely affect our business and operations.

Intellectual property disputes with third parties and competitors may be costly and time consuming, and may negatively affect our competitive position.

Our commercial success may depend on our avoiding infringement of the patents and other proprietary rights of third parties as well as on enforcing
our patents and other proprietary rights against third parties. Pharmaceutical and biotechnology intellectual property disputes are characterized by complex,
lengthy and expensive litigation over patents and other intellectual property rights. We may initiate or become a party to, or be threatened with, future
litigation or other proceedings regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product candidates and competing products.

As our product candidates progress toward commercialization, we or our collaboration partners may be subject to patent infringement claims from
third parties. We attempt to ensure that our product candidates do not infringe third party patents and other proprietary rights. However, the patent landscape
in competitive product areas is highly complex, and there may be patents of third parties of which we are unaware that may result in claims of infringement.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our product candidates do not infringe proprietary rights of third parties, and parties making claims against us
may seek and obtain injunctive or other equitable relief, which could potentially block further efforts to develop and commercialize our product candidates.
Any litigation involving defense against claims of infringement, regardless of the merit of such claims, would involve substantial litigation expense and
would be a substantial diversion of management time.

We intend, if necessary, to vigorously enforce our intellectual property in order to protect the proprietary position of our product candidates. Active
efforts to enforce our patents may include litigation, administrative proceedings, or both, depending on the potential benefits that might be available from
those actions and the costs associated with undertaking those efforts against third parties. We carefully review and monitor publicly available information
regarding products that may be competitive with our product candidates and assert our intellectual property rights where appropriate.

We may consider administrative proceedings and other means for challenging third party patents and patent applications. Third parties may also
challenge our patents and patent applications, through interference, reexamination, inter partes review, and post-grant review proceedings before the USPTO
or through other comparable proceedings, such as oppositions or invalidation proceedings, before foreign patent offices. An unfavorable outcome in any
such challenge could require us to cease using the related technology and to attempt to license rights to it from the prevailing third party, which may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, in which case our business could be harmed. Even if we are successful, participation in administrative
proceedings before the USPTO or a foreign patent office may result in substantial costs and time on the part of our management and other employees.
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Furthermore, there is a risk that any public announcements concerning the status or outcomes of intellectual property litigation or administrative
proceedings may adversely affect the price of our stock. If securities analysts or our investors interpret such status or outcomes as negative or otherwise
creating uncertainty, our common stock price may be adversely affected.

Our reliance on third parties and agreements with collaboration partners requires us to share our trade secrets, which increases the possibility that a
competitor may discover them or that our trade secrets will be misappropriated or disclosed.

Our reliance on third party contractors to develop and manufacture our product candidates is based upon agreements that limit the rights of the third
parties to use or disclose our confidential information, including our trade secrets and know-how. Despite the contractual provisions, the need to share trade
secrets and other confidential information increases the risk that such trade secrets and information are disclosed or used, even if unintentionally, in violation
of these agreements. In the highly competitive markets in which our product candidates are expected to compete, protecting our trade secrets, including our
strategies for addressing competing products, is imperative, and any unauthorized use or disclosure could impair our competitive position and may have a
material adverse effect on our business and operations.

In addition, our collaboration partners are larger, more complex organizations than ours, and the risk of inadvertent disclosure of our proprietary
information may be increased despite their internal procedures and contractual obligations in place with our collaboration partners. Despite our efforts to
protect our trade secrets and other confidential information, a competitor’s discovery of such trade secrets and information could impair our competitive
position and have an adverse impact on our business.

We have an extensive worldwide patent portfolio. The cost of maintaining our patent protection is high and maintaining our patent protection requires
continuous review and compliance in order to maintain worldwide patent protection. We may not be able to effectively maintain our intellectual property
position throughout the major markets of the world.

The USPTO and foreign patent authorities require maintenance fees and payments as well as continued compliance with a number of procedural and
documentary requirements. Noncompliance may result in abandonment or lapse of the subject patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete
loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. Non-compliance may result in reduced royalty payments for lack of patent coverage in a particular
jurisdiction from our collaboration partners or may result in competition, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We have made, and will continue to make, certain strategic decisions in balancing costs and the potential protection afforded by the patent laws of
certain countries. As a result, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries throughout the world, or from selling
or importing products made using our inventions in and into the United States or other countries. Third parties may use our technologies in territories in
which we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may infringe our patents in territories which provide inadequate
enforcement mechanisms, even if we have patent protection. Such third party products may compete with our product candidates, and our patents or other
intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent as do the laws of the United States, and we may encounter
significant problems in securing and defending our intellectual property rights outside the United States.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain countries. The legal
systems of certain countries do not always favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property rights, particularly those relating to
pharmaceutical and biotechnology products, which could make it difficult for us to stop infringement of our patents, misappropriation of our trade secrets, or
marketing of competing products in violation of our proprietary rights. Proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights in foreign countries could
result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, and could put our patents in these territories at risk of being
invalidated or interpreted narrowly, or our patent applications at risk of not granting, and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not
prevail in all legal or other proceedings that we may initiate and, if we were to prevail, the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be
commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant
commercial advantage from the intellectual property that we develop or license.
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Intellectual property rights do not address all potential threats to any competitive advantage we may have.

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations, and
intellectual property rights may not adequately protect our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. The following examples are
illustrative:

· Others may be able to make cellular treatments that are the same as or similar to our current or future product candidates but that are not covered by
the claims of the patents that we own or have exclusively licensed.

· We or any of our licensors or strategic partners might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent
application that we own or have exclusively licensed.

· We or any of our licensors or strategic partners might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our inventions.

· Others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our intellectual
property rights.

· The prosecution of our pending patent applications may not result in granted patents.

· Granted patents that we own or have exclusively licensed may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be held invalid or
unenforceable, as a result of legal challenges by our competitors.

· Patent protection on our product candidates may expire before we are able to develop and commercialize the product, or before we are able to
recover our investment in the product.

· Our competitors might conduct research and development activities in the United States and other countries that provide a safe harbor from patent
infringement claims for such activities, as well as in countries in which we do not have patent rights, and may then use the information learned from
such activities to develop competitive products for sale in markets where we intend to market our product candidates.

If we fail to meet our obligations under license agreements, we may lose our rights to key technologies on which our business depends

Our business will depend in part on several technologies that are based in part on technology licensed from third parties, including the University of
Colorado, the University of California, and the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation. Those third-party license agreements impose obligations on us,
including payment obligations and obligations to pursue development of commercial products under the licensed patents or technology. If a licensor
believes that we have failed to meet our obligations under a license agreement, the licensor could seek to limit or terminate our license rights, which could
lead to costly and time-consuming litigation and, potentially, a loss of the licensed rights. During the period of any such litigation our ability to carry out the
development and commercialization of potential products, and our ability to raise capital, could be significantly and negatively affected. If our license rights
were restricted or ultimately lost, we would not be able to continue to use the licensed technology in our business.
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The price and sale of any of our products that receive regulatory approval may be limited by health insurance coverage and government regulation

Success in selling any of our products that receive regulatory approval may depend in part on the extent to which health insurance companies,
HMOs, and government health administration authorities such as Medicare and Medicaid will pay for the cost of the products and related treatment. Until we
actually introduce a new product into the medical market place we will not know with certainty whether adequate health insurance, HMO, and government
coverage will be available to permit the product to be sold at a price high enough for us to generate a profit. In some foreign countries, pricing or profitability
of health care products is subject to government control which may result in low prices for our products. In the United States, there have been a number of
federal and state proposals to implement similar government controls, and new proposals are likely to be made in the future.

The implementation of the ACA in the United States may adversely affect our business.

As a result of the March 2010 adoption of the ACA in the United States, substantial changes are being made to the current system for paying for
healthcare in the United States, including programs to extend medical benefits to millions of individuals who currently lack insurance coverage. The changes
contemplated by the ACA are subject to rule-making and implementation timelines that extend for several years, as well as initiatives in Congress to amend
or repeal the law, and this uncertainty limits our ability to forecast changes that may occur in the future. However, implementation of the ACA has already
begun with respect to certain significant cost-saving measures, including changes to several government healthcare programs that may cover the cost of our
future products, including Medicaid, Medicare Parts B and D, and these efforts could have a materially adverse impact on our future financial prospects and
performance. For example, with respect to Medicaid, in order for a manufacturer’s products to be reimbursed by federal funding under Medicaid, the
manufacturer must enter into a Medicaid rebate agreement with the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and must pay
certain rebates to the states based on utilization data provided by each state to the manufacturer and to CMS, and based on pricing data provided by the
manufacturer to the federal government. The states share this savings with the federal government, and sometimes implement their own additional
supplemental rebate programs. Under the Medicaid drug rebate program, the rebate amount for most branded drug products was previously equal to a
minimum of 15.1% of the Average Manufacturer Price, or AMP, or the AMP less Best Price, whichever is greater. Effective January 1, 2010, the ACA
generally increases the size of the Medicaid rebates paid by manufacturers for single source and innovator multiple source (brand name) drug product from a
minimum of 15.1% to a minimum of 23.1% of the AMP, subject to certain exceptions, for example, for certain clotting factors, the increase is limited to a
minimum of 17.1% of the AMP. For non-innovator multiple source (generic) products, the rebate percentage is increased from a minimum of 11.0% to a
minimum of 13.0% of AMP. In 2010, the ACA also newly extended this rebate obligation to prescription drugs covered by Medicaid managed care
organizations. These increases in required rebates may adversely affect our future financial prospects and performance. The ACA also creates new rebate
obligations for products under Medicare Part D, a partial, voluntary prescription drug benefit created by the United States federal government primarily for
persons 65 years old and over. The Part D drug program is administered through private insurers that contract with CMS. Beginning in 2011, the healthcare
reform law generally requires that in order for a drug manufacturer’s products to be reimbursed under Medicare Part D, the manufacturer must enter into a
Medicare Coverage Gap Discount Program agreement with the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services, and reimburse each
Medicare Part D plan sponsor an amount equal to 50% savings for the manufacturer’s brand name drugs and biologics which the Part D plan sponsor has
provided to its Medicare Part D beneficiaries who are in the “donut hole” (or a gap in Medicare Part D coverage for beneficiaries who have expended certain
amounts for drugs). The Part D plan sponsor is responsible for calculating and providing the discount directly to its beneficiaries and for reporting these
amounts paid to CMS’s contractor, which notifies drug manufacturers of the rebate amounts it must pay to each Part D plan sponsor. The rebate requirement
could adversely affect our future financial performance, particularly if contracts with Part D plans cannot be favorably renegotiated or the Part D plan
sponsors fail to accurately calculate payments due in a manner that overstates our rebate obligation. The ACA also introduced a biosimilar pathway that will
permit companies to obtain FDA approval of generic versions of existing biologics based upon reduced documentation and data requirements deemed
sufficient to demonstrate safety and efficacy than are required for the pioneer biologics. The new law provides that a biosimilar application may be submitted
as soon as four years after the reference product is first licensed, and that the FDA may not make approval of an application effective until 12 years after the
reference product was first licensed. With the likely introduction of biosimilars in the United States, we expect in the future to face greater competition from
biosimilar products, including a possible increase in patent challenges. The FDA has reported meeting with sponsors who are interested in developing
biosimilar products, and is developing regulations to implement the abbreviated regulatory review pathway. Regarding access to our products, the ACA
established and provided significant funding for a Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute to coordinate and fund Comparative Effectiveness Research,
or CER. While the stated intent of CER is to develop information to guide providers to the most efficacious therapies, outcomes of CER could influence the
reimbursement or coverage for therapies that are determined to be less cost-effective than others. Should any of our products be determined to be less cost
effective than alternative therapies, the levels of reimbursement for these products, or the willingness to reimburse at all, could be impacted, which could
materially impact our future financial prospects and results.
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Risks Related to Our Relationship With BioTime

We are a subsidiary of BioTime, and accordingly our business is substantially controlled by BioTime.

As of March 23, 2016, BioTime owns approximately 56.7% of our issued and outstanding Series A Shares. Because BioTime owns a majority of the
outstanding Series A Shares, it has the voting power to elect our entire Board of Directors. Presently, four of the eight members of our Board of Directors are
also directors or officers of BioTime, and another director is an employee of Broadwood Capital, Inc., which is the general partner of Broadwood Partners,
L.P., the partnership that is the largest shareholder of BioTime. Some of our directors also serve on the Boards of Directors of one or more of BioTime’s other
subsidiaries. The relationship of our directors with BioTime means that we will not have a Board of Directors making business decisions on our behalf
independent from BioTime. Even those of our directors who do not serve on the BioTime Board of Directors will be elected to our Board of Directors by
BioTime, and they may be removed from our Board by BioTime, as the majority shareholder.

BioTime could cause corporate actions to be taken even if the interests of BioTime conflict with the interests of our other shareholders. This
concentration of voting power could have the effect of deterring or preventing a change in control that might be beneficial to our other shareholders.

As the majority shareholder, BioTime will have the voting power to approve or disapprove any matter or corporate transaction presented to our
shareholders for approval, including but not limited to:

· any amendment of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws;

· any merger or consolidation of us with another company;

· any recapitalization or reorganization of our capital stock;

· any sale of assets or purchase of assets; or

· a corporate dissolution or a plan of liquidation of our business.

We partially rely upon BioTime for certain services and resources

Although we have our own research facilities, scientific personnel, and some management personnel, we partially rely on BioTime to provide certain
management and administrative services, including patent prosecution, certain legal services, accounting, financial management, and controls over financial
accounting and reporting. We have entered into a Shared Facilities and Services Agreement with BioTime under which we have agreed to bear costs allocated
to us by BioTime for the use of BioTime human resources and for services and materials provided for our benefit by BioTime. We pay BioTime 105% of its
costs of providing personnel and services to us, and for any use of its facilities by us, including an allocation of general overhead based on that use. We may
also share the services of some research personnel with BioTime.

If BioTime’s human resources and facilities are not sufficient to serve both BioTime’s needs and ours, we will have to hire additional personnel of
our own, either on a full-time or part-time basis, as employees or as consultants, and the cost of doing so could be greater than the costs that would be
allocated to us by BioTime. Also, any new personnel that we may need to hire may not be as familiar with our business or operations as BioTime’s personnel,
which means that we would incur the expense and inefficiencies related to training new employees or consultants.
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Conflicts of interest may arise from our relationship with BioTime

Our relationship with BioTime could give rise to certain conflicts of interest that could have an impact on our research and development programs,
business opportunities, and operations generally.

· We and BioTime or any of its other subsidiaries may determine to engage in research and development of the same or similar products or
technologies, or products that would otherwise compete in the market place. Even if we utilize different technologies than BioTime or its other
subsidiaries, we could find ourselves in competition with them for research scientists, financing and other resources, licensing, manufacturing, and
distribution

· Because we are a subsidiary of BioTime, BioTime could prevent us from engaging in research and development programs, investments, business
ventures, or agreements to develop, license, or acquire products or technologies that would or might compete with those owned, licensed, or under
development by BioTime or any of its other subsidiaries.

· BioTime may determine that some of our patents or technology would be useful in its business or that of another BioTime subsidiary, and BioTime
or another BioTime subsidiary may hold patents or technology that we may determine would be useful in our business. In such cases we may enter
into license or sublicense agreements with BioTime or another BioTime subsidiary for the use of such patents or technology. Conflicts of interest
will arise in determining the scope and financial terms of any such licenses or sublicenses, including the fields of use permitted, licensing fees, and
royalties, if any, and other matters.

· BioTime and its other subsidiaries will engage for their own accounts in research and product development programs, investments, and business
ventures, and we will not be entitled to participate or to receive an interest in those programs, investments, or business ventures. BioTime and its
other subsidiaries will not be obligated to present any particular research and development, investment, or business opportunity to us, even if the
opportunity would be within the scope of our research and development plans or programs, business objectives, or investment policies. These
opportunities may include, for example, opportunities to acquire businesses or assets, including but not limited to patents and other intellectual
property that could be used by us or by BioTime or by any of BioTime’s other subsidiaries. Our respective boards of directors will have to determine
which company should pursue those opportunities, taking into account relevant facts and circumstances at the time, such as the financial and other
resources of the companies available to acquire and utilize the opportunity, and the best “fit” between the opportunity and the business and research
and development programs of the companies. However, since BioTime will have the ultimate power to elect the members of our Board of Directors,
BioTime may have the ultimate say in decision making with respect to the allocation of opportunities

· If we enter into any patent or technology license or sublicense, or any other agreement with BioTime or with another BioTime subsidiary, the
BioTime companies that are parties to the agreement may have a conflict of interest in determining how and when they should enforce their rights
under the agreement if the other BioTime company that is a party were to default or otherwise fail to perform any of its obligations under the
agreement.

· One of our significant assets is 3,852,880 BioTime common shares that we held as of December 31, 2015. Through the Asset Contribution
Agreement we acquired 8,902,077 BioTime common shares from BioTime in October 2013 and we sold a portion of those shares during June 2014.
We expect to sell the remaining BioTime common shares from time to time, or to pledge those shares as collateral for loans, to raise capital to
finance our operations. Because a sale of those shares could have a depressing effect on the market value of BioTime common shares, BioTime will
have a continuing interest in the number of shares we sell, the prices at which we sell the shares, and time and manner in which the shares are sold.
Further, we may need or find it desirable to sell BioTime common shares at the same time as BioTime, or other BioTime subsidiaries that hold
BioTime common shares, also desire to sell some of their BioTime common shares. Concurrent sales of BioTime common shares by us, BioTime, or
other BioTime subsidiaries could have a depressing effect on the market price of the BioTime common shares, lowering the price at which we and
they are able to sell BioTime common shares and resulting in lower net proceeds from the sales. We plan to coordinate any future sales of our
BioTime common shares with BioTime and its other subsidiaries in order to provide an orderly and controlled process for raising capital through the
sale of BioTime shares. This will include an agreement as to the number of shares to be sold, the time period or “market window” for selling shares,
the use of a common securities broker-dealer, and a fair allocation of net sales based on average sales prices during any trading day on which we and
they sell BioTime shares.
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· Each conflict of interest will be resolved by our respective boards of directors in keeping with their fiduciary duties and such policies as they may
implement from time to time. However, the terms and conditions of patent and technology licenses and other agreements between us and BioTime or
other BioTime subsidiaries will not be negotiated on an arm’s-length basis due to BioTime’s ownership of a controlling interest in us and due to the
commonality of directors serving on our respective boards of directors.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We could lose our CIRM grant if we fail to meet the clinical trial milestones that are a condition to CIRM’s obligation to provide funding

We are depending upon our grant from CIRM as a source of financing for the costs of conducting our Phase 1/2a clinical trial and process
development of AST-OPC1. Under the terms of the CIRM grant, as amended effective March 2, 2016, we must meet certain progress milestones pertaining to
the clinical trial in order to receive additional payments. If we fail to meet the milestones, payments will be delayed.  Additionally, under the agreement
CIRM has the right to suspend payment upon the occurrence of certain Suspension Events, which could force us to postpone, delay, or discontinue the
clinical trial and development work for the product.

Establishing and maintaining strategic alliances is a key component of our business strategy. If we are unable to establish and maintain strategic
alliances for our therapeutic product candidates, we may have to reduce or delay our product development or increase our expenditures

A key component of our current strategy for developing, manufacturing and commercializing our therapeutic product candidates will be entering
into strategic alliances with pharmaceutical companies or other industry participants to advance our programs and enable us to maintain our financial and
operational capacity. We will face significant competition in seeking appropriate alliances. We may not be able to negotiate alliances on acceptable terms, if
at all. If our strategic alliances do not result in the successful development and commercialization of our product candidates or if one or more of our
collaborators terminates its agreement with us, we may not receive any future research and development funding or milestone or royalty payments under the
collaboration. If we do not receive the funding we expect under these agreements, our continued development of our product candidates could be delayed
and we may need to obtain additional funding, which may be unavailable or available only on unfavorable terms.

If we are able to enter into product development and marketing arrangements with pharmaceutical companies, we may license product development,
manufacturing, and marketing rights to the pharmaceutical company or to a joint venture company formed with the pharmaceutical company. Under such
arrangements we might receive only a royalty on sales of the products developed or an equity interest in a joint venture company that develops the product.
As a result, our revenues from the sale of those products may be substantially less than the amount of revenues and gross profits that we might receive if we
were to develop, manufacture, and market the products ourselves.

We may become dependent on possible future collaborations to develop and commercialize many of our product candidates and to provide the
manufacturing, regulatory compliance, sales, marketing and distribution capabilities required for the success of our business

We may enter into various kinds of collaborative research and development, manufacturing, and product marketing agreements to develop and
commercialize our products. Any future milestone payments and cost reimbursements from collaboration agreements could provide an important source of
financing for our research and development programs, thereby facilitating the application of our technology to the development and commercialization of
our products, but there are risks associated with entering into collaboration arrangements.
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There is a risk that we could become dependent upon one or more collaborative arrangements for product development or manufacturing or as a
source of revenues from the sale of any products that may be developed by us alone or through one of the collaborative arrangements. A collaborative
arrangement upon which we might depend might be terminated by our collaboration partner or they might determine not to actively pursue the development
or commercialization of our products. A collaboration partner also may not be precluded from independently pursuing competing products and drug delivery
approaches or technologies.

There is a risk that a collaboration partner might fail to perform its obligations under the collaborative arrangements or may be slow in performing its
obligations. In addition, a collaboration partner may experience financial difficulties at any time that could prevent it from having available funds to
contribute to the collaboration. If a collaboration partner fails to conduct its product development, manufacturing, commercialization, regulatory
compliance, sales and marketing or distribution activities successfully and in a timely manner, or if it terminates or materially modifies its agreements with
us, the development and commercialization of one or more product candidates could be delayed, curtailed or terminated because we may not have sufficient
financial resources or capabilities to continue product development, manufacturing, and commercialization on our own.

Industry and other market data used in this Annual Report, including those undertaken by us or our engaged consultants, may prove to be
unrepresentative of current and future market conditions or future results

This Annual Report includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and research, surveys and
studies conducted by third parties, and surveys and studies we commissioned, regarding the market potential for our product candidates. Although we believe
that such information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, neither the sources of such data, nor we, can guarantee the accuracy or
completeness of such information. While we believe these industry publications and third party research, surveys and studies are reliable, we have not
independently verified such data. With respect to the information from third party consultants, the results of that study represent the independent consultants’
own methodologies, assumptions, research, analysis, projections, estimations, composition of respondent pool, presentation of data, and adjustments, each of
which may ultimately prove to be incorrect, and cause actual results and market viability to differ materially from those presented in such report. Readers
should not place undue reliance on this information.

Risks Pertaining to Our Common Stock

Ownership of our common stock will entail certain risks associated with the volatility of prices for our shares and the fact that we do not pay
dividends on our common stock.

The price of our common stock may rise and fall rapidly

The market price of our common stock like that of the shares of many biotechnology companies, may be highly volatile. The price of our common
stock may rise or fall rapidly as a result of a number of factors, including:

· sales or potential sales of substantial amounts of our common stock;

· results of preclinical testing or clinical trials of our product candidates or those of our competitors;

· announcements about us or about our competitors, including clinical trial results, regulatory approvals, new product introductions and commercial
results;

· the cost of our development programs;

· the success of competitive products or technologies;

· litigation and other developments relating to our issued patents or patent applications or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;
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· conditions in the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries;

· actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts;

· variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us, including the failure of our earnings to meet analysts’
expectations; and

· general economic, industry and market conditions.

Many of these factors are beyond our control. The stock markets in general, and the market for pharmaceutical and biotechnological companies in
particular, have been experiencing extreme price and volume fluctuations which have affected the market price of the equity securities without regard to the
operating performance of the issuing companies. Broad market fluctuations, as well as industry factors and general economic and political conditions, may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

The recently enacted JOBS Act allows us to postpone the date by which we must comply with certain laws and regulations intended to protect investors
and to reduce the amount of information we provide in our reports filed with the Commission, which could undermine investor confidence in our
company and adversely affect the market price of our securities.

The recently enacted JOBS Act is intended to reduce the regulatory burden on “emerging growth companies.” As defined in the JOBS Act, a public
company whose initial public offering of common equity securities occurred after December 8, 2011 and whose annual gross revenues are less than $1.0
billion will, in general, qualify as an emerging growth company until the earliest of:

· the last day of its fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of its initial public offering of common equity securities;

· the last day of its fiscal year in which it has annual gross revenue of $1.0 billion or more;

· the date on which it has, during the previous three-year period, issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt; and

· the date on which it is deemed to be a “large accelerated filer,” which will occur at such time as we (a) have an aggregate worldwide market value of
common equity securities held by non-affiliates of $700 million or more as of the last business day of its most recently completed second fiscal
quarter, (b) have been required to file annual and quarterly reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for a period of at least 12 months, and
(c) have filed at least one annual report pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Under this definition, we are an emerging growth company and could remain an emerging growth company until as late as December 31, 2019.

The JOBS Act provides that, so long as we qualify as an emerging growth company, we will, among other things:

· be exempt from the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that our independent registered public accounting firm provide
an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting;

· be exempt from the “say on pay” provisions (requiring a non-binding stockholder vote to approve compensation of certain executive officers) and
the “say on golden parachute” provisions (requiring a non-binding stockholder vote to approve golden parachute arrangements for certain executive
officers in connection with mergers and certain other business combinations) of the Dodd-Frank Act and certain disclosure requirements of the
Dodd-Frank Act relating to compensation of our chief executive officer;
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· be permitted to omit the detailed compensation discussion and analysis from proxy statements and reports filed under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and instead provide a reduced level of disclosure concerning executive compensation; and

· be exempt from any rules that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a
supplement to the auditor’s report on the financial statements.

Although we are still evaluating the JOBS Act, we currently take advantage of the reduced regulatory and reporting requirements that are available
to us so long as we qualify as an “emerging growth company,” except that we have irrevocably elected not to take advantage of the extension of time to
comply with new or revised financial accounting standards available under Section 102(b) of the JOBS Act. Among other things, this means that our
independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting so long as we qualify as an emerging growth company, which may increase the risk that weaknesses or deficiencies in our internal control over
financial reporting go undetected. Likewise, so long as we qualify as an emerging growth company, we may elect not to provide you with certain
information, including certain financial information and certain information regarding compensation of our executive officers, that we would otherwise have
been required to provide in filings we make with the Commission, which may make it more difficult for investors and securities analysts to evaluate our
company. As a result, investor confidence in our company and the market price of our securities may be materially and adversely affected.

Our stock price could decline due to the large number of outstanding shares of our common stock eligible for future sale

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that those sales could occur, could cause the market price
of our common stock to decline. Sales of substantial amounts of common stock could also make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related
securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate.

We do not currently intend to pay dividends on any of our classes of securities and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment
will depend on the appreciation in the price of our securities.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on any class of our securities. We currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund our future
growth and do not expect to declare or pay any dividend on any class of our securities in the foreseeable future. As a result, you may only realize a gain on
your investment in our securities if the market price of our securities appreciates and you sell your securities at a price above your cost after accounting for
any taxes. The price of our securities may not appreciate in value or ever exceed the price that you paid for our securities.

The price of our common stock, and the value of our assets, will be affected by changes in the value of the BioTime common shares that we own

As of December 31, 2015, we held 3,852,880 of the 8,902,077 BioTime common shares we received from BioTime under the Asset Contribution
Agreement. The value of our common stock will reflect, in part, the value of the BioTime common shares that we hold. The value of the BioTime common
shares we hold will vary with the price at which BioTime common shares trade in the public market. The market price of BioTime common shares will be
impacted by a number of factors, including the results of BioTime’s operations.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our stock, the price of our securities could decline.

The current trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us, our
business, our markets and our competitors. We do not control these analysts. If securities analysts do not cover us, the lack of research coverage may
adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrade our stock or if those analysts
issue other unfavorable commentary about us or our business, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or
fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the market and interest in our stock could decrease, which in turn could cause our stock
price or trading volume to decline.
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You may experience dilution of your ownership interests because of the future issuance of additional shares of our common stock and our preferred
stock

In the future, we may issue our authorized but previously unissued equity securities, resulting in the dilution of the ownership interests of our
present shareholders. We are currently authorized to issue an aggregate of 150,000,000 shares of common stock, consisting of 75,000,000 Series A Shares and
75,000,000 of our Series B Shares. We are also authorized to issue 5,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock. As of March 23, 2016, we had issued
and outstanding 38,352,150 Series A Shares. We have also reserved 350,000 Series A Shares for issuance upon the exercise of outstanding warrants, and
8,000,000 Series A Shares for issuance under a stock option and stock purchase plan.

We may issue additional shares of common stock or other securities in order to raise additional capital, or in connection with hiring or retaining
employees or consultants, or in connection with future acquisitions of licenses to technology or rights to acquire products, in connection with future business
acquisitions, or for other business purposes. The future issuance of any such additional shares of common stock or other securities may create downward
pressure on the trading price of our common stock.

We may also issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock having rights, preferences, and privileges senior to the rights of our common stock with
respect to dividends, rights to share in distributions of our assets if we liquidate our company, or voting rights. Any preferred stock may also be convertible
into Series A Shares on terms that would be dilutive to holders of common stock.
 

In addition, as previously announced, we intend to distribute warrants to our shareholders on a pro-rata basis (except for BioTime), and the exercise
of such warrants, if any, could result in dilution.

 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item 2. Properties

We occupied an office and research facility located at 230 Constitution Drive, Menlo Park, California under a sublease from BioTime through
January 2016. In November 2015, we moved to our new office and research facility located at 6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California as discussed
below.

On December 30, 2013, we entered into a lease for this office and research facility located in Fremont, California, consisting of an existing building
with approximately 44,000 square feet of space. The building will be used by us primarily as a laboratory and production facility that can be used to produce
human embryonic stem cells and related products under current good manufacturing procedures (cGMP). We completed construction of certain tenant
improvements for our use, which cost approximately $4.9 million, of which a maximum of $4.4 million was paid to us by the landlord.

The lease is for a term of 96 months commencing on October 1, 2014, with two available five-year options to extend the term, upon one year written
notice from us. During the first 15 months of the lease term, from October 1, 2014 through December 31, 2015, we paid monthly base rent of $51,000
representing 22,000 square feet rather than 44,000 square feet. Beginning on January 1, 2016, base rent will increase to $105,000 per month and increase by
approximately 3% annually on every October 1 thereafter.

In addition to monthly base rent, we pay all real estate taxes, insurance and the cost of maintenance, repair and replacement of the leased premises.
During the first 15 months of the lease term, we will pay only 50% of the real estate taxes assessed on the premises provided that we are not in default in
performing its obligations under the lease beyond any notice and cure periods. However, if any improvements or alterations to the premises that we construct
or add are assessed for real property tax purposes at a valuation higher than the valuation of the improvements on the premises on the date it signed the lease,
we will pay 100% of the taxes levied on the excess assessed valuation.
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We also currently pays $3,300 per month for the use of approximately 120 square feet of the office space in New York City that is used to conduct
meetings and other business affairs. The lease originally for one year commencing July 1, 2014 was extended through June 30, 2016 and is expected
to terminate on this date.

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may be involved in routine litigation incidental to the conduct of our business. We are not presently involved in any material
litigation or proceedings, and to our knowledge no such litigation or proceedings are contemplated.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Our Series A Shares have been traded on the NYSE MKT under the symbol “AST” since October 7, 2014. From July 2014 through October 7, 2014
our Series A Shares traded on the OTC Bulletin Board under the ticker symbol “ASTYV.” The following table sets forth the range of high and low closing
prices for our Series A Shares during 2015 and the third and fourth quarters of 2014 as report by the NYSE MKT and the OTC BB.

Quarter Ended  High   Low  
September 30, 2014  $ 7.35  $ 2.07 
December 31, 2014  $ 6.25  $ 3.07 
March 31, 2015  $ 8.65  $ 3.30 
June 30, 2015  $ 14.77  $ 3.70 
September 30, 2015  $ 5.92  $ 3.48 
December 31, 2015  $ 5.45  $ 3.78 

Over-the-counter market quotations on the OTC Bulletin Board may reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission
and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.

As of March 23, 2016, we had 530 holders of record of our Series A Shares.

The following table shows certain information concerning the options outstanding and available for issuance under all of our compensation plans
and agreements as of December 31, 2015:

Plan Category  

Number of Shares
to

be Issued upon
Exercise of
Outstanding

Options, Warrants,
and Rights(1)   

Weighted Average
Exercise Price of
the Outstanding

Options, Warrants,
and Rights   

Number of Shares
Remaining Available
for Future Issuance

under Equity
Compensation Plans  

Asterias Equity Compensation Plan Approved by Shareholders (1)   5,178,411  $ 3.17   2,067,000 

(1) Includes 48,306 restricted stock units granted under the Asterias Equity Incentive Plan.

Additional information concerning our Equity Incentive Plan, the stock options and restricted stock units may be found in Note 7 to the Financial
Statements.

Dividend Policy

We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future, but intend to
retain our capital resources for reinvestment in our business. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of
Directors and will be dependent upon our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and other factors as our Board of Directors deems
relevant.
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Performance Measurement Comparison (1)

The following graph compares total stockholder returns of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. for the last six months beginning July 31, 2015 to two
indices: the NYSE Amex Market Value – U.S. Companies (Amex Market Value) and the NYSE Arca Biotechnology Index (NYSE Arca Biotechnology Index).
The total return for our stock and for each index assumes the reinvestment of dividends, although we have never declared dividends on Asterias
Biotherapeutics, Inc., and is based on the returns of the component companies weighted according to their capitalizations as of the end of each quarterly
period. The NYSE Amex Market Value tracks the aggregate price performance of equity securities of U.S. companies listed therein. The NYSE Arca
Biotechnology Index represents biotechnology companies, trading on NYSE MKT under the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) Code Nos. 283 (Drugs)
and 382 (Laboratory Apparatus and Analytical, Optical) main categories (2834: Pharmaceutical Preparations; 2835: Diagnostic Substances; 2836: Biological
Products; 3826: Laboratory Analytical Instruments; and 3829: Measuring & Controlling Devices). Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. common stock trades on the
NYSE MKT and is a component of the NYSE Amex Market Value – US Companies.

Comparison of 18 Month Cumulative Quarterly Total Return on Investment

   7/18/2014   9/30/2014   12/31/2014   3/31/2015   6/30/2015   9/30/2015   12/31/2015  
                       
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. Return %      69.75   -16.92   69.35   -59.00   -18.35   -18.13 

Cum $   100.00   168.33   90.00   187.22   127.78   107.50   109.17 
                              
AMEX Market Value (US

Companies) Return %       -5.27   2.68   -0.38   -5.79   -8.13   -7.67 
 Cum $   100.00   97.37   90.99   94.53   88.08   74.46   70.76 

                              
NYSE Arca Biotechnology

Index Return %       -1.22   0.12   2.76   0.74   -9.84   0.66 
 Cum $   100.00   113.60   126.42   146.72   154.09   126.21   140.82 

Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc., the Amex Market Value and Amex Biotechnology Index(2)
 

(1) This Section is not “soliciting material,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference in any filing of BioTime
under the Securities Act of 1933, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof and irrespective of any
general incorporation language in any such filing.
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(2) Shows the cumulative total return on investment assuming an investment of $100 in each of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc., the Amex Market
Value and NYSE Arca Biotechnology Index on July 18, 2014. The cumulative total return on Asterias stock has been computed based on a price
of $3.60 per share, the price at which Asterias’ shares closed on July 18, 2014.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data (in thousands, except per share data)

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
          
REVENUES:          

Royalties from product sales  $ 535  $ 189  $ - 
Sale of cell lines   40   -   - 
Grant income   3,007   1,035   - 
Total revenues   3,582   1,224   - 

             
Cost of sales   (268)   (95)   - 

             
Gross profit   3,314   1,129   - 

             
OPERATING EXPENSE:             

Research and development   (17,321)   (13,310)   (4,319)
Acquired in-process research and development(1)   -   -   (17,459)
General and administrative   (7,901)   (5,280)   (3,883)
Total operating expenses   (25,222)   (18,590)   (25,661)
Loss from operations   (21,908)   (17,461)   (25,661)

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE):             
Interest expense, net   (341)   (10)   (2)
Other income (expense), net   (6)   (2)   2 
Total other expense, net   (347)   (12)   - 

             
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX BENEFIT   (22,255)   (17,473)   (25,661)

             
Deferred income tax benefit   7,252   7,376   3,281 

             
NET LOSS  $ (15,003)  $ (10,097)  $ (22,380)

             
BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE  $ (0.42)  $ (0.33)  $ (2.90)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING: BASIC AND DILUTED   35,443   30,720   7,726 

(1) Represents the value of incomplete research and development projects acquired from Geron which Asterias intends to continue.

  
December 31,

2015   
December 31,

2014  
       
Balance Sheet Data:       
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 11,183  $ 3,076 
Total assets   66,978   44,114 
Total liabilities   21,879   11,483 
Accumulated deficit   (48,239)   (33,236)
Total stockholders' equity   45,099   32,631 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to provide information
necessary to understand Asterias’ audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, and highlight certain other
information which, in the opinion of management, will enhance a reader's understanding of Asterias’ financial condition, changes in financial condition
and results of operations. In particular, the discussion is intended to provide an analysis of significant trends and material changes in our financial
position and the operating results of our business during the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to 2014. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with our financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2015 and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. These historical financial statements may not be indicative of Asterias’ future performance. This Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations contains a number of forward-looking statements, all of which are based on our current expectations and could be
affected by the uncertainties and risks described throughout this filing, particularly in "Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue recognition – We comply with ASC 605-10 and record revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred
or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Grant income is recognized as revenue when
earned. Royalty revenues consist of royalty payments on sales of products under license agreements. We recognize revenue in the quarter in which the
royalty reports are received rather than the quarter in which the sales took place. When we are entitled to receive up-front nonrefundable licensing or similar
fees pursuant to agreements under which we have no continuing performance obligations, the fees are recognized as revenues when collection is reasonably
assured. When we receive up-front nonrefundable licensing or similar fees pursuant to agreements under which we do have continuing performance
obligations, the fees are deferred and amortized ratably over the performance period. If the performance period cannot be reasonably estimated, we amortize
nonrefundable fees over the life of the contract until such time that the performance period can be more reasonably estimated. Milestone payments, if any,
related to scientific or technical achievements are recognized in income when the milestone is accomplished if (a) substantive effort was required to achieve
the milestone, (b) the amount of the milestone payment appears reasonably commensurate with the effort expended, and (c) collection of the payment is
reasonably assured.

Patent costs – Costs associated with obtaining patents on products or technology developed are expensed as general and administrative expenses
when incurred.

Available for sale securities, at fair value – Marketable equity securities and debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as
available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities, including the OncoCyte common stock we hold (see Note 2 to our financial statements included elsewhere in
this report), are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses, and
declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary related to equity securities, are included in other income and expense, net.

Property, plant and equipment – Property, plant and equipment includes equipment, fixtures and leasehold improvements stated at cost and
depreciated using the straight-line method over a period of 36 to 120 months.

Intangible assets – Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over estimated useful lives and intangible assets with indefinite lives are
not amortized but rather are tested at least annually for impairment. Acquired in-process research and development intangible assets are accounted depending
on whether they were acquired as part of an acquisition of a business, or assets that do not constitute a business. When acquired in conjunction with the
acquisition of a business, these assets are considered to be indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and development
efforts and are capitalized as an asset. If and when development is complete, the associated assets would be deemed finite-lived and would then be amortized
based on their respective estimated useful lives at that point in time. However, when acquired in conjunction with an acquisition of assets that do not
constitute a business (such as our acquisition of assets from Geron), in accordance with the accounting rules in ASC 805-50, such intangible assets related to
in process research and development (“IPR&D”) are expensed upon acquisition.
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Impairment of long-lived assets – Our long-lived assets, including tangible assets, will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If an impairment indicator is present, we will evaluate recoverability
by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If the assets are impaired,
the impairment will be recognized and measured by the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the assets.

Warrants to purchase common stock – We generally account for warrants issued in connection with equity financings as a component of equity.
None of the warrants issued by us as of December 31, 2015 include a conditional obligation to issue a variable number of shares; nor was there a deemed
possibility that we may need to settle the warrants in cash. If we were to issue warrants with a conditional obligation to issue a variable number of shares or
with the deemed possibility of a cash settlement, we would record the fair value of the warrants as a liability at each balance sheet date and records changes in
fair value in other income and expense in our statements of operations.

Accounting for BioTime Shares – We account for the BioTime shares we hold as available-for-sale equity securities in accordance with ASC 320-10-
25, Investments-Debt and Equity Securities, as the shares have a readily determinable fair value quoted on the NYSE MKT and are held principally for future
working capital purposes, as necessary. These shares are measured at fair value and reported as current assets on the balance sheet based on the closing
trading price of the security as of the date being presented. Unrealized holding gains and losses are excluded from the statements of operations and reported
in equity as part of other comprehensive income or loss until realized. Realized gains and losses are reclassified out of other comprehensive income or loss
and included in equity, as an increase or decrease in additional paid-in capital consistent with, and pursuant to, ASC 805-50, transactions between entities
under common control.

Research and development – Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for company-sponsored, collaborative and contracted
research and development activities. These costs include direct and research-related overhead expenses including salaries, payroll taxes, consulting fees,
research and laboratory fees, rent of research facilities, amortization of intangible assets, and license fees paid to third parties to acquire patents or licenses to
use patents and other technology. Asterias expenses research and development costs as such costs are incurred. Research and development expenses incurred
and reimbursed under grants approximate the grant income recognized in the statements of operations.

Income taxes – Beginning October 1, 2013, we began filing our own separate U.S. federal tax return. For California purposes our activity will
continue to be included in BioTime’s California combined tax return. Our operations through September 30, 2013 were included in BioTime’s consolidated
U.S. federal income tax return. For California, our activity beginning with the 2013 calendar year has been included in BioTime’s combined tax return. The
provision for income taxes was previously determined as if we had filed separate tax returns for the periods presented. Accordingly, the effective tax rate for
us in periods subsequent to December 31, 2013 could vary from its historical effective tax rates depending on our future legal structure and related tax
elections. We account for income taxes in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, which prescribe the use of the
asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates in
effect. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. The guidance also prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not
sustainable upon examination by taxing authorities. Generally, we are subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities for all years since
inception. We will recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were accrued for the
payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. Management is currently unaware of any tax issues under review.
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Stock-based compensation – We adopted accounting standards governing share-based payments, which require the measurement and recognition of
compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to directors and employees, including employee stock options, based on estimated fair
values. Consistent with those guidelines, we utilize the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. Our determination of fair value of share-based payment
awards on the date of grant using that option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as by assumptions regarding a number of highly complex
and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, our expected stock price volatility over the term of the awards, and actual and
projected employee stock option exercise behaviors. Because our common stock has only 18 months of trading history as of December 31, 2015, for the years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we estimated the expected volatility of the awards from the historical volatility of selected public companies within the
biotechnology industry with comparable characteristics to us, including similarity in size, lines of business, market capitalization, revenue and financial
leverage. We determined the expected volatility assumption using the frequency of daily historical prices of comparable public company’s common stock for
a period equal to the expected term of the options. The expected term of options granted is based upon the “simplified method” provided under Staff
Accounting Bulletin, Topic 14, or SAB Topic 14. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect during the corresponding period of grant.
Although the fair value of employee stock options is determined in accordance with FASB guidance, the key inputs and assumptions may change as we
develop our own company estimates, experience and key inputs including our expected term and stock price volatility based on the trading history of our
stock on the NYSE:MKT. Changes in these subjective assumptions can materially affect the estimated value of equity grants and the stock-based
compensation that we record in our financial statements.
 

Asterias also, at times, issues restricted stock or restricted stock units (RSUs) to its executive officers, employees, and members of its Board of
Directors (the Board), which are restricted and unvested common shares issued at fair market value on the date of grant. Restricted stock and restricted stock
unit compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of generally four years, based on the grant-date fair value of
the stock. Restricted stock is considered legally issued and outstanding on the grant date.  Once the RSUs are vested, equivalent common shares will be
issued or issuable to the grantee and therefore the RSUs are not included in total common shares issued and outstanding until vested.

Compensation expense for non-employee stock-based awards is recognized in accordance with ASC 718 and FASB ASC 505-50, Equity-Based
Payments to Non-Employees (“ASC 505-50”). Stock option awards issued to non-employees, principally consultants and employees of BioTime or
employees of BioTime subsidiaries who perform services for Asterias, are accounted for at fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Management believes that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably measured than the fair value of services received. Asterias records compensation
expense based on the then-current fair values of the stock options at each financial reporting date. Compensation recorded during the service period is
adjusted in subsequent periods for changes in the fair value of the stock options until the earlier of the date at which the non-employee’s performance is
complete or a performance commitment is reached, which is generally when the stock option award vests. Compensation expense for non-employee grants is
recorded on a straight-line basis in the statements of operations.
 

Fair value of financial instruments – ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based
measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

ASC 820 requires that the valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. ASC 820 establishes a three tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes inputs that may be used to measure fair value as follows:

· Level 1 – Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active market

· Level 2 – Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not
active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

· Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The carrying amounts of current assets and current liabilities approximate their fair value because of the relatively short period until they mature or
are required to be settled, except for the investment in BioTime and OncoCyte shares, which are carried at fair value based on Level 1 inputs.

Results of Operations

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 we recorded net losses of $15.0 million and $10.1 million, respectively.

Revenues

The following table shows certain information about our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands, except for
percentages):

  

Year Ended
December 31,   

$
Increase/   

%
Increase/  

  2015   2014   Decrease   Decrease  
Royalties from product sales  $ 535  $ 189  $ + 346   + 183%
Sale of cell lines   40   -   + 40   + 100%
Grant income   3,007   1,035   + 1,972   + 191%
Total revenues   3,582   1,224   + 2,358   + 193%
Cost of sales   (268)   (95)   + 173   + 185%
Total gross profit  $ 3,314  $ 1,129  $ + 2,185   + 194%
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Our royalty revenues from product sales is entirely from non-exclusive license agreements with Stem Cell Technologies, Inc., Corning Life Science,
Life Tech, and Millipore which we assumed as part of consideration received from Geron under the Asset Contribution Agreement.

Grant income in 2015 is entirely from CIRM which awarded us a $14.3 million grant for clinical development of AST-OPC1. We received our first
payment from CIRM in the amount of $917,000 during October 2014. We received the next four payments totaling $5.6 million in 2015. We received our
sixth payment of $1.2 million during January 2016. Under our Amendment 2 to the Notice of Grant Award, effective March 2, 2016, the remaining $6.5
million will be dispersed to us upon our achievement of certain clinical milestones.

Expenses

The following table shows our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (in thousands, except for percentages):

 
Year Ended

December 31,  
$

Increase/  
%

Increase/  
 2015  2014  Decrease  Decrease  

Research and development expenses  $ 17,321  $ 13,310  $ + 4,011   + 30%
General and administrative expenses   7,901   5,280   + 2,621   + 50%

Research and development expenses – Research and development expenses increased by approximately $4 million to $17.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to $13.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increases in research and development expenses, during
2015 are primarily attributed to an increase of $1.5 million in clinical trial expenses, an increase of $1.6 million in salaries and related benefits, an increase of
$1.1 million stock based compensation, an increase of $554,000 outside services, an increase of $260,000 in legal expense, an increase of $213,000 in
consulting expense, and increase of $200,000 in utilities, an increase of $177,000 in recruiting expense, an increase of $143,000 in travel related expenses,
an increase of $96,000 in building maintenance and repairs, an increase of $73,000 in lab supplies, and an increase of $35,000 in allocation related expenses.
The increases are offset by a decrease of $2.1 million in amortization of intangible assets.

General and administrative expenses – General and administrative expenses increased by approximately $2.6 million to $7.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2015 compared to $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. The increase in general and administrative expenses is primarily
comprised of the following increases in expenses incurred: $1.0 million in stock based compensation related to general consulting, $501,000 in legal
expense, $415,000 in consulting expense, $276,000 in audit and tax related services, $272,000 in investor and public relations, $267,000 in stock based
compensation for outside directors, $209,000 in recruiting fees, $101,000 in travel related expenses, and $91,000 in professional development. Those
increases were in part offset by a decrease of $566,000 in stock based compensation for employees and a decrease of $255,000 in salaries related expense
which was mostly due to a decrease in severance pay.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 we recorded net losses of $10.1 million and $22.4 million, respectively.
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Revenues

The following table shows certain information about our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands, except for
percentages).

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
$

Increase/  
%

Increase/  
  2014  2013  Decrease  Decrease  

Royalties from product sales  $ 189  $ -  $ + 189   + 100%  
Grant income   1,035   -   + 1,035   + 100%  
Total revenues   1,224   -   + 1,224   + 100%  
Cost of sales   (95)   -   + 95   + 100%  
Total gross profit  $ 1,129  $ -  $ + 1,129   + 100%  

Our royalty revenues from product sales is entirely from non-exclusive license agreements with Stem Cell Technologies, Inc., Corning Life Science,
Life Tech, and Millipore which Asterias assumed as part of consideration received from Geron under the Asset Contribution Agreement.

Grant revenue in 2014 is entirely from CIRM which awarded us a $14.3 million grant for clinical development of AST-OPC1. CIRM will disburse
the grant funds to us over four years in accordance with a quarterly disbursement schedule, subject to our attainment of certain progress and safety milestones.
We received the first payment from CIRM in the amount of $917,000 during October 2014.The next four payments totaling $5.6 million were received in
2015. The sixth payment of $1.2 million was received during January 2016.
Expenses

The following table shows our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands, except for percentages).

  
Year Ended

December 31,  
$

Increase/  
%

Increase/  
  2014  2013  Decrease  Decrease  

Research and development expenses  $ 13,310  $ 4,319  $ +8,991   +208%  
Acquired in-process research and development expenses   -   17,459   -17,459   -100%  
General and administrative expenses   5,280   3,883   + 1,397   +36%  

Research and development expenses – Research and development expenses increased by approximately $9.0 million to $13.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. In addition, during 2013 we recognized $17.5 million of IPR&D
in connection with the consummation of our acquisition of assets from Geron. The increases in research and development expenses, excluding IPR&D, during
2014 were primarily attributed to an increase of $4.1 million of amortization of intangible assets acquired under Asset Contribution Agreement on October 1,
2013, and increases in expenses reflecting the ramp up of our AST-OPC1 and AST-VAC2 programs: $2.4 million of salaries, payroll related expenses and
employee stock-based compensation allocated to research and development expenses, $546,000 of license and patent related expenses, $377,000 of rent and
facilities maintenance related expenses allocated to research and development expenses due to a new lease in Fremont which commenced on October 1,
2014, $362,000 of laboratory expense and supplies expenses, $328,000 of outside research and services allocated to research and development expenses,
$277,000 of depreciation expenses allocated to research and development expenses, $252,183 of clinical trial related expenses, $166,000 of contract
manufacturing related expenses allocated to research and development expenses, $84,000 of insurance expense allocated to research and development
expenses, and $54,000 of travel, lodging and meals allocated to research and development expenses.

 
Research and development expenses during 2013 included $17.5 million of IPR&D expense related to the assets we acquired in 2013 under the

Asset Contribution Agreement. Other research and development expenses incurred during 2014 and 2013 included laboratory study expenses, patent and
technology license fees, employee compensation, rent, insurance, and science-related consultants’ fees and amortization allocated to research and
development expenses.
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General and administrative expenses – General and administrative expenses increased by approximately $1.4 million to $5.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2014 compared to $3.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in general and administrative expenses was
primarily comprised of the following increases in expenses incurred:  $1.2 million of salaries, payroll related expenses and employee stock-based
compensation allocated to general and administrative expenses, $196,000 of investor and public relations expenses, $184,000 in state corporation and
franchise taxes, $115,000 of accounting, audit, and tax services, $98,000 of rent and facilities maintenance related expenses allocated to general and
administrative expenses, $69,000 of overhead allocated from BioTime generally for accounting and corporate secretarial related services and general liability
insurance allocated to general and administrative expenses, and $46,000 of cash compensation to directors. Those increases were in part offset by a decrease
of $419,000 in legal expenses reflecting non-recurring expenses that we incurred in 2013 related to the Asset Contribution Agreement transactions, including
preparing registration statements for filing with the SEC and a decrease of $102,000 in general office and computer supplies expenses.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2015, we had $11.2 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand, held 3,852,880 BioTime common shares and 192,644 shares of
OncoCyte common stock, with a market value of $15.8 million and $1.2 million, respectively. We may raise capital from time to time through the sale of our
Series A Shares or other securities, and our BioTime common shares. We may sell our Series A Shares or other securities in public offerings registered under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or in private placements to select investors. We may sell our BioTime common shares, from
time to time, by any method that is deemed to be an “at-the-market” equity offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act, including
sales made directly on or through the NYSE MKT or any other existing trading market for the common shares in the U.S. or to or through a market maker, at
prices related to the prevailing market price, or through block trades in which the broker-dealer will attempt to sell the shares as agent but may position and
resell a portion of the block as principal to facilitate the transaction, or through one more of the foregoing transactions. We may sell the BioTime common
shares through Cantor Fitzgerald & Co. or such other broker-dealer as BioTime may designate. We may also sell some or all of our BioTime common shares
and OncoCyte common shares by any other method permitted by law, including in privately negotiated transactions. We will bear all broker-dealer
commissions payable in connection with the sale of our Series A Shares or other securities and our BioTime common shares. Broker-dealers may receive
commissions or discounts from us (or, if any broker-dealer acts as agent for the purchaser of shares, from the purchaser) in amounts to be negotiated. The
prices at which we may issue and sell our Series A Shares or other securities and our BioTime common shares in the future are not presently determinable and
will depend upon many factors, including prevailing prices for those securities in the public market.

As of March 23, 2016, we have outstanding warrants to purchase 350,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $5.00 per share that will
expire on September 30, 2016. We will receive $1.8 million if all of the warrants are exercised. There can be no assurance that the warrants will be exercised.
In addition, as previously announced, we intend to distribute warrants to our shareholders (except for BioTime) on a pro-rata basis, and therefore to the extent
such warrants are exercised, we will receive proceeds from the exercise of such warrants.

We plan to use the cash we have available to develop certain of our product candidates and technology, to acquire new stem cell products and
technology through licenses or similar agreements from other companies, and to defray overhead expenses and to pay general and administrative expenses.
We may also use available funds for any clinical trials of products that we may conduct. We expect to continue to incur operating losses and negative cash
flows. BioTime contributed to the funding of our business activities from inception through December 31, 2015 but there can be no assurance they will
continue to do so in the future.

We have been awarded a $14.3 million Strategic Partnership III grant by CIRM to help fund our clinical development of AST-OPC1. The
grant provides funding for us to reinitiate clinical development of AST-OPC1 in subjects with spinal cord injury, to expand clinical testing of escalating
doses in the target population intended for future pivotal trials, and for product development efforts to refine and scale manufacturing methods to support
eventual commercialization. CIRM has and will continue to disburse the grant funds to us over four years in accordance with a quarterly disbursement
schedule, subject to our attainment of certain progress and safety milestones. We received the first payment from CIRM in the amount of $917,000 during
October 2014. The next four payments totaling $5.6 million were received in 2015. The sixth payment of $1.2 million was received during January 2016. As
the distributions of the CIRM grant are subject to meeting certain progress and go/no-go milestones, there can be no assurance that we will receive the entire
amount granted.
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Pursuant to the CRUK Agreement, CRUK has agreed to fund Phase 1/2 clinical development of our AST-VAC2 product candidate. We will, at our
own cost, complete process development and manufacturing scale-up of the AST-VAC2 manufacturing process and will transfer the resulting cGMP-
compatible process to CRUK. CRUK will, at its own cost, manufacture clinical grade AST-VAC2 and will carry out the Phase 1/2 clinical trial of AST-VAC2
in cancer patients both resected early-stage and advanced forms of lung cancer.

Since inception, we have incurred net losses and has funded its operations primarily through the support from BioTime, issuance of equity securities,
payments from research grants, and royalties from product sales. At December 31, 2015, we had an accumulated deficit of $48.2 million, working capital of
$19.5 million and stockholders’ equity of $45.1 million. We have evaluated our projected cash flows and believe that our cash and cash equivalents of $11.2
million as of December 31, 2015, and our available for sale securities of $17.0 million based on BioTime closing stock price of $4.10 as of December 31,
2015 will be sufficient to fund our operations at least through 2016. However, clinical trials being conducted by us will be funded in part with funds from the
$14.3 million grant awarded in 2014 by the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine (“CIRM”) and not from cash on hand. If we were to lose our grant
funding or if the value of our available for sale securities decreases,we may be required to delay, postpone, or cancel our clinical trials or limit the number of
clinical trial sites, or otherwise reduce or curtail our operations unless we are able to obtain from another source of adequate financing that could be used for
our clinical trials.

The unavailability or inadequacy of financing or revenues to meet future capital needs could force us to modify, curtail, delay, or suspend some or
all aspects of our planned operations. Sales of additional equity securities could result in the dilution of the interests of our current shareholders.

Cash Flows

Cash used in operations

Since our inception, we have incurred losses from operations and negative cash flows from our operations. During the year ended December 31,
2015, our total research and development expenditures were $17.3 million and our general and administrative expenditures were $7.9 million. Net loss for
the year ended December 31, 2015 amounted to $15.0 million. Our sources of cash during 2015 primarily consisted of $535,000 from royalty revenues on
product sales by licensees and a research grant payment of $5.6 million from CIRM. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had a working capital surplus of
$19.5 million and $11.9 million, respectively, and an accumulated deficit of $48.2 million and $33.2 million, respectively, based on our operating losses and
the expensed IPR&D.

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2015 amounted to $12.4 million. The difference between the net loss and
net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily attributable to increases in stock-based compensation paid to
employees of $3.6 million, amortization of intangible assets of $2.7 million, deferred grant income of $2.5 million, accrued expenses of $584,000,
depreciation expense of $564,000, shares issued to a vendor for services of $486,000, amortization of prepaid rent with BioTime stock of $85,000, and
deferred rent liabilities of $85,000. The difference was offset by our deferred income tax benefit of $7.2 million, decreases in prepaid expenses and other
current assets of $680,000, long term assets of $95,000, $85,000 of our expenses paid by BioTime which is reflected in “amount due to BioTime” on our
December 31, 2015 Statements of Cash flows, and $24,000 in accounts payable.

Investing and financing activities

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we used $4.3 million in cash to pay for construction in progress for our Fremont facility and $313,000 to
purchase equipment.

In May 2015, we received $11.7 million from the exercise of 5,000,000 warrants to purchase our common stock which were issued to Broadwood
Partners, L.P and a trust previously established by George Karfunkel as part of their purchase of BioTime shares from us in June 2014.
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In February 2015, we raised approximately $5.5 million in aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of 1,410,255 shares of our common stock at a price
of $3.90 per share through an underwritten public offering and a private placement. Broadwood Partners, L.P., British & American Investment Trust PLC and
Pedro Lichtinger purchased an aggregate of 1,025,640 of the shares. Broadwood Partners, L.P. is BioTime’s largest shareholder and one of its directors, Neal
C. Bradsher, is President, and one of BioTime’s directors, Richard T. LeBuhn, is Senior Vice President, of Broadwood Capital, Inc., the investment manager of
Broadwood Partners, L.P. Pedro Lichtinger was our former President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors. British & American
Investment Trust PLC is an affiliate of a stockholder of us and BioTime.

During May, June, November, and December of 2015, we raised approximately $4.8 million in gross proceeds from the sale of 685,465 shares of our
common stock at a weighted average price of $7.01 per share in “at-the-market” transactions.

During year ended December 31, 2015, we incurred financing costs of $665,000, received $29,000 in cash from the exercise of our stock options by
two employees at an exercise price of $2.34 per share. We also received $3.8 million from our landlord on reimbursable construction in progress.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2015 our contractual obligations for the next five years and thereafter were as follows (in thousands):

  Principal Payments Due by Period  
 

Contractual Obligations (1)  Total   
Less Than

1 Year   1-3 Years   4-5 Years   
After

5 Years  
Operating leases (2)  $ 9,405   1,328   2,656   2,817   2,604 
Capital lease (3)  $ 39   8   16   15   - 

(1) This table does not include payments to key employees that could arise if they were involuntary terminated or if their employment terminated
following a change in control.

 
(2) Includes the lease of our principal office and laboratory facilities in Fremont, California, in Menlo Park, California, and our New York office.

 
(3) Includes one capital lease for phone equipment.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of SEC Regulation S-K.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are not presently exposed in a significant degree to foreign exchange currency risks because we are not otherwise conducting international
business at this time, and we do not engage in foreign currency hedging activities. If we engage in international transactions, we will need to translate foreign
currencies into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes, and currency fluctuations could have a greater impact on our financial results.

Credit Risk

We place some of our cash in U.S. banks and invest most of our cash in money market funds. Deposits with banks may temporarily exceed the
amount of insurance provided on such deposits. We will monitor the cash balances in the accounts and adjust the cash balances as appropriate, but if the
amount of a deposit at any time exceeds the federally insured amount at a bank, the uninsured portion of the deposit could be lost, in whole or in part, if the
bank were to fail. Our investments in money market funds are not insured or guaranteed by the United States government or any of its agencies.
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Interest Rate Risk

We invest most of our cash in money market funds. The primary objective of our investments will be to preserve principal and liquidity while
earning a return on our invested capital, without incurring significant risks. Our future investment income is not guaranteed and may fall short of
expectations due to changes in prevailing interest rates, or we may suffer losses in principal if the net asset value of a money market fund falls below $1 per
share.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal
Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the “COSO criteria”). Asterias
Biotherapeutics, Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control
over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the balance sheets of Asterias
Biotherapeutics, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows
for the years then ended and our report dated March 29, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ OUM & CO. LLP

San Francisco, California
March 29, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 29, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ OUM & CO. LLP

San Francisco, California
March 29, 2016
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (the
“Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. Our audit of the
financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audit provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the results of their operations
and their cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
 
/s/ Rothstein Kass

New York, New York
March 17, 2014
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
BALANCE SHEET

(IN THOUSANDS EXCEPT PAR VALUE AMOUNTS)

  
December 31,

2015   
December 31,

2014  
ASSETS       
CURRENT ASSETS       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 11,183  $ 3,076 
Available-for-sale securities, at fair value   17,006   14,374 
Grant receivable   -   118 
Landlord receivable   567   378 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   1,033   438 

Total current assets   29,789   18,384 
         
NONCURRENT ASSETS         

Intangible assets, net   20,816   23,502 
Property, plant and equipment, net   5,756   1,045 
Construction in progress   -   406 
Investment in affiliates   416   416 
Deferred tax asset   9,744   - 
Other assets   457   361 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 66,978  $ 44,114 
         
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY         
CURRENT LIABILITIES         

Amount due to parent, BioTime, Inc.  $ 530  $ 615 
Accounts payable   747   737 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   1,183   430 
Capital lease liability   7   - 
Deferred rent liability   -   2 
Deferred grant income   2,513   - 
Deferred tax liabilities, current portion   5,274   4,713 

Total current liabilities   10,254   6,497 
         
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES         

Capital lease liability   26   - 
Deferred tax liabilities, net of current portion   7,020   4,514 
Deferred rent liability, net of current portion   179   94 
Lease liability   4,400   378 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   21,879   11,483 
         
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 8)         
         
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         

Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value, authorized 5,000,000 shares; none issued and outstanding   -   - 
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, authorized 75,000 Series A Common Stock and 75,000 Series B Common Stock;

38,228 and 30,902 shares Series A Common Stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively; no Series B Common Stock issued and outstanding at December 31, 2015 and 2014   4   3 

Additional paid-in capital   92,900   66,367 
Accumulated other comprehensive gain (loss) on available-for-sale investments   434   (503)
Accumulated deficit   (48,239)   (33,236)

Total stockholders’ equity   45,099   32,631 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  $ 66,978  $ 44,114 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
 

55



Table of Contents

ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
          

REVENUES:          
Royalties from product sales  $ 535  $ 189  $ - 
Sale of cell lines   40   -     
Grant income   3,007   1,035   - 
Total revenues   3,582   1,224   - 

             
Cost of sales   (268)   (95)   - 

             
Gross profit   3,314   1,129   - 

             
OPERATING EXPENSE:             

Research and development   (17,321)   (13,310)   (4,319)
Acquired in-process research and development   -   -   (17,459)
General and administrative   (7,901)   (5,280)   (3,883)
Total operating expenses   (25,222)   (18,590)   (25,661)
Loss from operations   (21,908)   (17,461)   (25,661)

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE):             
Interest expense, net   (341)   (10)   (2)
Other income (expense), net   (6)   (2)   2 
Total other expenses, net   (347)   (12)   - 

             
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX BENEFIT   (22,255)   (17,473)   (25,661)

             
Deferred income tax benefit   7,252   7,376   3,281 

             
NET LOSS  $ (15,003)  $ (10,097)  $ (22,380)

             
BASIC AND DILUTED NET LOSS PER SHARE  $ (0.42)  $ (0.33)  $ (2.90)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING: BASIC AND DILUTED   35,443   30,720   7,726 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
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ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(IN THOUSANDS)

  Years ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
NET LOSS  $ (15,003)  $ (10,097)  $ (22,380)

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax:             
Unrealized gain/(loss) on available for sale securities, net of taxes   937   2,432   (2,935)

COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  $ (14,066)  $ (7,665)  $ (25,315)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements
 

57



Table of Contents

ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(IN THOUSANDS)
 

  Common Stock   Additional   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   
 
      

  Series A   Series B   Paid-In   Income   Accumulated   Subscription   Stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Capital   (Loss)   Deficit   Receivable   Equity  

Balance as of January 1, 2013   —  $ —   52  $ -  $ 52  $ —  $ (759)  $ (50)  $ (757)
Common stock, at $2.40 per

share, issued to Geron in
connection with acquisition
of various assets on October
1, 2013, net of issuance
costs of $541,800   6,538   1   —   —   15,120   —   —   —   15,121 

Common stock, at $2.40 per
share, and common stock
warrants issued to BioTime
in connection with transfer
of various assets on October
1, 2013   —   —   21,773   2   58,975   —   —   —   58,977 

Common stock, at $2.40 per
share, and common stock
warrants issued to an
investor for cash   —   —   2,136   -   5,000   —   —   —   5,000 

Reduction of subscription
receivable   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   50   50 

Unrealized loss on available-
for-sale securities, net of
taxes   —   —   —   —   —   (2,935)   —   —   (2,935)

Stock-based compensation
expense   —   —   —   —   704   —   —   —   704 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   (22,380)   —   (22,380)
Balance as of December 31,

2013   6,538   1   23,961   2   79,851   (2,935)   (23,139)   —   53,780 
Common stock issued to

officer at $2.34 per share   —   —   200   -   468   —   —   —   468 
Sale of BioTime shares   —   —   —   —   (10,366)   —   —   —   (10,366)
Stock-based compensation

expense   —   —   —   —   1,580   —   —   —   1,580 
Restricted stock granted for

compensation at $2.34 per
share   —   —   200   -   234   —   —   —   234 

Warrants issued to outside
investors as part of the sale
of 5,000,000 BioTime
shares   —   —   —   —   3,184   —   —   —   3,184 

Series B converted to Series A
on October 1, 2014   24,361   2   (24,361)   (2)       —   —   —   — 

Exercise of options   3   —   —   —   8   —   —   —   8 
Deferred tax liability

adjustment on BioTime
shares   —   —   —   —   (8,592)   —   —   —   (8,592)

Unrealized gain on available-
for-sale securities, net of
taxes   —   —   —   —   —   2,432   —   —   2,432 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   (10,097)   —   (10,097)
Balance as of December 31,

2014   30,902   3   —   —   66,367   (503)   (33,236)   —   32,631 
Stock-based compensation   145   —   —   —   3,625   —   —   —   3,625 
Shares retired to pay

employee taxes   (24)   —   —   —   (98)   —   —   —   (98)
Unrealized gain on available-

for-sale securities, net of
deferred tax liability of
$488.   —   —   —   —   —   937   —   —   937 

Sale of common stock under
at-the- market transactions   686   —   —   —   4,839       —   —   4,839 

Financing costs to issue
common stock   —   —   —   —   (665)   —   —   —   (665)

Exercise of warrants   5,000   1   —   —   11,700   —   —   —   11,701 



Common stock issued in
Private Placement   1,026   —   —   —   4,000   —   —   —   4,000 

Common stock issued in
public offering   385   —   —   —   1,500   —   —   —   1,500 

Exercise of stock options   12   —   —   —   29   —   —   —   29 
OncoCyte common stock

received as a dividend in
kind from BioTime, net of
taxes   —   —   —   —   1,117   —   —   —   1,117 

Common stock issued for
services   96   —   —   —   486   —   —   —   486 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   —   (15,003)   —   (15,003)
                                     
Balance as of December 31,

2015   38,228  $ 4   —  $ —  $ 92,900  $ 434  $ (48,239)  $ —  $ 45,099 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(IN THOUSANDS)

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:          
Net loss  $ (15,003)  $ (10,097)  $ (22,380)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:             
Acquired in-process research and development   -   -   17,459 
Depreciation expense   564   530   221 
Stock-based compensation   3,625   1,814   704 
Common stock issued to a supplier for services   486   -   - 
Amortization of intangible assets   2,686   4,789   725 
Amortization of prepaid rent   85   85   85 
Gain on sale of equipment, net   -   -   (2)
Deferred income tax benefit   (7,252)   (7,376)   (3,281)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             

Grant receivable   118   (118)   - 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (680)   (182)   (423)
Other long term assets   (95)   -   - 
Accounts payable   (24)   120   567 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   584   199   96 
Deferred rent liability   85   94   - 
Deferred grant income   2,513   -   - 
Amount due to parent, BioTime   (85)   (1,449)   4,902 

Net cash used in operating activities   (12,393)   (11,591)   (1,327)
             
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:             

Purchase of equipment and furniture   (313)   (115)   (1,247)
Payments on construction in progress   (4,279)   (219)   - 
Proceeds from sale of equipment and furniture   -   -   28 
Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale investments   -   12,661   - 
Payment of security deposits   (1)   (307)   (55)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (4,593)   12,020   (1,274)
             
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:             

Proceeds from sales of common shares   10,339   468   - 
Proceeds from sales of common shares and warrants   -   -   5,000 
Proceeds from exercises of stock options   29   8   - 
Proceeds from exercise of warrants   11,700   -   - 
Payment of financing costs   (665)   -   - 
Repayment of capital lease obligation   (1)   -   - 
Reimbursement from landlord on construction in progress   3,789   -   - 
Shares retired to pay for employees’ taxes   (98)   -   - 
Payment to Geron in connection with acquisition of assets on October 1, 2013   -   -   (228)

Net cash provided by financing activities   25,093   476   4,772 
             
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   8,107   905   2,171 

At beginning of period   3,076   2,171   - 
At end of period  $ 11,183   3,076  $ 2,171 

             
SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:             
OncoCyte common stock received as a dividend in kind from BioTime, net of taxes  $ 1,117  $ -  $ - 
Purchase of equipment and furniture, contributed by BioTime  $ -  $ -  $ (459)
Construction in progress in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ -  $ 186  $ - 
Landlord receivable  $ (189)  $ (378)  $ - 
Lease liability  $ 189  $ 378  $ - 
Available-for-sale BioTime securities contributed by BioTime  $ -  $ -  $ 34,985 
Cancellation of indebtedness to BioTime  $ -  $ -  $ 5,000 
Transaction costs paid by BioTime, on behalf of Asterias  $ -  $ -  $ 300 
Intangible assets acquired from Geron  $ -  $ -  $ 29,017 
Adjustment to deferred tax liability arising from difference in book versus tax basis on Geron

intangible assets acquired  $ -  $ -  $ 11,558 
Investment in affiliates, contributed by BioTime  $ -  $ -  $ 416 
Common stock and common stock warrants issued to BioTime and Geron in connection with

acquisition and transfer of assets  $ -  $ -  $ 74,098 
Reduction of subscription receivable  $ -  $ -  $ (50)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization, Basis of Presentation and Liquidity

Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias”) was incorporated in Delaware on September 24, 2012. Asterias is a majority-owned and controlled
subsidiary of BioTime, Inc. (“BioTime”).

Asterias is a biotechnology company focused on the emerging fields of cell therapy and regenerative medicine. We have two core technology
platforms. The first is a type of stem cell capable of becoming all of the cell types in the human body, a property called pluripotency. The second is the use of
a cell type called “dendritic cells” to teach cancer patients’ immune systems to attack their tumors. We are focused on developing therapies to treat
conditions with high unmet medical need and inadequate available therapies, with an initial focus on the therapeutic areas of neurology and oncology

The financial statements presented herein, and discussed below, have been prepared on a stand-alone basis. The financial statements are presented in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”) and with the accounting and reporting requirements to Form 10-K and
Article 10 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).

BioTime has consolidated the results of Asterias into BioTime’s consolidated results based on BioTime’s ability to control Asterias’ operating and
financial decisions and policies through the ownership of Asterias common stock throughout the periods presented. BioTime owned 57.1% and 70.6% of the
outstanding Asterias common stock at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

BioTime allocates expenses such as salaries and payroll related expenses incurred and paid on behalf of Asterias based on the amount of time that
particular employees devote to Asterias affairs. Other expenses such as legal, accounting, travel, and entertainment expenses are allocated to Asterias to the
extent that those expenses are incurred by or on behalf of Asterias. BioTime also allocates certain overhead expenses such as insurance, internet, and
telephone expenses based on a percentage determined by management. These allocations are made based upon activity-based allocation drivers such as time
spent, percentage of square feet of office or laboratory space used, and percentage of personnel devoted to Asterias operations or management. Management
evaluates the appropriateness of the percentage allocations on a quarterly basis and believes that this basis for allocation is reasonable.

In connection with the services performed by employees of BioTime, or employees of other BioTime commonly controlled and consolidated
subsidiaries within the BioTime group of affiliated entities, Asterias grants stock options to those employees performing services for Asterias and records
stock-based compensation expense in the accompanying statements of operations for these services performed in the periods presented.

Liquidity – Since inception, Asterias has incurred operating losses and has funded its operations primarily through the support from BioTime,
issuance of equity securities, payments from research grants, and royalties from product sales. At December 31, 2015, Asterias had an accumulated deficit of
$48.2 million, working capital of $19.5 million and stockholders’ equity of $45.1 million. Asterias has evaluated its projected cash flows and believes that its
cash and cash equivalents of $11.2 million as of December 31, 2015, available for sale securities and potential financial support from BioTime, if needed,
will be sufficient to fund Asterias’ operations at least through 2016. However, clinical trials being conducted by Asterias will be funded in part with funds
from the $14.3 million grant awarded in 2014 by CIRM and not from cash on hand. If Asterias was to lose its grant funding it may be required to delay,
postpone, or cancel its clinical trials or limit the number of clinical trial sites, or otherwise reduce or curtail its operations unless it is able to obtain from
another source of adequate financing that could be used for its clinical trials. Such financing, if necessary, may not be available to Asterias at acceptable
terms, or if at all. Sales of additional equity securities would result in the dilution of interests of current shareholders.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue recognition – Asterias complies with ASC 605-10 and records revenue when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred or services have been rendered, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured. Grant income is recognized as revenue
when earned; the costs associated with these activities are reflected as a component of research and development expenses in the statements of operations and
the revenues recognized from such activities approximate these costs. Royalty revenues consist of royalty payments on sales of products under license
agreements. Asterias recognizes revenue in the quarter in which the royalty reports are received rather than the quarter in which the sales took place. When
Asterias is entitled to receive up-front nonrefundable licensing or similar fees pursuant to agreements under which Asterias has no continuing performance
obligations, the fees are recognized as revenues when collection is reasonably assured. When Asterias receives up-front nonrefundable licensing or similar
fees pursuant to agreements under which Asterias does have continuing performance obligations, the fees are deferred and amortized ratably over the
performance period. If the performance period cannot be reasonably estimated, Asterias amortizes nonrefundable fees over the life of the contract until such
time that the performance period can be more reasonably estimated. Milestone payments, if any, related to scientific or technical achievements are recognized
in income when the milestone is accomplished if (a) substantive effort was required to achieve the milestone, (b) the amount of the milestone payment
appears reasonably commensurate with the effort expended, and (c) collection of the payment is reasonably assured.

Use of estimates – The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period with consideration given to materiality. Significant estimates and assumptions used include
allowances for uncollectible accounts receivables, deferred income taxes, and tax reserves, including valuation allowances for deferred tax assets, evaluation
of asset impairment, the useful life of depreciable and definite-lived intangible assets, and the variables and assumptions used to calculate and record stock-
based compensation. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and cash equivalents – Asterias considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consist of money market funds of $11.2 million and $3.1 million at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014,
respectively.

Available-for-sale securities, at fair value – Marketable equity and debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity are classified as available-for-
sale. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other comprehensive income. Realized
gains and losses, and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary related to equity securities, are included in other income/(expense), net.

As further discussed in Note 4, on December 31, 2015, Asterias received shares of common stock in another subsidiary of BioTime, OncoCyte,
accounted for as an available-for-sale security, at fair value.

Property, plant and equipment – Property, plant and equipment includes equipment, fixtures and leasehold improvements stated at cost and
depreciated using the straight-line method over a period of their estimated useful lives ranging from 36 to 120 months.

Construction in progress – Construction in progress is stated at cost and is not depreciated until the underlying asset is placed into service (see Note
3).

Intangible assets – Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives, and intangible assets with indefinite lives are
not amortized but rather are tested at least annually for impairment. Acquired in-process research and development intangible assets are accounted for
depending on whether they were acquired as part of an acquisition of a business, or as assets that do not constitute a business. When acquired in conjunction
with the acquisition of a business, these assets are considered to be indefinite-lived until the completion or abandonment of the associated research and
development efforts and are capitalized as an asset. If and when development is complete, the associated assets would be deemed finite-lived and would then
be amortized based on their respective estimated useful lives at that point in time. However, when acquired in conjunction with the acquisition of assets that
do not constitute a business, such intangible assets related to in-process research and development are expensed upon acquisition.
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Impairment of long-lived assets – Asterias’ long-lived assets, including intangible assets, will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be fully recoverable. If an impairment indicator is present, Asterias will
evaluate recoverability by a comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets. If
the assets are impaired, the impairment will be recognized and measured by the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the
assets.

Warrants to purchase common stock – Asterias generally accounts for warrants issued in connection with equity financings as a component of
equity. None of the warrants issued by Asterias as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 include a conditional obligation to issue a variable number of shares; nor
was there a deemed possibility that Asterias may need to settle the warrants in cash.

Accounting for BioTime Shares – Asterias accounts for the BioTime shares of common stock it holds as available-for-sale equity securities in
accordance with ASC 320-10-25, Investments-Debt and Equity Securities, as the shares have a readily determinable fair value quoted on the NYSE MKT and
are held principally for future working capital purposes, as necessary. These shares are measured at fair value and reported as current assets on the balance
sheet based on the closing trading price of the security as of the date being presented. Unrealized holding gains and losses are excluded from the statements
of operations and reported in equity as part of other comprehensive income or loss until realized. Realized gains and losses are reclassified out of other
comprehensive income or loss and included in equity, as an increase or decrease in additional paid-in capital consistent with, and pursuant to, ASC 805-50,
transactions between entities under common control.

Patent costs – Costs associated with obtaining patents on products or technology developed are expensed as general and administrative expenses
when incurred.

Reclassification– Certain prior year amounts in the statement of cash flows have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Research and development – Research and development expenses consist of costs incurred for company-sponsored, collaborative and contracted
research and development activities. These costs include direct and research-related overhead expenses including salaries, payroll taxes, consulting fees,
research and laboratory fees, rent of research facilities, amortization of intangible assets, and license fees paid to third parties to acquire patents or licenses to
use patents and other technology. Asterias expenses research and development costs as such costs are incurred. Research and development expenses incurred
and reimbursed under grants approximate the grant income recognized in the statements of operations.

Income taxes – As of October 1, 2013, Asterias has filed its own U.S. federal tax returns. Operations prior to that period were included in BioTime’s
consolidated U.S. federal tax return. For California purposes Asterias’ activity will continue to be included in BioTime’s California combined tax return.
Asterias accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which prescribe the use of the asset and liability method, whereby deferred tax
asset or liability account balances are calculated at the balance sheet date using current tax laws and rates in effect. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The guidance
also prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position must be more-likely-than-not sustainable upon examination by taxing
authorities. Generally, Asterias is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities for all years since inception. Asterias will recognize accrued
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. No amounts were accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of
December 31, 2015, and 2014.
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Stock-based compensation – Asterias has adopted accounting standards governing share-based payments, which require the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to directors and employees, including employee stock options, based on
estimated fair values less estimated forfeitures. Consistent with those guidelines, Asterias utilizes the Black-Scholes Merton option pricing model. Asterias’
determination of fair value of share-based payment awards on the date of grant using that option-pricing model is affected by Asterias’ stock price as well as
by assumptions regarding a number of highly complex and subjective variables. These variables include, but are not limited to, Asterias’ expected stock price
volatility over the term of the awards; the expected term of options granted, derived from using the simplified method under SEC Staff  Accounting Bulletin
Topic 14; and a risk-free rate based on the U.S. Treasury rates in effect during the corresponding expected term of the grant.

Asterias also, at times, issues restricted stock or restricted stock units (RSUs) to its executive officers, employees, and members of its Board of
Directors (the Board), which are restricted and unvested common shares issued at fair market value on the date of grant. Restricted stock and restricted stock
unit compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of generally four years, based on the grant-date fair value of
the stock. Restricted stock is considered legally issued and outstanding on the grant date.  Once the RSUs are vested, equivalent common shares will be
issued or issuable to the grantee and therefore the RSUs are not included in total common shares issued and outstanding until vested.

Compensation expense for non-employee stock-based awards is recognized in accordance with ASC 718 and FASB ASC 505-50, Equity-Based
Payments to Non-Employees (“ASC 505-50”). Stock option awards issued to non-employees, principally consultants and employees of BioTime or
employees of BioTime subsidiaries who perform services for Asterias, are accounted for at fair value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Management believes that the fair value of the stock options is more reliably measured than the fair value of services received. Asterias records compensation
expense based on the then-current fair values of the stock options at each financial reporting date. Compensation recorded during the service period is
adjusted in subsequent periods for changes in the fair value of the stock options until the earlier of the date at which the non-employee’s performance is
complete or a performance commitment is reached, which is generally when the stock option award vests. Compensation expense for non-employee grants is
recorded on a straight-line basis in the statements of operations.

Fair value of financial instruments – ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements, clarifies that fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based
measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability.

ASC 820 requires that the valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. ASC 820 establishes a three tier value hierarchy, which prioritizes inputs that may be used to measure fair value as follows:

 ● Level 1– Observable inputs that reflect quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.

● Level 2– Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not
active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

● Level 3– Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

The carrying amounts of current assets and current liabilities approximate their fair value because of the relatively short period until they mature or
are required to be settled, except for the investment in BioTime and OncoCyte shares, which are carried at fair value based on Level 1 inputs.

Comprehensive income/loss – ASC 220, Comprehensive Income, requires that an entity’s change in equity or net assets during a period from
transactions and other events from non-owner sources be reported. Asterias reports unrealized gains and losses on its available-for-sale securities as other
comprehensive income/(loss).
 

63



Table of Contents

Basic and diluted net loss per share – Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding for the period. Diluted net loss per share reflects the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus the
potential effect of dilutive securities or contracts which are convertible to common stock, such as options and warrants (using the treasury stock method) and
shares issuable in future periods, such as restricted stock or RSUs, except in cases where the effect would be anti-dilutive.

The computations of basic and diluted net loss per share are as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
Net loss  $ (15,003)  $ (10,097)  $ (22,380)
Weighted average common shares outstanding – basic and diluted   35,443   30,720   7,726 
Net loss per share – basic and diluted  $ (0.42)  $ (0.33)  $ (2.90)

 
The following common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share of common stock for the periods

presented because including them would have been antidilutive (in thousands):
 

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
Stock options and restricted stock units   5,178   3,347   2,840 
Warrants   3,500   8,500   3,500 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – The following accounting standards, which are not yet effective, are presently being evaluated by

Asterias to determine the impact that they might have on its financial statements.

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, “Leases (Topic
842)”, which requires lessees recognize assets and liabilities for leases with lease terms greater than twelve months in the statement of financial position.
Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the income statement. ASU 2016-02
also requires improved disclosures to help users of financial statements better understand the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from
leases. The update is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period. Early
adoption is permitted. Asterias is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2016-02 will have on its financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, “Income Taxes (Topic 740)”: Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes”, which changes
how deferred taxes are classified on company’s balance sheets. The ASU eliminates the current requirement to present deferred tax liabilities and assets as
current and noncurrent on the balance sheet. Instead, companies will be required to classify all deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent. The
amendments are effective for annual financial statements beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Asterias is
currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2015-17 will have on its financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”, which supersedes nearly all existing revenue
recognition guidance under GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are transferred to customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 defines a five-step process to
achieve this core principle and, in doing so, more judgment and estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than are required under
existing GAAP.
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The revised revenue standard is effective for public entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods therein, using
either of the following transition methods: (i) a full retrospective approach reflecting the application of the standard in each prior reporting period with the
option to elect certain practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of initially adopting ASU 2014-09 recognized at the
date of adoption (which includes additional footnote disclosures). Asterias is currently evaluating the impact of Asterias’ pending adoption of ASU 2014-09
on its financial statements and has not yet determined the method by which it will adopt the standard in fiscal 2018.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-15 “Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern” requiring management to evaluate on a regular basis whether any conditions or
events have arisen that could raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. The guidance 1) provides a definition for the
term “substantial doubt,” 2) requires an evaluation every reporting period, interim periods included, 3) provides principles for considering the mitigating
effect of management’s plans to alleviate the substantial doubt, 4) requires certain disclosures if the substantial doubt is alleviated as a result of
management’s plans, 5) requires an express statement, as well as other disclosures, if the substantial doubt is not alleviated, and 6) requires an assessment
period of one year from the date the financial statements are issued. This standard is effective for the annual period ending after December 15, 2016, and for
annual periods and interim periods thereafter. Early application is permitted.  Asterias is currently evaluating the impact, if any, the adoption of ASU 2014-15
will have on its financial statements.

3. Balance Sheet Components

Property, plant and equipment, net

As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, property, plant and equipment were comprised of the following (in thousands):
 
  Years Ended December 31,  
 2015  2014  
Property, plant and equipment  $ 7,072  $ 1,796 
Accumulated depreciation   (1,316)   (751)
Property, plant and equipment, net  $ 5,756  $ 1,045 

 
Equipment includes $33,800 financed by capital lease borrowings in October 2015 for phone equipment for the new facility in Fremont.

Depreciation expense amounted to $564,000, $530,000, and $221,000 for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Construction in progress

There is no construction in progress as of December 31, 2015 and $406,000 as of December 31, 2014, relates entirely to the improvements for
Asterias’ Fremont, California, facility.

Under the terms of the lease agreement, the landlord provided Asterias with a tenant improvement allowance of $4.4 million, which Asterias used to
construct a laboratory and production facility that will be used to produce human embryonic stem cell and related products under current good
manufacturing procedures (“cGMP”). Of the $4.9 million total cost, $4.4 million qualifies for reimbursement under the tenant improvement allowance. As of
December 31, 2015, Asterias received $3.8 million from the landlord and has a remaining $0.6 million receivable from the landlord. .  Reimbursable amounts
due to Asterias but not yet paid by the landlord as of period end are recorded by Asterias as a landlord receivable with a corresponding increase to lease
liability since Asterias has contractually earned the right to that cash

The facility was completed and placed into service in November 2015 (see Note 8).
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4. Investment in BioTime and in BioTime Subsidiaries

Investment in BioTime

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, Asterias held 3,852,880 of the 8,902,077 BioTime common shares that Asterias received under an Asset
Contribution Agreement, and which are included at fair value in current assets in its balance sheet as the shares are available for use and could be sold at fair
value for liquidity purposes at any time. The investment is classified as “available for sale.” Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other comprehensive income until realized. Realized gains and losses are reclassified out of other
comprehensive income or loss and included in equity, as an increase or decrease in additional paid-in capital. (See Note 2). “Accounting for BioTime shares.”

Asterias reviews various factors in determining whether it should recognize an other-than-temporary impairment charge for its marketable securities,
including its intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient for any anticipated recovery in market value, and the length of time and
extent to which the fair value has been less than its cost basis. Based on consideration of these factors, as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, no other-than-
temporary impairment was recognized.

Investment in OncoCyte

On December 31, 2015, in connection with BioTime’s distribution of OncoCyte common stock to BioTime shareholders, on a pro rata basis, Asterias
received 192,644 shares of OncoCyte common stock from BioTime as a dividend in kind. On this date, BioTime shareholders, including Asterias, received
one share of OncoCyte common stock for every twenty shares of BioTime common stock held. Asterias recorded the fair value of the OncoCyte common
stock as contributed capital from BioTime. The OncoCyte common stock distribution resulted in a taxable gain to Asterias of $819,000 (see Note 10).

The OncoCyte shares are included in available-for-sale securities at fair value in current assets in Asterias’ balance sheet as the shares are traded on
NYSE: MKT (symbol “OCX”) and available for working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2015, the OncoCyte shares are valued at $1.2 million based on
the OncoCyte closing price on that date.

The OncoCyte common stock investment is classified as “available for sale.” Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported in other comprehensive income or loss until realized. Realized gains and losses, if any, are included in other
income and expense, net, in the statements of operations (See Note 2).

Investments in Affiliates

Asterias’ investments in the OrthoCyte and Cell Cure Neurosciences stock received from BioTime were recorded at BioTime’s historical cost. The
investment is carried using the cost method of accounting (see Note 15).
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5. Intangible assets

As of December 31, 2015 and, 2014, Asterias had capitalized intangible assets acquired from Geron Corporation, primarily related to patents and
other intellectual property rights related to hES cells. These assets are being amortized over the estimated economic lives of the patents on a straight-line
basis, which approximates the pattern of consumption over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Intangible assets net of accumulated amortization at December 31, 2015 and, 2014 are shown in the following table (in thousands):
  Years Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014  
Intangible assets  $ 26,860  $ 26,860 
Accumulated amortization   (6,044)   (3,358)
Intangible assets, net  $ 20,816  $ 23,502 

Asterias recognized $2.7 million, $4.8 million, and 725,000 in amortization expense of intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Amortization of intangible assets for periods subsequent to December 31, 2015 is as follows (in thousands):

Year Ending
December 31,  

Amortization
Expense  

2016  $ 2,686 
2017   2,686 
2018   2,686 
2019   2,686 
2020   2,686 

Thereafter   7,386 
Total  $ 20,816 

6. Common Stock and Warrants

At December 31, 2015, Asterias had outstanding 38,228,120 Series A Shares and no Series B Shares. At December 31, 2014, Asterias had
outstanding 30,902,152 Series A Shares and no Series B Shares. All outstanding Series B Shares were converted into Series A Shares on October 3, 2014.

Common Stock Issuance

During the year ended December 31, 2015, Asterias raised approximately $5.5 million in aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of 1,410,255 shares
of common stock at a price of $3.90 per share through an underwritten public offering and a private placement. Broadwood Partners, L.P., British & American
Investment Trust PLC, and Pedro Lichtinger purchased an aggregate of 1,025,640 of the shares. Broadwood Partners, L.P. is BioTime’s largest shareholder
and one of its directors, Neal C. Bradsher, is President, and one of Asterias’ directors, Richard T. LeBuhn, is Senior Vice President, of Broadwood Capital, Inc.,
the investment manager of Broadwood Partners, L.P. Pedro Lichtinger was Asterias’ former President and Chief Executive Officer and a former member of its
Board of Directors (see Note 15). British & American Investment Trust PLC is an affiliate of an investor that owns more than 5% of the outstanding Asterias
Series A Shares.
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On April 10, 2015, Asterias entered into an at-the-market issuance sales agreement (the “Sales Agreement”) with MLV & Co. LLC (“MLV”), under
which MLV, as the sales agent, at Asterias’ discretion and at such times that Asterias may determine from time to time, may sell up to a maximum of $20.0
million of Asterias Series A Shares, subject to certain limitations, including the number of shares registered and available under Asterias’ previously filed and
currently effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-200745). Asterias is not required to sell any shares at any time during the term of the
Sales Agreement. Asterias has agreed to pay MLV a commission of up to 3% of the gross proceeds of the sale of any Series A Shares sold through MLV as
agent under the Sales Agreement.

During May, June, November, and December of 2015, Asterias raised approximately $4.8 million in gross proceeds from the sale of 685,465 shares
of its common stock at a weighted average price of $7.01 per share in “at-the-market” transactions.

Asterias issued 5,000,000 shares of common stock pursuant to the exercise of 5,000,000 warrants on May 21, 2015, as described under “Warrants”
below.

In December 2015, pursuant to a services agreement with Cell Therapy Catapult Services Limited, Asterias issued 96,479 shares of Asterias Series A
common stock with a fair value of $486,000 (see Note 13).

During the year ended December 31, 2014, Asterias sold 200,000 Series B Shares at $2.34 per share for $468,000 to Pedro Lichtinger, its former
President and Chief Executive Officer.

Asterias has issued warrants to purchase its common shares. Activity related to warrants in 2015 and 2014, is presented in the table below (in
thousands, except per share and weighted average exercise prices):

  
Number of
Warrants   

Per share
exercise

price   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
Outstanding, January 1, 2013   -  $ -  $ - 
Issued in 2013   3,500   5.00   5.00 
Outstanding, December 31, 2013   3,500   5.00   5.00 
Issued in 2014   5,000   2.34   2.34 
Outstanding, December 31, 2014   8,500  $ 2.34-5.00  $ 3.44 
Exercised in 2015   (5,000)   2.34   2.34 
Outstanding, December 31, 2015   3,500  $ 5.00  $ 5.00 

At December 31, 2015, 3,500,000 warrants to purchase common shares with an exercise price of $5.00 and a weighted average remaining contractual
life of 0.75 years were outstanding (see Note 15). At December 31, 2014, 8,500,000 warrants to purchase common shares with a weighted average exercise
price of $3.44 and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.99 years were outstanding.

The warrants to purchase 3,500,000 shares of its common stock will expire on September 30, 2016. In February 2016, of the warrants to purchase
3,500,000 shares, 3,150,000 were returned to Asterias by BioTime as part of an asset transfer between Asterias and BioTime.  As of March 23, 2016, the
warrants to purchase 3,150,000 shares were retired by Asterias. To the extent we distribute new warrants to our shareholders that are substantially identical as
the warrants surrendered by BioTime, BioTime has agreed to waive its right to receive such new warrants. (See Note 15).  Asterias will receive $1.8 million if
all of the remaining 350,000 warrants are exercised at $5.00 per share.
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7. Equity Incentive Plan

During March 2013, Asterias’ Board of Directors approved an Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) under which Asterias has reserved 4,500,000 shares
of common stock for the grant of stock options or the sale of restricted stock. Initially, Asterias issued Series B Shares under the Plan. Since the date on which
all of the outstanding Series B Shares were converted into Series A Shares, Asterias has issued Series A Shares under the Plan. The Plan also permits Asterias
to issue such other securities as its Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee administering the Plan may determine. Asterias’ stockholders
approved the Plan in September 2013.

During May 2015, Asterias’ Board of Directors approved an amendment that would increase the number shares authorized for issuance under the
Plan by 3,500,000 shares. This amendment was approved by the shareholders at the 2015 annual meeting of shareholders held on July 9, 2015.

No options may be granted under the Plan more than ten years after the date upon which the Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors, and no
options granted under the Plan may be exercised after the expiration of ten years from the date of grant. Under the Plan, options to purchase common stock
may be granted to employees, directors and certain consultants at prices not less than the fair market value at date of grant, subject to certain limited
exceptions for options granted in substitution of other options. Options may be fully exercisable immediately, or may be exercisable according to a schedule
or conditions specified by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee. The Plan also permits Asterias to award restricted stock for services
rendered or to sell common stock to employees subject to vesting provisions under restricted stock agreements that provide for forfeiture of unvested shares
upon the occurrence of specified events under a restricted stock award agreement. Asterias may permit employees or consultants, but not officers or directors,
who purchase stock under restricted stock purchase agreements, to pay for their shares by delivering a promissory note that is secured by a pledge of their
shares.

Asterias may also grant stock appreciation rights (“SARs”) and hypothetical units issued with reference to Asterias common stock (“Restricted Stock
Units”, or RSUs) under the Plan. An SAR is the right to receive, upon exercise, an amount payable in cash or shares or a combination of shares and cash, as
determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, equal to the number of shares subject to the SAR that is being exercised multiplied by
the excess of (a) the fair market value of a share of Asterias common stock on the date the SAR is exercised, over (b) the exercise price specified in the SAR
Award agreement.

The terms and conditions of a grant of Restricted Stock Units is determined by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. No shares of
stock will be issued at the time a Restricted Stock Unit is granted, and Asterias will not be required to set aside a fund for the payment of any such award. A
recipient of Restricted Stock Units will have no voting rights with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. Upon the expiration of the restrictions applicable to a
Restricted Stock Unit, Asterias will either issue to the recipient, without charge, one share of common stock per Restricted Stock Unit or cash in an amount
equal to the fair market value of one share of common stock.

Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units

As of December 31, 2015, Asterias had outstanding to certain officers, employees, and directors, options to purchase a total of 5,130,105 shares of
common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $3.16 per share and 48,306 restricted stock units.
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A summary of Asterias’ Plan activity and related information follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

  

Shares
Available
for Grant   

Number of
Options and
Restricted
Stock Units
Outstanding   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price  
January 1, 2014   1,660   2,840  $ 2.34 
Options granted   (1,590)   1,590   2.50 
Restricted stock units issued   (400)   200   - 
Options exercised       (3)   2.34 
Options expired/forfeited   1,280   (1,280)   2.34 
December 31, 2014   950   3,347   2.42 
Increase in option pool   3,500   -   - 
Options granted   (2,005)   2,005   3.81 
Options exercised   -   (12)   2.34 
Options forfeited/cancelled   9   (9)   3.22 
Restricted stock units vested       (200)   - 
Restricted stock units issued   (388)   194   3.90 
Restricted stock units vested   -   (145)   - 
Restricted stock units forfeited   1   -   3.90 
December 31, 2015   2,067   5,178  $ 3.17 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The weighted-average estimated fair value of stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $2.92 and $1.50 per
share respectively, using the Black-Scholes Merton model with the following weighted-average assumptions:

  
Years Ended
December 31,  

  2015   2014  
Expected life (in years)   6.10  $ 3.98 
Risk-free interest rates   1.74%  1.31%
Volatility   77.78%  83.49%
Dividend yield   0%  0%

The risk-free rate is based on the rates in effect at the time of grant for zero coupon U.S. Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to each
grant’s expected life. A dividend yield of zero is applied since Asterias has not historically paid dividends and does not expect to pay dividends in the
foreseeable future. The expected volatility is based upon the volatility of Asterias’ own trading stock and of a group of publicly traded industry peer
companies. The expected term of options granted is derived from using the simplified method under SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Topic 14.

 
Stock-based compensation expense is recognized based on awards that are ultimately expected to vest, and as a result, the amount has been reduced

by estimated forfeitures. Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those
estimates. Forfeitures are estimated based on Asterias’ historical experience and future expectations.

The determination of stock-based compensation is inherently uncertain and subjective and involves the application of valuation models and
assumptions requiring the use of judgment. If Asterias had made different assumptions, its stock-based compensation expense, and net loss for years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, may have been significantly different.
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Asterias does not recognize deferred income taxes for incentive stock option compensation expense, and records a tax deduction only when a
disqualified disposition has occurred.

Operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense as follows (in thousands):

  Year Ended December 31,  
  2015   2014   2013  
Research and development  $ 1,604  $ 478  $ 195 
General and administrative   2,021   1,336   509 
Total stock-based compensation expense  $ 3,625  $ 1,814  $ 704 

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, Asterias had $6.7 million and $3.3 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to the Plan that will be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.4 and 3.97 years, respectively.

In November 2015, Asterias expensed approximately $589,000 in non-cash stock-based compensation for modifications to, and accelerated vesting
of, stock options held by a former executive on the termination date of his employment.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

Total rent expense for all rented facilities for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $1.0 million, $831,000 and $456,000,
respectively.

At December 31, 2015, Asterias had commitments consisting of an operating lab equipment lease, a sublease of its current office and research
facility, a lease of its satellite office in New York, a lease for its future office and research facility in Fremont, California and a capital lease for phone
equipment.

Asterias subleased from BioTime an office and research facility located in Menlo Park, California. The lease was for a term of three years
commencing January 7, 2013. Base rent is $32,000 per month, plus real estate taxes and certain costs of maintaining the leased premises. The lease ended on
January 31, 2016. Effective November 2015, Asterias began occupancy at an office and research facility located at 6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont,
California as discussed below.

On December 30, 2013, Asterias entered into a lease for an office and research facility located in Fremont, California, consisting of an existing
building with approximately 44,000 square feet of space. The building will be used by Asterias primarily as a laboratory and production facility that can be
used to produce human embryonic stem cells and related products under current good manufacturing procedures. As of December 31, 2015 Asterias
completed the tenant improvements, which cost approximately $4.9 million, of which the maximum of $4.4 million was paid to Asterias by the landlord. The
landlord’s obligation to fund the tenant improvements expired on December 31, 2015.

In January 2014, Asterias paid the landlord a $300,000 security deposit and the landlord allowed access and use of the premises beginning in March
2014 to allow for the construction of the tenant improvements. The lease is for a term of 96 months, commencing on October 1, 2014, with two available five-
year options to extend the term, upon one year written notice by Asterias. During the first 15 months of the lease term, from October 1, 2014 through
December 31, 2015, Asterias will pay monthly base rent of $51,000 representing 22,000 square feet rather than 44,000 square feet provided that Asterias is
not in default in performing its obligations under the lease beyond any notice and cure periods. Beginning on January 1, 2016, base rent will increase to
$105,000 per month and increase by approximately 3% annually on every October 1 thereafter.

In addition to monthly base rent, Asterias will pay all real estate taxes, insurance and the cost of maintenance, repair and replacement of the leased
premises. During the first 15 months of the lease term, Asterias will pay only 50% of the real estate taxes assessed on the premises provided that Asterias is not
in default in performing its obligations under the lease beyond any notice and cure periods. However, if any improvements or alterations to the premises that
Asterias constructs or adds are assessed for real property tax purposes at a valuation higher than the valuation of the improvements on the premises on the
date it signed the lease, Asterias will pay 100% of the taxes levied on the excess assessed valuation.
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Asterias is considered the owner of the asset under cooperating construction under ASC 840-40-55 as Asterias, among other things, has the primary
obligation to pay for construction costs and Asterias will retain exclusive use of the building for its office and research facility requirements after
construction is completed. In addition, the lease does not qualify for sale-leaseback accounting under ASC 840-40-25, Accounting for Leases, Sale-
Leaseback Transactions, due to Asterias' significant continuing involvement with the facility that Asterias considers to be other than a normal leaseback as
defined by ASC 840-40-25. In accordance with this guidance, amounts previously expended by Asterias for construction would continue to be reported as
construction in progress in Asterias’ financial statements, and the landlord reimbursement proceeds received, including amounts earned by Asterias but not
yet paid by the landlord at period end, are reported as a lease liability. The property was placed in service in November 2015 and Asterias will depreciate the
property and the lease payments allocated to the landlord liability which is accounted for as debt service payments on that liability using the finance method
of accounting per ASC 840-40-55. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Asterias had incurred $4.9 million and $406,000, respectively, of construction costs
included in construction in progress, of which $4.4 million and $378,000 is the lease liability included in long term liabilities at December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively.

Asterias was provided access and rights to use the property beginning in March 2014 with “free-rent” until the lease payments commenced on
October 1, 2014, as described above. Asterias commenced expensing rent beginning in March 2014 in accordance with ASC 840-20-25-10 and 11, Rent
Expense During Construction. Accordingly, during the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, Asterias has expensed approximately
$715,400 and $153,000 included in the statements of operations and a deferred rent balance of approximately 179,000 and $94,000 included in long-term
liabilities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Asterias also currently pays $4,000 per month for the use of approximately 120 square feet of the office space in New York City that is used to
conduct meetings and other business affairs. The lease originally for one year commencing July 1, 2014 was extended through June 30, 2016 and will
terminate on this date.

Remaining minimum annual lease payments under the various operating leases for the years ending after December 31, 2015 are as follows (in
thousands):

Year Ending
December 31,  

Minimum Lease
Payments  

2016  $ 1,328 
2017   1,309 
2018   1,347 
2019   1,387 
2020   1,430 

Thereafter   2,604 
Total  $ 9,405 

Litigation – General

Asterias will be subject to various claims and contingencies in the ordinary course of its business, including those related to litigation, business
transactions, employee-related matters, and others. When Asterias is aware of a claim or potential claim, it assesses the likelihood of any loss or exposure. If it
is probable that a loss will result and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated, Asterias will record a liability for the loss. If the loss is not probable
or the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, Asterias discloses the claim if the likelihood of a potential loss is reasonably possible and the
amount involved could be material. Asterias is not aware of any claims likely to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of
operations.
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Employment Contracts

Asterias has entered into employment contracts with certain executive officers. Under the provisions of the contracts, Asterias may be required to
incur severance obligations for matters relating to changes in control, as defined, and involuntary terminations.  At December 31, 2015, total potential
severance obligations in connection with the termination of employment contracts approximated $816,000 for termination without cause and $1.5 million
for termination due to a change in control. (See Note 15).

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, Asterias may provide indemnifications of varying scope under Asterias’ agreements with other companies or
consultants, typically Asterias’ clinical research organizations, investigators, clinical sites, suppliers and others. Pursuant to these agreements, Asterias will
generally agree to indemnify, hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified parties for losses and expenses suffered or incurred by the indemnified parties
arising from claims of third parties in connection with the use or testing of Asterias’ products and services. Indemnification provisions could also cover third
party infringement claims with respect to patent rights, copyrights, or other intellectual property pertaining to Asterias products and services. The term of
these indemnification agreements will generally continue in effect after the termination or expiration of the particular research, development, services, or
license agreement to which they relate. The potential future payments Asterias could be required to make under these indemnification agreements will
generally not be subject to any specified maximum amount. Historically, Asterias have not been subject to any claims or demands for indemnification.
Asterias also maintains various liability insurance policies that limit Asterias’ exposure. As a result, Asterias believes the fair value of these indemnification
agreements is minimal. Accordingly, Asterias has not recorded any liabilities for these agreements as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

9. Shared Facilities and Service Agreement

On April 1, 2013, Asterias and BioTime executed a Shared Facilities and Services Agreement (“Shared Facilities Agreement”). Under the terms of the
Shared Facilities Agreement, BioTime will allow Asterias to use its premises and equipment located at Alameda, California for the sole purpose of conducting
business. BioTime will provide basic accounting, billing, bookkeeping, payroll, treasury, collection of accounts receivable (excluding the institution of legal
proceedings or taking of any other action to collect accounts receivable), payment of accounts payable, and other similar administrative services to Asterias.
BioTime may also provide the services of attorneys, accountants, and other professionals who may also provide professional services to BioTime and its
other subsidiaries. BioTime will also provide Asterias with the services of its laboratory and research personnel, including BioTime employees and
contractors, for the performance of research and development work for Asterias at the premise.

BioTime will charge Asterias a fee for the services and usage of facilities, equipment, and supplies aforementioned. For each billing period, BioTime
will equitably prorate and allocate its employee costs, equipment costs, insurance costs, lease costs, professional costs, software costs, supply costs, and
utilities costs, between BioTime and Asterias based upon actual documented use and cost by or for Asterias or upon proportionate usage by BioTime and
Asterias, as reasonably estimated by BioTime. Asterias shall pay 105% of the allocated costs (the “Use Fee”). The allocated cost of BioTime employees and
contractors who provide services will be based upon records maintained of the number of hours of such personnel devoted to the performance of services.

The Use Fee will be determined and invoiced to Asterias on a quarterly basis for each calendar quarter of each calendar year. If the Shared Facilities
Agreement terminates prior to the last day of a billing period, the Use Fee will be determined for the number of days in the billing period elapsed prior to the
termination of the Shared Facilities Agreement. Each invoice will be payable in full by Asterias within 30 days after receipt. Any invoice or portion thereof
not paid in full when due will bear interest at the rate of 15% per annum until paid, unless the failure to make a payment is due to any inaction or delay in
making a payment by BioTime employees from Asterias funds available for such purpose, rather than from the unavailability of sufficient funds legally
available for payment or from an act, omission, or delay by any employee or agent of Asterias.
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In addition to the Use Fees, Asterias will reimburse BioTime for any out of pocket costs incurred by BioTime for the purchase of office supplies,
laboratory supplies, and other goods and materials and services for the account or use of Asterias, provided that invoices documenting such costs are
delivered to Asterias with each invoice for the Use Fee. Furthermore, BioTime will have no obligation to purchase or acquire any office supplies or other
goods and materials or any services for Asterias, and if any such supplies, goods, materials or services are obtained for Asterias, BioTime may arrange for the
suppliers thereof to invoice Asterias directly.

Asterias in turn may charge BioTime or any Other Subsidiary for similar services provided by Asterias at the same rate and terms as aforementioned.
“Other Subsidiary” means a subsidiary of BioTime other than Asterias and other than a subsidiary of Asterias.

The Shared Facilities Agreement terminates on December 31, 2016, provided that, unless otherwise terminated under another provision of the Shared
Facilities Agreement, the term of the Shared Facilities Agreement will automatically be renewed and the termination date will be extended for an additional
year each year after December 31, 2016, unless either party gives the other party written notice stating that the Shared Facilities Agreement will terminate on
December 31 of that year.

BioTime allocated $282,000, $201,000, and $102,000 of general overhead expenses to Asterias during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014
and 2013, respectively.

10. Income Taxes

The primary components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2015 and 2014 were as follows (in thousands):

Deferred tax assets:  2015   2014  
Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 9,939  $ 2,243 
Research and development credits   1,898   884 
Stock based compensation and other   801   484 
Valuation allowance   (2,894)   - 
Total deferred tax assets   9,744   3,611 
Deferred tax liabilities:         
Patents and licenses   (7,020)   (8,125)
Securities held as available for sale   (5,274)   (4,713)
Total deferred tax liabilities   (12,294)   (12,838)
         
Net deferred tax liabilities  $ (2,550)  $ (9,227)

Income taxes differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax of 34% to pretax losses from operations as a result of the
following:

  
Years Ended December

31,  
  2015  2014  
Computed tax benefit at federal statutory rate   34%   34%  
Permanent differences   (3%)   (3%)  
State tax benefit, net of effect on federal income taxes   13%   8%  
Change in valuation allowance   (13%)   -  
Research and development credits   2%   2%  
Other   -   1%  
   33%   42%  
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As of December 31, 2015, Asterias has net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $23.4 million and $22.5 million respectively for federal
and California tax purposes, which expire between 2032 and 2035. In addition, as of December 31, 2015, Asterias has federal and California research tax
credit carry forwards of $925,000 and $973,000, respectively. The federal credits expire between 2032 and 2035, while the state tax credits have no
expiration date.

A deferred income tax benefit of approximately $7.3 million was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2015, of which approximately $7.4
million was related to the federal tax benefit and $0.1 million was related to state tax expense. A deferred income tax benefit of approximately $7.4 million
was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2014, of which approximately $5.2 million was related to federal taxes and $2.2 million was related to state
taxes. Asterias established deferred tax liabilities primarily related to its acquisition of certain intellectual property and available for sale securities held in
BioTime and OncoCyte common stock. It is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets are fully realizable since these income tax benefits are expected
to be available to offset such deferred tax liabilities, except for the California deferred tax assets for which Asterias has established a valuation allowance as
of December 31, 2015.

In June 2014, Asterias sold 5,000,000 BioTime shares that resulted in a taxable gain of approximately $10.3 million. Asterias received the BioTime
shares from BioTime as part of the consideration for the Asterias common stock and warrants issued to BioTime under an Asset Contribution Agreement
among BioTime, Asterias, and Geron Corporation, in a tax free transaction. This taxable gain was offset by available net operating losses, resulting in no
income taxes due from the sale. The transaction was treated as a deemed distribution by Asterias and recorded as charge to equity.

 
On December 31, 2015, BioTime distributed 4.7 million shares of OncoCyte common stock to its shareholders, including Asterias, on a pro rata basis

as a dividend in kind. As part of the distribution of OncoCyte common stock, Asterias, as it also holds BioTime common stock, received 192,644 shares of
OncoCyte common stock as contributed capital from BioTime resulting in a taxable gain to Asterias of $819,000. Asterias has sufficient current year losses
from operations to offset the entire taxable gain resulting in no income taxes due. As the distribution was treated as a dividend in kind for financial reporting
purposes, Asterias recorded the tax effect of this gain through equity consistent with BioTime’s treatment of the distribution in accordance with ASC 740-20-
45-11(g). As disclosed in Note 4, Asterias holds the OncoCyte common stock as an available for sale security on its balance sheet.

 
As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, Asterias recorded a $5.3 million and $4.7 million deferred tax liability, respectively, for the temporary taxable

differences in the basis of the investments still held by Asterias in BioTime and OncoCyte common stock.

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 places a limitation (“Section 382 Limitation”) on the amount of taxable income that can be offset by net
operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards after a change in control (generally greater than 50% change in ownership within a three-year period) of a loss
corporation. California has similar rules. Generally, after a control change, a loss corporation cannot deduct NOL carryforwards in excess of the Section 382
Limitation. Due to these “change in ownership” provisions, utilization of the NOL and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to an annual limitation
regarding their utilization against taxable income in future periods.

Asterias will file an income tax return in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and may file income tax returns in various U.S. states and foreign jurisdictions.

Asterias may be subject to potential examination by U.S. federal, U.S. states or foreign jurisdiction authorities in the areas of income taxes. These
potential examinations may include questioning the timing and amount of deductions, the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions and compliance
with U.S. federal, U.S. state and foreign tax laws. Asterias' management does not expect that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will materially
change over the next twelve months.
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11. Segment Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities for which separate financial information is
available and evaluated by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and assess performance. Asterias’ executive management
team represents its chief operating decision maker. The executive management team reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for
purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance and there are no managers who are held accountable for levels or components below
the consolidated unit level. To date, management has viewed Asterias’ operations as one segment.

12. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (unaudited) (in thousands)

Asterias has derived this data from the unaudited interim financial statements that, in Asterias’ opinion, have been prepared on substantially the
same basis as the audited financial statements contained in this report and include all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the
financial information for the periods presented. These unaudited quarterly results should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes
thereto included in this report. The operating results in any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.

Year Ended December 31, 2015  
First

Quarter   
Second
Quarter   

Third
Quarter   

Fourth
Quarter  

Total gross profit  $ 728  $ 734  $ 1,247  $ 605 
Operating expenses   5,265   5,541   6,183   8,233 
Loss from operations before deferred tax benefits   (4,557)   (4,859)   (5,068)   (7,771)
                 
Basic and diluted net loss per share   (0.09)   (0.10)   (0.09)   (0.13)
                 
Year Ended December 31, 2014                 
Total gross profit  $ 62  $ (21)  $ 42  $ 1,045 
Operating expenses   3,694   4,287   4,037   6,572 
Loss from operations before deferred tax benefits   (3,636)   (4,315)   (3,995)   (5,527)
                 
Basic and diluted net loss per share   (0.07)   (0.09)   (0.05)   (0.11)

13. License and Royalty Obligations

Services Agreement with Cell Therapy Catapult Services Limited

In October 2015, Asterias entered into a Services Agreement (the “Services Agreement”) with Cell Therapy Catapult Services Limited (“Catapult”), a
research organization specializing in the development of technologies which speed the growth of the cell and gene therapy industry. Under the Services
Agreement, Catapult will license to Asterias, certain background intellectual property and will develop a scalable manufacturing and differentiation process
for Asterias’ human embryonic stem cell derived dendritic cell cancer vaccine development program. In consideration for the license and Catapult’s
performance of services, Asterias agreed to make aggregate payments of up to GBP £4,350,000 over the next five years (approximately $6.4 million based on
the foreign currency exchange rate on December 31, 2015). At the option of Asterias, up to GBP £3,600,000 (approximately $5.3 million based on the foreign
currency exchange rate on December 31, 2015) of such payments may be settled in shares of Asterias Series A Common Stock instead of cash.  If Asterias
elects to pay for the services in stock and Catapult is unable to sell the stock in the market within 60 days of issuance, after reasonable and diligent efforts
through its broker, Catapult may request that the unsold portion of the stock payment, if any, be paid by Asterias in cash at a value equal to approximately
91% of the total amount that was issued in stock.  This right by Catapult to put the unsold shares back to Asterias for cash expires the earlier to occur of the
sale of the stock in the market or after 60 days of issuance.
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The Services Agreement may be terminated by Asterias for any reason upon 60 days prior written notice. Catapult may terminate the Services
Agreement on 60 days prior written notice if it encounters a technical issue that would prevent it from completing the services at all or without obtaining
additional resources, or if the estimated time and cost of completing the services will be exceeded and Catapult and Asterias do not reach agreement on
revised time and cost terms. Catapult may terminate the Services Agreement in the event Asterias fails to pay any amount due under the Services Agreement
30 days after Catapult makes a written demand for payment. In addition, a non-breaching party may terminate the Services Agreement upon the occurrence a
material breach that is not remedied within 30 days. Either party may terminate the Services Agreement in the event the other party becomes subject to
insolvency, receivership, liquidation, or a similar event.

Advance payments for research and development services to be performed by Catapult are deferred and recognized as research and development
expense ratably as the services are performed.  Advance payments related to licenses will be expensed when paid due to the experimental nature of the
project.  Pursuant to the Services Agreement, if there are any issued, but unsold Asterias stock, to Catapult for payment of services and the 60-day put right
has not expired as of the period end being reported on, Asterias will present that amount as “temporary” equity in accordance with ASC 480-10-S99.  Once
the put right expires or the shares are sold by Catapult, the temporary equity amount will be reclassified by Asterias to permanent equity without adjustment
to the carrying value of the stock.

In December 2015, pursuant to the Services Agreement, Asterias issued 96,479 shares of Asterias Series A Common Stock with a fair market value of
$486,000 at the time of issuance which Asterias reclassified into permanent equity since all of these shares were sold in the market by Catapult as of
December 31, 2015.

Asterias License from WARF

Asterias has entered into a Non-Exclusive License Agreement with WARF under which Asterias was granted a worldwide non-exclusive license
under certain WARF patents and WARF-owned embryonic stem cell lines to develop and commercialize therapeutic, diagnostic and research products. The
licensed patents include patents covering methods for growth and differentiation of primate embryonic stem cells. The licensed stem cell lines include the
H1, H7, H9, H13 and H14 hES cell lines.

In consideration of the rights licensed, Asterias has agreed to pay WARF an upfront license fee, payments upon the attainment of specified clinical
development milestones, royalties on sales of commercialized products, and, subject to certain exclusions, a percentage of any payments that Asterias may
receive from any sublicenses that it may grant to use the licensed patents or stem cell lines.

The license agreement will terminate with respect to licensed patents upon the expiration of the last licensed patent to expire. Asterias may terminate
the license agreement at any time by giving WARF prior written notice. WARF may terminate the license agreement if payments of earned royalties, once
begun, cease for a specified period of time or if Asterias and any third parties collaborating or cooperating with Asterias in the development of products using
the licensed patents or stem cell lines fail to spend a specified minimum amount on research and development of products relating to the licensed patents or
stem cell lines for a specified period of time. WARF also has the right to terminate the license agreement if Asterias breaches the license agreement or
becomes bankrupt or insolvent or if any of the licensed patents or stem cell lines are offered to creditors

Asterias License from the University of California

Geron assigned to Asterias its Exclusive License Agreement with The Regents of the University of California for patents covering a method for
directing the differentiation of multipotential hES cells to glial-restricted progenitor cells that generate pure populations of oligodendrocytes for
remyelination and treatment of spinal cord injury. Pursuant to this agreement, Asterias has an exclusive worldwide license under such patents, including the
right to grant sublicenses, to create products for biological research, drug screening, and human therapy using the licensed patents. Under the license
agreement, Asterias will be obligated to pay the university a royalty of 1% from sales of products that are covered by the licensed patent rights, and a
minimum annual royalty of $5,000 starting in the year in which the first sale of a product covered by any licensed patent rights occurs, and continuing for the
life of the applicable patent right under the agreement. The royalty payments due are subject to reduction, but not by more than 50%, to the extent of any
payments that Asterias may be obligated to pay to a third party for the use of patents or other intellectual property licensed from the third party in order to
make, have made, use, sell, or import products or otherwise exercise its rights under the Exclusive License Agreement. Asterias will be obligated to pay the
university 7.5% of any proceeds, excluding debt financing and equity investments, and certain reimbursements, that its receives from sublicensees, other than
Asterias’ affiliates and joint ventures relating to the development, manufacture, purchase, and sale of products, processes, and services covered by the
licensed patent. The license agreement will terminate on the expiration of the last-to-expire of the university's issued licensed patents. If no further patents
covered by the license agreement are issued, the license agreement would terminate in 2024. The university may terminate the agreement in the event of
Asterias’ breach of the agreement. Asterias can terminate the agreement upon 60 days' notice.
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Asterias Sublicense from Geron

Asterias has received from Geron an exclusive sublicense under certain patents owned by the University of Colorado’s University License Equity
Holdings, Inc. relating to telomerase (the “Telomerase Sublicense”). The Telomerase Sublicense entitles Asterias to use the technology covered by the
patents in the development of AST-VAC1 and AST-VAC2 as immunological treatments for cancer. Under the Telomerase Sublicense, Asterias paid Geron a
one-time upfront license fee of $65,000, and will pay Geron an annual license maintenance fee of $10,000 due on each anniversary of the effective date of the
Telomerase Sublicense, and a 1% royalty on sales of any products that Asterias may develop and commercialize that are covered by the sublicensed patents.
The Telomerase Sublicense will expire concurrently with the expiration of Geron’s license. That license will terminate during April 2017 when the licensed
patents expire. The Telomerase Sublicense may also be terminated by Asterias by giving Geron 90 days written notice, by Asterias or by Geron if the other
party breaches its obligations under the sublicense agreement and fails to cure their breach within the prescribed time period, or by Asterias or by Geron upon
the filing or institution of bankruptcy, reorganization, liquidation or receivership proceedings, or upon an assignment of a substantial portion of the assets for
the benefit of creditors by the other party.

14. Clinical Trial and Option Agreement and CIRM Grant Award

During September 2014, Asterias entered into a Clinical Trial and Option Agreement (the “CRUK Agreement”) with Cancer Research UK (“CRUK”)
and Cancer Research Technology Limited, (“CRT”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRUK, pursuant to which CRUK has agreed to fund Phase 1/2 clinical
development of Asterias’ human embryonic stem cell derived AST-VAC2 allogeneic (non-patient specific) dendritic cancer vaccine product candidate.
Asterias will, at its own cost, complete process development and manufacturing scale-up of the AST-VAC2 manufacturing process and will transfer the
resulting cGMP-compatible process to CRUK. CRUK will, at its own cost, manufacture clinical grade AST-VAC2 and will carry out the Phase 1/2 clinical
trial of AST-VAC2 in cancer patients both resected early-stage and advanced forms of lung cancer. Asterias will have an exclusive first option to obtain a
license to use the data from the clinical trial. If Asterias exercises that option, then Asterias will be obligated to make payments upon the execution of the
License Agreement, upon the achievement of various milestones, and royalties on sales of products. In connection with the CRUK Agreement, Asterias
sublicensed to CRUK for use in the clinical trials and product manufacturing process certain patents that have been licensed or sublicensed to us by third
parties. Asterias would also be obligated to make payments to those licensors and sublicensors upon the achievement of various milestones, and then
royalties on sales of products if AST-VAC2 is successfully developed and commercialized.

On October 16, 2014 Asterias signed a Notice of Grant Award (“NGA”) with CIRM, effective October 1, 2014, with respect to a $14.3 million grant
award for clinical development of Asterias’ product, AST-OPC1. The NGA includes the terms under which CIRM will release grant funds to Asterias. CIRM
will disburse the grant funds to Asterias through July 1, 2018 in accordance with a quarterly disbursement schedule, subject to Asterias’ attainment of certain
progress and safety milestones. Asterias received the first payment from CIRM in the amount of $917,000 in October 2014, and the second, third, fourth, and
fifth payments totaling $5.6 million in 2015 as of December 31, 2015.
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15. Subsequent Events

On February 16, 2016, Asterias entered into a Cross-License Agreement (the “Cross-License”) with its majority parent, BioTime, Inc. ("BioTime")
and BioTime's wholly owned subsidiary ES Cell International Pte Ltd (“ESI”). Under the terms of a Cross-License, Asterias received a fully-paid, non-royalty-
bearing, world-wide, non-exclusive, sub-licensable license under certain BioTime patents and related patent rights and ESI patents and related patent rights
specified in the Cross-License, for all purposes in the Asterias Licensed Field during the term of the license. The Asterias Licensed Field includes all
therapeutic applications of use for certain BioTime patents and ESI patents except all therapeutic applications of use involving pluripotent stem cell-derived
cells of the following lineages: (a) bone and orthopedic soft tissues, including but not limited to ligament, tendon, meniscus, cartilage, and intervertebral
disc; (b) vascular endothelium and perivascular cells including vascular smooth muscle and vascular pericytes; (c) adipose tissue; and (d) retinal pigment
epithelium. The Asterias Licensed Field also includes all applications of use for certain other BioTime patents involving live human pluripotent stem cell-
derived cell therapies directed to the neural spinal cord (excluding cartilage and bone of the spine) and the myocardium; and also live human pluripotent
stem cell-derived glial cell therapies directed to the central nervous system.

Under the terms of the Cross-License, BioTime and ESI received a fully-paid, non-royalty-bearing, world-wide, non-exclusive, sub-licensable license
in, to, and under the certain Asterias patents and related patent rights for all purposes in the BioTime/ESI Licensed Field during the term of the license. The
BioTime/ESI Licensed Field includes all fields of use except any and all applications (a) to treat disorders of the nervous system, and (b) utilizing the
immune system to prevent, treat, or cure cancer, and (c) involving the use of cells comprising, derived from, or manufactured using, human embryonic stem
cells or human induced pluripotent stem cells for in vitro assay applications, including but not limited to drug discovery and development, drug monitoring,
drug toxicology testing, and consumer products testing.

Asterias also entered into a Share Transfer Agreement with BioTime and ESI pursuant to which (a) Asterias transferred to BioTime 2,100,000 shares
of common stock of OrthoCyte Corporation (“OrthoCyte) and 21,925 ordinary shares of Cell Cure Neurosciences Ltd (“Cell Cure”), each a majority-owned
subsidiary of BioTime and (b) BioTime transferred to Asterias 75,771 shares of Series A Common Stock of Asterias and warrants to purchase 3,150,000 Series
A common stock of Asterias at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, expiring September 30, 2016 (“Warrants”), as additional consideration for the license of
patents and patent rights from Asterias under the Cross License. On March 20, 2016, the warrants to purchase 3,150,000 shares of Series A common stock
were retired by Asterias.

On February 29, 2016, Asterias appointed Stephen L. Cartt as Chief Executive Officer and as a member of the Board of Directors of Asterias (the
"Board"). Asterias and the Mr. Cartt entered into an employment agreement (the "Employment Agreement"), which provides for an annual base salary of
$452,400, a grant of stock options to purchase 1,000,000 shares Asterias common stock at an exercise price of $3.64 per share, and a grant of 200,000
restricted shares of Asterias common stock. Subject to the Mr. Cartt’s continued employment with Asterias, the stock options vest in equal monthly
installments over 48 months commencing on March 31, 2016, and 50% of the restricted stock vests on August 31, 2016 and February 28, 2017. In addition,
Mr. Cartt is eligible for an annual Bonus Opportunity up to 50% of his base salary (the "Bonus Opportunity"). Asterias’ Board, or its Compensation
Committee, has absolute discretion in determining whether and to what extent any payment under the Bonus Opportunity are to be made based on
performance criteria that the Board, or its Compensation Committee, may determine from time to time.

Mr. Cartt’s employment agreement contains provisions entitling him to severance benefits under certain circumstances. If Asterias terminates Mr.
Cartt’s employment without "Cause" or if he resigns for "Good Reason" otherwise than within 12 months following a "Change of Control") as those terms are
defined in the Employment Agreement, he will be entitled to severance benefits. If Mr. Cartt has been employed by Asterias for one year or less, his severance
benefits will be include payment of six months base salary and 50% of Mr. Cartt’s Bonus Opportunity. If Mr. Cartt is employed with Asterias for more than
one year, his severance benefits will include payment of 12 months base salary, 100% of his Bonus Opportunity, accelerated vesting of all unvested restricted
stock previously granted, and accelerated vesting of 50% of unvested stock options previously granted. If Mr. Cartt’s employment is terminated without
"Cause" or if he resigns for "Good Reason" within twelve months within a Change of Control, his severance benefits will be include payment of 100% of his
base salary, 100% of the Bonus Opportunity, and accelerated vesting of all unvested restricted stock and stock options previously granted.
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On March 10, 2016, Asterias entered into a Separation Agreement (the "Separation Agreement") with its former President and Chief Executive
Officer. Under the terms of the Separation Agreement, and consistent with the obligations under his employment agreement, Asterias agreed to pay the former
executive severance in the amount of $475,000 plus accrued and unpaid wages and unused vacation, and accelerated vesting of any unvested restricted stock
and 50% of unvested stock options that were previously granted to the former executive.

On March 21, 2016, Asterias entered into a Separation Agreement (the "Separation Agreement") with its former Chief Financial Officer. Under the
terms of the Separation Agreement, and consistent with the obligations under her employment agreement, Asterias agreed to pay the former executive an
aggregate of $128,000 comprising of severance in the amount of $82,500, accrued and unpaid wages and unused vacation in the amount of $18,000, and
potential bonus opportunity in the amount of $27,500.
 

As of March 28, 2016, Asterias received $7.8 million of payments from CIRM, and recent progess on the Phase 1/2a dose escalation trial for OPC-1
is expected to result in a further $2.5 million payment under the terms of the existing CIRM award grant.
 
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

It is management’s responsibility to establish and maintain adequate internal control over all financial reporting pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”). Our management, including our principal executive officer, our principal operations officer, and our
principal financial officer, have reviewed and evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within ninety (90) days of the
filing date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Following this review and evaluation, management collectively determined that our disclosure controls and
procedures are effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act (i) is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms; and (ii) is accumulated and communicated to management,
including our chief executive officer, our chief operations officer, and our chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer, our principal
operations officer, and our principal financial officer, and effected by our Board of Directors, management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:

● Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of our assets;

● Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management
and directors; and
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● Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore,
even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established in
the 2013 Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by COSO. Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of that date, our internal control
over financial reporting was effective.

This annual report includes an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting for the
year ended December 31, 2015. The attestation is included with the accounting firm's report on our audited financial statements.

Item 9B. Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

Our directors are:

Don M. Bailey, 70, has been a director and our Chairman since February 2016. Mr. Bailey served as President and Chief Executive Officer of
Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from November 2007 until Questcor was acquired by Mallinckrodt plc in August 2014. He was also on the Board of Directors
of Mallinckrodt plc from August 2014 to February 2016. He initially joined the Questcor board in 2006 as an independent director in 2006. Mr. Bailey was
the non-executive Chairman of STAAR Surgical Company from April 2005 until January 2014 and on its board until June 2014. STAAR Surgical Company
is a leader in the development, manufacture, and marketing of minimally invasive ophthalmic products employing proprietary technologies. Mr. Bailey was
the Chairman of the board of directors of Comarco, Inc., a defense services company transformed into a wireless communication products company, from
1998 until 2007, where he served as its Chief Executive Officer from 1991 until 2000. Mr. Bailey holds a B.S. degree in mechanical engineering from the
Drexel Institute of Technology, an M.S. degree in operations research from the University of Southern California, and an M.B.A. from Pepperdine University.
Mr. Bailey also serves on two boards of Chapman University.

Mr. Bailey’s qualifications to serve on our Board include his extensive knowledge of the pharmaceuticals industry and his significant experience as
an executive and/or board member of publicly traded and private pharmaceutical companies.

Stephen L. Cartt, 53, has been our President and Chief Executive Officer and a director since February 2016. Mr. Cartt served as Chief Operating
Officer of Questcor Pharmaceuticals, Inc., from February 2012 until August 2014, when the company was acquired by Mallinckrodt plc. Mr. Cartt served as
Chief Operating Officer of the Autoimmune and Rare Diseases Business Unit of Mallinckrodt plc on an interim basis following the merger with Questcor from
August 2014 until October 2014. Mr. Cartt joined Questcor as Executive Vice President, Corporate Development, during March 2005. He was later appointed
Chief Business Officer before being appointed Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Cartt was a private consultant from August 2002 until March 2005. From March
2000 through August 2002, Mr. Cartt was the Senior Director of Strategic Marketing for Elan Pharmaceuticals. Prior to that, Mr. Cartt held a variety of R&D
and Commercial positions at ALZA Corporation during the period July 1985 to March 2000. Mr. Cartt holds a B.S. degree from the University of California
at Davis in Biochemistry, and an M.B.A. from Santa Clara University.

Mr. Cartt brings to our Board his many years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry, including experience in senior management of a
Questcor, a rapidly growing biopharmaceutical company prior to its acquisition by Mallinckrodt plc.

Andrew Arno, 56, has 30 years of experience working with emerging growth companies. He is currently Vice Chairman of “The Special Equities
Group” at Chardan Capital Markets, LLC, a privately held investment banking firm, and from June 2013 until July 2015 served as Managing Director of
Emerging Growth Equities, an investment bank, and Vice President of Sabr, Inc., a family investment group. He was previously President of LOMUSA
Limited, an investment banking firm. From 2009 to 2012, Mr. Arno served as Vice Chairman and Chief Marketing Officer of Unterberg Capital, LLC, an
investment advisory firm that he co-founded. He was also Vice Chairman and Head of Equity Capital Markets of Merriman Capital LLC, an investment
banking firm, and served on the board of the parent company, Merriman Holdings, Inc. Mr. Arno currently serves on the board of Smith Micro Software, Inc.

 
Mr. Arno brings over 30 years’ experience handling a wide range of corporate and financial matters and his background as an investment banker and

strategic advisor to emerging growth companies qualifies him to serve on our board of directors.

Alfred D. Kingsley, 73, joined our Board of Directors and became Chairman of the Board during September 2012 and Executive Chairman during
March 2014. Mr. Kingsley is Chairman of the Board of BioTime, Inc. ("BioTime"). Mr. Kingsley has been general partner of Greenway Partners, L.P., a private
investment firm, and President of Greenbelt Corp., a business consulting firm, since 1993. Greenbelt Corp. served as BioTime’s financial advisor from 1998
until June 30, 2009. Mr. Kingsley was Senior Vice-President of Icahn and Company and its affiliated entities for more than 25 years. Mr. Kingsley holds a BS
degree in economics from the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, and a J.D. degree and LLM in taxation from New York University Law
School.
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Mr. Kingsley’s long career in corporate finance and mergers and acquisitions includes substantial experience in helping companies to improve their
management and corporate governance, and to restructure their operations in order to add value for shareholders. Mr. Kingsley has been instrumental in
structuring our initial equity financings, and in negotiating the Asset Contribution Agreement with Geron through which we acquired most of our stem cell
assets. Mr. Kingsley, along with entities that he controls, is currently one of BioTime’s largest shareholders.

Richard T. LeBuhn, 51, has served since June 2006 as Senior Vice President of Broadwood Capital, Inc., the investment manager of Broadwood
Partners, L.P. Previously, Mr. LeBuhn was Principal of Broadfield Capital Management, LLC, a private investment firm, from 2005 to 2006, and Vice
President of Derchin Management, a private investment firm, from July 2002 to May 2005. Earlier in his career, Mr. LeBuhn founded and was Managing
Member of Triple Eight Capital, LLC, an investment analysis and financial advisory firm, was Managing Director of Craig Drill Capital, Inc., a private
investment firm, and served as an operating business manager for Chubb and Son, Inc., the property and casualty insurance division of The Chubb
Corporation. Mr. LeBuhn received a MBA in Finance with Distinction from Columbia University Graduate School of Business in 1996. He received a BA in
Economics from St. Lawrence University in 1988. Mr. LeBuhn currently serves as a director of Comarco, Inc.

Mr. LeBuhn’s qualifications to serve on our Board include, among others, his extensive experience as an investor in public companies, his extensive
financial analyst background, his financial and management expertise, and his ability to provide advice on various matters, including matters pertaining to
accounting and corporate governance matters.

Robert W. Peabody, 61, has been our Chief Financial Officer since June 2013 and is Senior Vice-President, Chief Operating Officer, and Chief
Financial Officer of BioTime. Mr. Peabody joined BioTime in October 2007 as its Senior Vice-President and Chief Operating Officer also served on an
interim basis as Chief Financial Officer from September 2010 until October 2011. Mr. Peabody reassumed the role as Chief Financial Officer in May 2013.
Prior to joining BioTime, Mr. Peabody served as a Vice-President of Advanced Cell Technology, Inc., and also served on their board of directors from 1998 to
2006. Prior to joining ACT, Mr. Peabody spent 14 years as a Regional Controller for Ecolab, Inc., a Fortune 500 specialty chemical manufacturer and service
company. He has also been an audit manager for Ernst and Young where he was a Certified Public Accountant on the audit staff serving the firm’s clients
whose shares are publicly traded. Mr. Peabody received a Bachelor Degree in Business Administration from the University of Michigan.

Mr. Peabody brings to our Board many years of experience as a senior executive and in accounting and financial reporting, including in the stem
cell and biotechnology industry as Chief Financial Officer of our parent company BioTime and as Vice President and director of Advance Cell Technology.

Natale S. Ricciardi, 67, spent his entire 39-year biopharmaceutical career at Pfizer Inc, retiring in 2011 as a member of the Pfizer Executive
Leadership Team after holding the positions of President, Pfizer Global Manufacturing and Senior Vice President of Pfizer Inc. In addition to his corporate
leadership role, he was directly responsible for all of Pfizer’s internal and external supply organization, a global enterprise that grew to more than 100
manufacturing facilities supplying small and large molecule pharmaceuticals, vaccines, consumer, nutrition and animal health products. Mr. Ricciardi
maintained responsibility for global manufacturing activities from 2004 through 2011. Previously, from 1999 to 2004, he had oversight for Pfizer’s US
manufacturing operations and from 1995 to 1999 was Vice President of Manufacturing for Pfizer’s Animal Health Group. Mr. Ricciardi received a B.E. degree
in Chemical Engineering from The City College of New York (CCNY) and an MBA in Finance and International Business from Fordham University. He
currently serves on the Advisory Board of HealthCare Royalty Partners and is a Director of Dynavax Technologies Corporation. He also serves as a member of
the CCNY 21st Century Foundation.

Mr. Ricciardi’s long career at Pfizer Inc. in a corporate leadership role and his extensive experience leading Pfizer's global manufacturing and supply
operations qualifies him to serve on our board of directors.
 

83



Table of Contents

Judith Segall, 62, has been our Corporate Secretary since September 2012 and has served as a Vice President and as Secretary of BioTime since
1990. Ms. Segall also serves on the Board of Directors of BioTime. Ms. Segall received a B.S. in Nutrition and Clinical Dietetics from the University of
California at Berkeley in 1989.

Ms. Segall brings to our Board more than 25 years of experience as an executive and director of BioTime. During that time, she has developed a
wealth of knowledge of business operations and management.

Michael D. West, Ph.D., 63, Dr. West has been a director of Asterias since 2012, and was our Vice President from September 2012 to December 2015,
except for an interim period from April 2014 to June 2014 when he served as our President and Chief Executive Officer Dr. West has been Chief Executive
Officer of BioTime from October 2007 to October 2015, has been Co-Chief Executive Officer since October 2015, and has served on BioTime’s Board of
Directors since 2002. Prior to becoming BioTime’s Chief Executive Officer, Dr. West served as Chief Executive Officer, President, and Chief Scientific Officer
of Advanced Cell Technology, Inc., a company engaged in developing human stem cell technology for use in regenerative medicine. Dr. West also founded
Geron Corporation, and from 1990 to 1998 he was a director and Vice-President of Geron, where he initiated and managed programs in telomerase
diagnostics, oligonucleotide-based telomerase inhibition as anti-tumor therapy, and the cloning and use of telomerase in telomerase-mediated therapy
wherein telomerase is utilized to immortalize human cells. From 1995 to 1998 he organized and managed the research between Geron and its academic
collaborators, James Thomson and John Gearhart, which led to the first isolation of human embryonic stem and human embryonic germ cells. Dr. West
received a B.S. Degree from Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute in 1976, an M.S. Degree in Biology from Andrews University in 1982, and a Ph.D. from Baylor
College of Medicine in 1989 concentrating on the biology of cellular aging.

Dr. West is an internationally renowned pioneer and expert in stem cell research, and has extensive academic and business experience in age-related
degenerative diseases, telomerase molecular biology, and human embryonic stem cell research and development. Dr. West brings to our Board the proven
ability to conceive of and manage innovative research and development programs that have made scientifically significant discoveries in the field of human
embryonic stem cells, and the ability to build companies focused on the great potential of regenerative medicine.

Audit Committee

The audit committee currently consists of Mr. LeBuhn (chair), Mr. Arno and Mr. Ricciardi. Our board of directors has determined that each member
of the audit committee is an independent director under Section 803(A)(2) of the NYSE MKT Company Guide and meets the applicable additional eligibility
standards for audit committee service under Section 803(B)(2) of the NYSE MKT Company Guide. In addition, our board of directors has determined that Mr.
LeBuhn qualifies as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 407(d)(5) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Mr. LeBuhn’s expertise is based on his experience and qualifications described under “Directors” above.

The primary purpose of the audit committee is to oversee our accounting and financial reporting processes, including our internal controls system,
and audits of our financial statements. The responsibilities of the audit committee include appointing and providing for the compensation of an independent
registered public accounting firm to conduct an annual audit of our financial statements, overseeing the work and evaluating the performance of the
independent auditor, reviewing and evaluating our accounting principles and practices, approving all professional services to be provided to us by our
independent registered public accounting firm, reviewing and overseeing any related party transactions, overseeing implementation and enforcement of our
insider trading policy and reviewing and evaluating any significant financial risk exposures facing our company and the steps our management has taken to
control and monitor such exposures. The audit committee is governed by a written charter approved by our board of directors. A copy of the Audit Committee
charter has been posted on our internet website and may be found at www.asteriasbiotherapeutics.com.
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (“Code of Ethics”) that applies to our principal executive officers, our principal financial
officer and accounting officer, our other executive officers, and our directors. The purpose of the Code of Ethics is to promote (i) honest and ethical conduct,
including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships; (ii) full, fair, accurate, timely, and
understandable disclosure in reports and documents that we file with or submit to the SEC and in our other public communications; (iii) compliance with
applicable governmental rules and regulations; (iv) prompt internal reporting of violations of the Code of Ethics to an appropriate person or persons
identified in the Code of Ethics; and (v) accountability for adherence to the Code of Ethics. A copy of our Code of Ethics has been posted on our internet
website and can be found at www.asteriasbiotherapeutics.com. We intend to disclose any future amendments to certain provisions of our Code of Ethics, and
any waivers of those provisions granted to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons
performing similar functions, by posting the information on our website within four business days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

Family Relationships

There are no family relationships among any of our officers or directors.

Process for Communicating with Board Members

Interested parties may communicate with any and all members our Board by transmitting correspondence addressed to one or more Directors by
name at the following address: Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc., 6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, California 94555, c/o Corporate Secretary. Communications
from our stockholders to one or more Directors will be collected and organized by our Corporate Secretary and will be forwarded to the Chairman of the
Board or to the identified Director(s) as soon as practicable. If multiple communications are received on a similar topic, the Corporate Secretary may, in his or
her discretion, forward only representative correspondence.

The Chairman of the Board will determine whether any communication addressed to the entire Board should be properly addressed by the entire
Board or a committee thereof. If a communication is sent to the Board or a Committee, the Chairman of the Board or the Chairman of that committee, as the
case may be, will determine whether a response to the communication is warranted.

Executive Officers

Our executive officers are Stephen L. Cartt, President and Chief Executive Officer, Russell L. Skibsted, Chief Financial Officer, Jane S. Lebkowski,
Ph.D., President of Research and Development, Katharine E. Spink, Ph.D., Vice President and Chief Operating Officer, and Edward D. Wirth III, Chief Medical
Officer. The biographies of Mr. Cartt are included above under “Directors.”

Russell L. Skibsted, 57, became our Chief Financial Officer in March 2016, and is also the Chief Financial Officer of BioTime, Inc. ("BioTime"),
which is the majority-owner of Asterias. Prior to joining BioTime in November 2015, Mr. Skibsted was Chief Financial Officer of Proove Biosciences, Inc.
since 2014. From 2013 to 2014, Mr. Skibsted was Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of RSL Ventures, where he provided financial consulting
services to public and private companies in the life sciences sector. Mr. Skibsted served as Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary of
Aeolus Pharmaceuticals, a publicly traded biopharma company, from 2010 to 2013, and was Senior Vice President and Chief Business Officer of Spectrum
Pharmaceuticals, a publicly traded biopharmaceutical company, from 2006 to 2009. From 2004 to 2006, Mr. Skibsted served as Chief Financial Officer of
Hana Biosciences, and from 2000 to 2004 he served as Chief Financial Officer and Portfolio Management Partner of Asset Management Company, a venture
capital firm. Mr. Skibsted holds a B.A. in economics from Claremont McKenna College and an MBA from the Stanford Graduate School of Business.

Jane S. Lebkowski, Ph.D., 59, became our President of Research and Development during March 2013 after a 13-year career at Geron where she
served as Senior Vice President, Cell Therapies from 2004 to 2011, and also as Chief Scientific Officer from 2009 to 2011. From August 1999 until January
2004, Dr. Lebkowski served as Vice President of Cell Therapies, and from April 1998 until August 1999, she served as Senior Director, Cell and Gene
Therapies at Geron. Dr. Lebkowski managed research and development of Geron’s immunotherapy products for cancer treatment and its human embryonic
stem cell based products for regenerative medicine. Prior to joining Geron, she spent more than ten years at Applied Immune Sciences and then at Rhone
Poulenc Rorer, which acquired Applied Immune Sciences in 1995, advancing from research scientist to Vice President of Research and Development. Dr.
Lebkowski has co-authored numerous scientific publications. Dr. Lebkowski holds a B.S. in Chemistry and Biology from Syracuse University, and a Ph.D.
from Princeton University.
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Katharine E. Spink, Ph.D., 41, became our Vice President and Chief Operating Officer during March 2013, after an eight year career at Geron where
she served as Senior Vice President of Alliance Management and Cell Therapy Product Development, and of Operations, Cell Therapies during 2011; Vice
President of Operations, Regenerative Medicine Programs from 2009 to 2011; and Senior Director of Program Operations, Regenerative Medicine from 2008
to 2009. From January 2007 until January 2008, Dr. Spink served as Program Director for Cardiovascular Disease, and was Assistant Director, and then
Associate Director of Corporate Development during 2003 to 2006. Dr. Spink holds a B.A. in Biochemistry from Rice University, and a Ph.D. in Cancer
Biology from Stanford University School of Medicine.

Edward D. Wirth, III, M.D., Ph.D., 50, became our Chief Translational Officer during March 2013, and has been our Chief Medical Officer since
May 2015. Prior to that Mr. Wirth served as Chief Science Officer at InVivo Therapeutics Corporation from 2011 to 2012. From 2004 to 2011, Dr. Wirth
served as Medical Director for Regenerative Medicine at Geron, where he led the world’s first clinical trial of a human embryonic stem cell derived product,
GRNOPC1 in patients with subacute spinal cord injuries. Dr. Wirth held academic appointments at Rush-Presbyterian St. Luke’s Medical Center and at the
University of Chicago from 2002 to 2004, and was a member of the faculty of the University of Florida from 1996 to 2002. Dr. Wirth received his Ph.D. and
M.D. and from the University of Florida in 1992 and 1994, respectively.

Other Key Employees

Casey C. Case, Ph.D., 60, became our Senior Vice President of Research and Nonclinical Development in March 2014. Before joining Asterias, Dr.
Case served as Executive Vice President of Research at SanBio Inc. from 2006 to 2014, developing cell therapies for stroke and neurodegenerative
conditions. Previously, Dr. Case was Vice President of Research and Operations at Sangamo Biosciences Inc. from 1997to 2005, Director of Cell Biology at
Tularik Inc. from 1993 to 1997, and Director of Transcription Research at OSI Pharmaceuticals Inc. from 1989 to 1993. Dr. Case received his Ph.D. in
Biochemistry from the University of California, Davis in 1985, and did postdoctoral research at UCLA from 1985 to 1989. Dr. Case and has over 40 issued
patents.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation in Compensation Decisions

The compensation committee currently consists of Mr. Ricciardi (chair), Mr. Arno and Mr. LeBuhn. Our Board of Directors has determined that each
member of the Compensation Committee is an independent director under, as defined in the NYSE MKT Company Guide. We did not have a Compensation
Committee prior to June 24, 2013, and compensation of our executive officers during the last fiscal year prior to that date was determined by our Board of
Directors. Executive officers who also served as directors did not vote on matters pertaining to their own personal compensation. None of the directors who
served on the Compensation Committee during the last fiscal year was a current or former officer or employee of Asterias, or had any relationship with
Asterias requiring disclosure in this report under Item 404 of SEC Regulation S-K. During last fiscal year, none of our executive officers served as (a) a
member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board
of directors) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served on our Board of Directors, (b) a director of another entity, one of whose executive
officers served on our Board of Directors, or (c) a member of the compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in
the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of another entity, one of whose executive officers served on our Board of Directors, except
Michael D. West, and Robert W. Peabody, served on the board of directors our parent company BioTime.
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Summary Compensation

The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31,
2014 by our former President and Chief Executive Officer, and the two next most highly compensated executive officers (collectively, our “Named Executive
Officers”).

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
 

Name  Principal Position  Year   Salary   Bonus   
Option

Awards (1)   
Stock

Awards    
All other

Compensation (2)  Total  
                         
Pedro Lichtinger 

(8)
 President and Chief

Executive Officer   2015  $ 407,000   -  $ 524,263(3)  $ 73,841 (3)  $ 9,000  $ 1,014,104 
     2014  $ 224,359   -  $ 1,409,456(4)  $ 468,000 (4)  $ 8,333  $ 2,110,148 
                                
Katharine E. Spink  Vice President and

Chief Operating
Officer   2015  $ 267,500   -  $ 622,848(5)(6) $ 87,432 (7)  $ 13,250  $ 991,030 

     2014  $ 250,000   -   -   -   $ 12,500  $ 262,500 
     2013  $ 157,500   -   293,898(6)   -   $ 5,156  $ 456,554 
                                
Georgia Erbez (9)  Vice President and

Chief Financial
Officer   2015  $ 47,596   -  $ 1,304,979(9)   -    -  $ 1,352,575 

(1) Option awards are valued at the aggregate grant date fair value, as if all options were fully vested and exercisable at the date of grant. Values are
computed in accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718. We used the Black-Sholes-Merton Pricing Model to
compute option fair values based on applicable exercise and stock prices, an expected option term ranging from 4.52 to 6.08 years, volatility ranging
from 75.03% to 78.38%, and bond equivalent yield discount rates ranging from 0.66% to 1.905% depending on the date of grant.

(2) Other compensation consists entirely of employer contributions to employee accounts under BioTime’s 401(k) plan in which employees of BioTime
subsidiaries, including Asterias, are entitled to participate.

(3) Mr. Lichtinger was granted options to purchase 200,000 Series A Shares under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. In addition, Mr. Lichtinger received
17,949 RSUs. These RSUs and options were granted under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. The options are subject to time-based vesting
whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12 full months of continuous employment of Mr. Lichtinger by Asterias measured
from the grant date, and the balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal monthly installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of
grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment of Mr. Lichtinger by Asterias. Each RSU represents a contingent right to
receive one share of Asterias' Series A Shares. The RSUs are subject to time-based vesting in four equal quarterly payments beginning on June 30,
2015. In connection with the separation agreement entered into with Mr. Lichtinger on March 10, 2016, half of the unvested options granted to Mr.
Lichtinger were cancelled following his departure from Asterias on February 29, 2016.

(4) Mr. Lichtinger was granted was granted options to purchase 1,000,000 Series A Shares and 200,000 shares of restricted stock at $2.34 per share under
the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan in 2014. The restricted stock was subject to restrictions on transfer and to forfeiture until the shares vested. The
restricted stock vested at the rate of 16,667 shares per month while Mr. Lichtinger remained employed by Asterias. The options are subject to time-
based vesting in equal monthly installments over a four-year period beginning on the one month anniversary from the date of the grant, provided that
Mr. Lichtinger remains employed with Asterias through the vesting dates. All of the unvested options granted to Mr. Lichtinger were cancelled and all
of the unexercised vested options were forfeited following his departure from Asterias on February 29, 2016.

(5) Dr. Spink was granted options to purchase 100,000 Series A Shares under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan in 2015. The options are exercisable at an
exercise price of $5.45 per share. The options are subject to time-based vesting in equal calendar quarterly installments over a four-year period
beginning December 1, 2015, provided that Dr. Spink remains employed with Asterias through the vesting dates.
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(6) Dr. Spink was granted options to purchase 100,000 Series A Shares and 200,000 Series A Shares under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan in 2015 and
2013 respectively. The options are exercisable at an exercise price of $3.90 per share and $2.34 per share for 2015 and 2013, respectively. The 2015
options are subject to time-based vesting whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12 full months of continuous employment
of Dr. Spink by Asterias measured from the grant date, and the remaining balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal monthly installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment of Dr. Spink by
Asterias The 2013 options are subject to time-based vesting in equal monthly installments over a four-year period beginning on the one month
anniversary from the date of the grant, provided that Dr. Spink remains employed with Asterias through the vesting dates.

(7) Dr. Spink received 21,153 RSUs in 2015. These RSUs and options were granted under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. Each RSU represents a
contingent right to receive one share of Asterias’ Series A Shares. The RSUs are subject to time-based vesting in four equal quarterly payments
beginning on June 30, 2015. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of Asterias’ Series A Shares.

(8) Half of the unvested options granted to Mr. Lichtinger were cancelled following his departure from Asterias on February 29, 2016.

(9) Ms. Erbez was appointed as our Chief Financial Officer on November 9, 2015. As a part of Ms. Erbez’s initial compensation package, she was granted
options to purchase 380,000 Series A Shares under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. The options are exercisable at an exercise price of $5.16 per share.
The options are subject to time-based vesting whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12 full months of continuous
employment of Ms. Erbez by Asterias measured from the grant date, and the balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal monthly installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment of Ms. Erbez by
Asterias. All of the unvested options granted to Ms. Erbez were cancelled upon her departure from Asterias as of March 2016.

Stock Options Outstanding at Year End

The following table summarizes certain information concerning Asterias stock options held by our Named Executive Officers as of December 31,
2015.
 

Name  

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
Exercisable   

Number of
Securities

Underlying
Unexercised

Options
Unexercisable   

Option
Exercise

Price  

Option
Expiration

Date
(1)  

Number of
Shares or
Units of

Stock that
have not
Vested

(2)   

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of
Stock

that have
not

Vested  
                 

  437,500   562,500(1)  $ 2.34 June 8, 2021     
Pedro Lichtinger(5)                    
   -   200,000(3)  $ 3.90 February 12, 2025     
                5,983  $ 23,513 
                      

  133,333   66,667(1)  $ 2.34 March 9, 2020         
Katharine E. Spink                      
   -   100,000(3)  $ 3.90 February 12, 2025         
                      
   12,500   87,500(4)  $ 5.45 November 3, 2025      
                7,052  $ 27,714 
                      
Georgia Erbez(6)   -   380,000(3)  $ 5.16 November 8, 2025   -   - 
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(1) These options are exercisable for Asterias Series A Shares and become exercisable in 48 equal monthly installments during the term of employment by
Asterias.

(2) These RSUs are subject to time-based vesting and will vest entirely on March 31, 2016.

(3) These options are subject to time-based vesting whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12 full months of continuous
employment by Asterias measured from the grant date, and the balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal monthly installments commencing on the
first anniversary of the date of grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment by Asterias.

(4) These options are subject to time-based vesting in equal quarterly installments over a four-year period beginning December 1, 2015, provided that Dr.
Spink remains employed with Asterias through the vesting dates.

(5) Half of the unvested options granted to Mr. Lichtinger were cancelled following his departure from Asterias on February 29, 2016.

(6) All of the options granted to Ms. Erbez were unvested and cancelled upon her departure from Asterias as of March 2016.

Other Compensation Plans

We do not have any pension plans, defined benefit plans, or non-qualified deferred compensation plans. We do make contributions to 401(k) plans
for participating executive officers and other employees.

Risk Considerations and Recoupment Policies

The Compensation Committee considers, in establishing and reviewing the executive compensation program, whether the program encourages
unnecessary or excessive risk taking. Our executive compensation arrangements include a fixed salary that provides a steady income so that executives do
not feel pressured to focus exclusively on stock price performance or short term financial targets to the detriment of our long-term operational and strategic
objectives. We supplement fixed salaries with discretionary bonus awards based on the executive’s performance as well as the performance of Asterias, and
bonus awards based on Astrerias’ receipt of research grant funding. The stock options that we have granted to our executive officers under the Equity
Incentive Plan vest over four years, assuring that the executives take a long-term perspective in viewing their equity ownership.

Because Asterias has not adopted compensation plans, or made incentive awards, based on quantified financial performance measures, we have not
adopted specific policies regarding the adjustment or recovery of awards or payments if the relevant performance measures are restated or otherwise adjusted
in a manner that would reduce the size of an award or payment. We may adopt such policies, however, if we adopt incentive compensation plans or grant
incentive bonuses based on financial performance measures.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code places a $1 million limit on the amount of compensation that a company can deduct in any one year
for compensation paid to its chief executive officer and the three most highly-compensated executive officers employed by the company at the end of the
year, other than the company’s chief financial officer. The $1 million deduction limit does not apply to compensation that is performance-based and
provided under a shareholder-approved plan. The Compensation Committee has never awarded cash compensation, in the form of salary and bonuses, in
excess of the $1 million limit. Asterias’ stock option awards are designed to qualify for tax deductibility. Notwithstanding the foregoing, we may elect to pay
compensation to executive officers that may not be fully deductible if we believe that is necessary to attract, retain and reward high-performing executives.
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Compensation of Directors

Directors and members of committees of the Board of Directors who are our salaried employees or officers are entitled to receive compensation as
employees or officers but are not compensated for serving as directors or attending meetings of the Board or committees of the Board. All directors are
entitled to reimbursements for their out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending meetings of the Board or committees of the Board.

For 2014, each director who is not an Asterias officer or employee, other than the Chairman of the Board of Directors, received an annual fee of
$15,000 in cash, plus a fee of $1,000 for regular or special meeting of the Board attended in person and $500 for regular or special meeting of the Board
attended by telephone conference, and options to purchase 20,000 Series A Shares under our 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. For 2014, the Chairman of the
Board of Directors received an annual fee of $50,000 in cash, plus $1,000 for each regular or special meeting of the Board attended in person and $500 for
regular or special meeting of the Board attended by telephone conference, and options to purchase 75,000 Series A Shares under our 2013 Equity Incentive
Plan.

The annual fee of cash will be paid, and the stock options granted will vest and become exercisable, in four equal quarterly installments, provided
that the director remains a director on the last day of the applicable quarter. The options will expire if not exercised five years from the date of grant.

Directors who serve on the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee shall receive, in addition to other fees payable to them as directors,
the following annual fees:

· Audit Committee Chairman: $10,000

· Audit Committee Member other than Chairman: $7,000

· Compensation Committee Chairman: $7,500

· Compensation Committee Member other than Chairman: $5,000

· Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chairman: $7,500

· Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Member other than Chairman: $5,000

Members of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee receive a fee of $1,000 for meetings attended in person and $500 for meetings
attended by telephone conference.

Because we are a subsidiary of BioTime, directors are also eligible to receive stock options or to purchase restricted stock under the BioTime’s 2012
Equity Incentive Plan. An award to any of our directors under BioTime’s 2012 Equity Incentive Plan may be made only if approved by the BioTime Board of
Directors or by its compensation committee.

The following table summarizes certain information concerning the compensation paid during the past fiscal year to each of the current members of
the persons who served as directors during the year ended December 31, 2015 and who were not employees of Asterias or BioTime on the date the
compensation was earned.

Name  

Fees
Earned or

Paid in
Cash   

Option
Awards (1)   Total  

Alfred D. Kingsley(2)  $ 57,500  $ 143,991  $ 201,491 
Andrew Arno  $ 48,000  $ 63,002  $ 111,002 
Richard LeBuhn  $ 51,500  $ 63,002  $ 114,502 
Natale S. Ricciardi  $ 51,500  $ 63,002  $ 114,502 
Robert W. Peabody(3)  $ 4,750  $ -  $ 4,750 
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(1) Those of our directors who were serving on the Board of Directors on April 1, 2015 and who are not salaried employees of Asterias each received an
award of stock options entitling them to purchase 20,000 Series A Shares as partial compensation for serving on the Board of Directors for a period of one
year, except Mr. Kingsley. The options will vest and become exercisable in equal quarterly installments over a one-year period, but must be reported here
at the aggregate grant date fair value, as if all options were fully vested and exercisable at the date of grant. Values are computed in accordance with
FASB Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 718. We used the Black-Sholes-Merton Pricing Model to compute option fair values. The
assumptions underlying the valuation of the Asterias options are as follows: stock price of $6.22, exercise price of $6.22, expected term of 2.72 years,
volatility of 81.91%, and a bond equivalent yield discount rate of 0.86%.

(2) Mr. Kingsley received 75,000 stock options as partial compensation for serving in his capacity as Chairman of the Board. The assumptions underlying
the valuation of the Asterias options are as follows: stock price of $3.85, exercise price of $3.90, expected term of 2.72 years, volatility of 80.82%, and a
bond equivalent yield discount rate of 1.03%.

(3) Payment of director fees to Mr. Peabody began following his resignation as Chief Financial Officer of BioTime and Astrerias in November 2015.

Employment Agreements; Change in Control Payments

Pedro Lichtinger

Mr. Lichtinger was appointed as our President and Chief Executive Officer on June 9, 2014 and we entered into an employment agreement with Mr.
Lichtinger, whereby Mr. Lichtinger was paid an annual base salary of $400,000 per year. In February 2015, Mr. Lichtinger received a $7,000 increase to his
annual salary, which was pro-rated based on his June 9, 2014 hiring date. Mr. Lichtinger was granted options under our Equity Incentive Plan to purchase
1,000,000 shares of our Series A Shares. The options granted have an exercise price of $2.34 per share, which is based on the fair market value of our Series A
Shares as determined by our Board of Directors, and will vest, and thereby become exercisable, in 48 equal monthly installments based upon Mr. Lichtinger’s
continued employment, and will expire if not exercised in seven years from the date of grant. In addition, Mr. Lichtinger received 200,000 shares of
“Restricted Stock” under our Equity Incentive Plan which are subject to restrictions on transfer and to forfeiture until the shares vest. The Restricted Stock
will vest at the rate of 16,667 shares per month while Mr. Lichtinger remains employed by us. Mr. Lichtinger may receive salary increases, bonuses, and
additional awards of stock options and Restricted Stock approved by the Board of Directors, implementing a compensation philosophy which targets the
50th percentile of a group of comparator companies selected by the Board of Directors or a compensation committee of the Board of Directors, and in the case
of bonuses, based on the attainment of goals or milestones set by the Board of Directors or a compensation committee of the Board of Directors.

Mr. Lichtinger’s employment agreement contains provisions entitling him to severance benefits under certain circumstances. If we terminate Mr.
Lichtinger’s employment without “cause” or if he resigns for “good reason” as those terms are defined in his employment agreement, he will be entitled to
severance benefits. If Mr. Lichtinger has been employed by Asterias for one year or less, his severance benefits will be payment of three months base salary. If
he has been employed by us for more than one year, his severance benefits will be payment of six months base salary and 50% of his then unvested Asterias
stock options will vest. The cash severance compensation may be paid in a lump sum or, at our election, in installments consistent with the payment of the
executive’s salary while employed by us. If Mr. Lichtinger’s employment is terminated without “cause” or if he resigns for “good reason” within twelve
months following a “Change of Control,” he will be entitled to twelve months base salary, payable in a lump sum, and 100% of his then unvested Asterias
options will vest and the restrictions on 100% of his Restricted Stock will expire.

Mr. Lichtinger served as our President and Chief Executive Officer through February 29, 2016. On March 10, 2016, we entered into a separation
agreement with Mr. Lichtinger. Under the terms of the separation agreement, and consistent with the terms of his employment agreement we agreed to pay Mr.
Lichtinger severance in the amount of $475,000 plus accrued and unpaid wages and unused vacation. In addition, the severance agreement provides for
accelerated vesting of any unvested restricted  stock and 50% of unvested stock options that were previously granted to Mr. Lichtinger.
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Georgia Erbez

We entered into an employment agreement with Georgia Erbez, whereby Ms. Erbez was paid an annual base salary of $330,000 per year. In addition
to Ms. Erbez’s annual salary, in November 2015, she received a grant of options to purchase 380,000 Series A shares (145,223 ISO and 234,777 NQSO). The
options granted have an exercise price of $5.16 and are subject to time-based vesting whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12
full months of continuous employment of Ms. Erbez by Asterias measured from the grant date, and the remaining balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal
monthly installments commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment of
Ms. Erbez by Asterias.

Ms. Erbez’s employment agreement contains provisions entitling her to severance benefits under certain circumstances. If Ms. Erbez has been
employed by Asterias for one year or less, her severance benefits will be payment of three months base salary. If she has been employed by us for more than
one year, her severance benefits will be payment of six months base salary and 50% of her then unvested Asterias stock options will vest. The cash severance
compensation may be paid in a lump sum or, at our election, in installments consistent with the payment of the executive’s salary while employed by us. If
Ms. Erbez’s employment is terminated without “cause” within twelve months following a “Change of Control,” she will be entitled to twelve months base
salary, payable in a lump sum, and 100% of her then unvested Asterias options will vest. In order to receive the severance benefits, Ms. Erbez must execute a
general release of all claims against us and must return all our property in her possession.

Ms. Erbez served as our Chief Financial Officer through March 11, 2016. On March 21, 2016, we entered into a separation agreement with Mr. Erbez.
Under the terms of the separation agreement, and consistent with the obligations under her employment agreement, we agreed to pay Ms. Erbez severance in
the amount of $110,000 plus accrued and unpaid wages and unused vacation.

Dr. Katharine E. Spink

We entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Spink, whereby Dr. Spink is paid an annual base salary of $255,000 per year, and in July 2015,
Dr. Spink received a $25,000 increase in her annual salary. In addition to Dr. Spink’s annual salary, during 2015 Dr. Spink was granted options to purchase
100,000 Series A Shares under the 2013 Equity Incentive Plan in February and in November. The options granted in February are exercisable at an exercise
price of $3.90 per share and are subject to time-based vesting whereby one quarter of the options shall vest upon completion of 12 full months of continuous
employment of Dr. Spink by Asterias measured from the grant date, and the remaining balance of the options shall vest in 36 equal monthly installments
commencing on the first anniversary of the date of grant, based upon the completion of each month of continuous employment of Dr. Spink by Asterias. The
options granted in November are exercisable at an exercise price of $5.45 per share and are subject to time-based vesting in equal calendar quarterly
installments over a four-year period beginning December 1, 2015, provided that Dr. Spink remains employed with Asterias through the vesting dates.

Dr. Spink’s employment agreement contains provisions entitling her to severance benefits under certain circumstances. If we terminate Dr. Spink’s
employment without “cause” as those terms are defined in her employment agreement, she will be entitled to severance benefits. If Dr. Spink has been
employed by Asterias for one year or less, her severance benefits will be payment of three months base salary. If she has been employed by us for more than
one year, her severance benefits will be payment of six months base salary and 50% of her then unvested Asterias stock options will vest. The cash severance
compensation may be paid in a lump sum or, at our election, in installments consistent with the payment of the executive’s salary while employed by us. If
Dr. Spink's employment is terminated without “cause” within twelve months following a “Change of Control,” she will be entitled to twelve months base
salary, payable in a lump sum, and 100% of her then unvested Asterias options will vest and the restrictions on 100% of her Restricted Stock will expire.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management, and Related Stockholder Matters

Equity Compensation Plan Information
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER 2013 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

The following table provides information as of December 31, 2015 about our Series A Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of options,
warrants and rights under our existing equity compensation plan (in thousands).

Plan category  

Number of
securities

to be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding

options,
warrants and

rights   

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights   

Number of
securities
remaining
available

for future issuance
under equity

compensation
plans  

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders   5,178  $ 3.17   2,067 
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   —   —   — 

Total   5,178  $ 3.17   2,067 

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table and accompanying footnotes present information about the beneficial ownership of our Series A Shares, as of March 23, 2016
by each shareholder known by us to be the beneficial owner of 5% or more of our common stock. Information concerning certain beneficial owners of more
than 5% of the common stock is based upon information disclosed by such owners in their reports on Schedule 13D or Schedule 13G. Under Rule 13d-3, a
beneficial owner of a security includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or otherwise
has or shares: (i) voting power, which includes the power to vote, or to direct the voting of shares; and (ii) investment power, which includes the power to
dispose or direct the disposition of shares. Certain shares may be deemed to be beneficially owned by more than one person (if, for example, persons share the
power to vote or the power to dispose of the shares). In addition, shares are deemed to be beneficially owned by a person if the person has the right to acquire
the shares (for example, upon exercise of an option) within 60 days of the date as of which the information is provided. In computing the percentage
ownership of any person, the amount of shares outstanding is deemed to include the amount of shares beneficially owned by such person (and only such
person) by reason of these acquisition rights. As a result, the percentage of outstanding shares of any person as shown in this table does not necessarily reflect
the person’s actual ownership or voting power with respect to the number of shares of common stock actually outstanding as of the date of this Annual
Report. As of the date of this Annual Report, there were 38,352,150 Series A Shares issued and outstanding.

Except as indicated in footnotes to this table, we believe that the stockholders named in this table have sole voting and investment power with
respect to all shares of common stock shown to be beneficially owned by them, based on information provided to us by such stockholders.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

 Number of Shares  
Percent
of Total  

     
BioTime, Inc.
1301 Harbor Bay Parkway, Suite 100
Alameda, CA 94502   

21,747,569

   

56.70%

         
Romulus Films, Ltd(1)
Wessex House
1 Chesham Street
London SW1X 8ND
United Kingdom   

2,913,430

   

7.53%

 

 
(1) Includes 2,563,430 Series A Shares held by Romulus Films and affiliates and 350,000 Series A Shares that Romulus Films may acquire upon the exercise

of warrants at $5.00 per share expiring on September 30, 2016.
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The following table and accompanying footnotes present information about the beneficial ownership of our Series A Shares, as of March 23, 2016
by each of our Named Executive Officers, directors, and all our executive officers and directors as a group.

Security Ownership of Management

  Number of Shares   Percent of Total 
       
Stephen L. Cartt(1)   41,666   * 
         
Russell L. Skibsted   -   * 
         
Pedro Lichtinger(2)   1,367,521   3.49%
         
Katharine E. Spink(3)   207,590   * 
         
Georgia Erbez(4)   -   * 
         
Robert W. Peabody(5)   112,772   * 
         
Michael D. West(6)   86,377   * 
         
Judith Segall(7)   13,125   * 
         
Alfred D. Kingsley(8)   230,000   * 
         
Richard LeBuhn(9)   45,000   * 
         
Andrew Arno(9)   45,000   * 
         
Natale S. Ricciardi(9)   45,000   * 
         
Don Bailey(10)   18,750   * 
         
All executive officers and directors as a group (13 persons)(11)   1,334,102   3.36%
 

 
* Less than 1%

(1) Includes 41,666 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days. Excludes
958,334 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become
exercisable within 60 days. Excludes 200,000 shares of Restricted Stock as to which the restrictions on transfer have not expired or will not expire within
60 days.

(2) Includes 328,205 Series A Shares owned by Mr. Lichtinger, 200,000 shares of Restricted Stock as to which the restrictions on transfer have expired,
833,333 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options, and 5,983 Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) granted in February
2015 under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive Plan. Mr. Lichtinger is no longer our President and Chief Executive Officer and has resigned from our Board
of Directors. His beneficial ownership information is provided herewith because he is a Named Executive Officer during 2015.
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(3) Includes 177,726 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options, 22,812 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the
exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days and 7,052 RSUs granted in February 2015 under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive
Plan that will vest within 60 days. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of Asterias’ Series A Shares. The RSUs are subject to time-
based vesting in four equal quarterly payments beginning on June 30, 2015. Excludes 364,464 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of
certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60 days.

(4) Ms. Erbez is no longer the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, and her beneficial ownership information is provided herewith because she was a
Named Executive Officer during 2015.

(5) Includes 41 Series A Shares owned by Mr. Peabody, 99,478 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options, 12,292
Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days and 961 RSUs granted in February
2015 under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive Plan that will vest within 60 days. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of Asterias’
Series A Shares. The RSUs are subject to time-based vesting in four equal quarterly payments beginning on June 30, 2015. Excludes 83,230 Series A
Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60
days.

(6) Includes 80,416 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options, 5,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the
exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days and 961 RSUs granted in February 2015 under the Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive
Plan that will vest within 60 days. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of Asterias’ Series A Shares. The RSUs are subject to time-
based vesting in four equal quarterly payments beginning on June 30, 2015. Excludes 34,584 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of
certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60 days.

(7) Includes 11,874 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options and 1,251 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the
exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days. Excludes 16,875 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain
stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60 days.

(8) Includes 225,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options and 5,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon
the exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days. Excludes 15,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of
certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60 days.

(9) Includes 35,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock and 10,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the
exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days. Excludes 15,000 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain
stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable within 60 days.

(10)Includes 18,750 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of stock options that will become exercisable within 60 days. Excludes 56,250
Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become exercisable
within 60 days.

(11)Includes 476 Series A Shares owned by Dr. Lebkowski, 41 Series A Shares owned by Mr. Peabody, 1,144,284 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon
the exercise of certain stock options, 168,022 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that will become
exercisable within 60 days, and 21,279 RSUs granted in February 2015 under Asterias’ 2013 Equity Incentive Plan that will vest within 60 day. Excludes
1,847,694 Series A Shares that may be acquired upon the exercise of certain stock options that are not presently exercisable and that will not become
exercisable within 60 days, 200,000 shares of Restricted Stock as to which the restrictions have not expired and will not expire within 60 days and
beneficial ownership of Pedro Lichtinger and Georgia Erbez, who are not an executive officer or a director as of the date of this report.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The following is a description of transactions, during the 2015 fiscal year, to which we have been a party, in which the amount involved exceeded or
will exceed $120,000, and in which any related person had a direct or indirect material interest.
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2015 Private Placement
 
In February 2015, Asterias raised approximately $5.5 million in aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of 1,410,255 Series A Shares at a price of

$3.90 per share through an underwritten public offering and a private placement. Broadwood Partners, L.P., British & American Investment Trust PLC and
Pedro Lichtinger purchased an aggregate of 1,025,640 of the shares. Broadwood Partners, L.P. is BioTime’s largest shareholder, of its directors, Neal C.
Bradsher, is President of Broadwood Capital, Inc., the investment manager of Broadwood Partners, L.P., and one of Asterias’ directors, Richard T. LeBuhn, is
Senior Vice President of Broadwood Capital, Inc., Pedro Lichtinger is Asterias’ Chief Executive Officer and a member of its Board of Directors. British &
American Investment Trust PLC is an affiliate of a stockholder of Asterias and BioTime.

Cross License Agreements and Related Share Transfer Agreement

On February 16, 2016, we entered into a Cross-License Agreement (the “Cross-License”) with our majority parent, BioTime, Inc. ("BioTime") and
BioTime's wholly owned subsidiary ES Cell International Pte Ltd (“ESI”). Under the terms of a Cross-License, we received a fully-paid, non-royalty-bearing,
world-wide, non-exclusive, sub-licensable license under certain BioTime patents and related patent rights and ESI patents and related patent rights specified
in the Cross-License, for all purposes in the Asterias Licensed Field during the term of the license. The Asterias Licensed Field includes all therapeutic
applications of use for certain BioTime patents and ESI patents except all therapeutic applications of use involving pluripotent stem cell-derived cells of the
following lineages: (a) bone and orthopedic soft tissues, including but not limited to ligament, tendon, meniscus, cartilage, and intervertebral disc; (b)
vascular endothelium and perivascular cells including vascular smooth muscle and vascular pericytes; (c) adipose tissue; and (d) retinal pigment epithelium.
The Asterias Licensed Field also includes all applications of use for certain other BioTime patents involving live human pluripotent stem cell-derived cell
therapies directed to the neural spinal cord (excluding cartilage and bone of the spine) and the myocardium; and also live human pluripotent stem cell-
derived glial cell therapies directed to the central nervous system.

Under the terms of the Cross-License, BioTime and ESI received a fully-paid, non-royalty-bearing, world-wide, non-exclusive, sub-licensable license
in, to, and under the certain Asterias patents and related patent rights for all purposes in the BioTime/ESI Licensed Field during the term of the license. The
BioTime/ESI Licensed Field includes all fields of use except any and all applications (a) to treat disorders of the nervous system, and (b) utilizing the
immune system to prevent, treat, or cure cancer, and (c) involving the use of cells comprising, derived from, or manufactured using, human embryonic stem
cells or human induced pluripotent stem cells for in vitro assay applications, including but not limited to drug discovery and development, drug monitoring,
drug toxicology testing, and consumer products testing.

We also entered into a Share Transfer Agreement with BioTime and ESI pursuant to which (a) Asterias transferred to BioTime 2,100,000 shares of
common stock of OrthoCyte Corporation (“OrthoCyte) and 21,925 ordinary shares of Cell Cure Neurosciences Ltd (“Cell Cure”), each a majority-owned
subsidiary of BioTime and (b) BioTime transferred to Asterias 75,771 shares of Series A Common Stock of Asterias and warrants to purchase 3,150,000 Series
A common stock of Asterias at an exercise price of $5.00 per share, expiring September 30, 2016 (“Warrants”), as additional consideration for the license of
patents and patent rights from Asterias under the Cross License.

The value of the consideration given and received by Asterias and BioTime was approximately $4.0 million. Asterias engaged Lake Street Capital as
its independent valuation firm in the transaction. Lake Street Capital provided an valuation opinion to us Asterias in connection with the transaction.

Approval by the Board of Directors

All of the transactions described above were reviewed directly by the Board, and the Board determined whether to approve or withhold approval of
each transaction. The Board applied such criteria as it determined to be appropriate in connection with its evaluation of each proposed transaction on a
transaction by transaction basis, and did not have any written guidelines, other than BioTime’s Code of Ethics, governing the Board’s exercise of its
discretion. The directors considered such factors as they deemed relevant to the particular transaction.
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During March 2013, we adopted a Related Person Transaction Policy that will apply to transactions exceeding $120,000 in which any of our
officers, directors, beneficial owners of more than 5% of our common stock, or any member of their immediate family, has a direct or indirect material interest,
determined in accordance with the policy (a “Related Party Transaction”). However, the Related Party Transaction will not include transactions between us
and BioTime or any subsidiary of BioTime.

A Related Person Transaction must be reported to our outside legal counsel, and will be subject to review and approval by our “Disinterested
Directors,” prior to effectiveness or consummation, to the extent practical. In addition, any Related Person Transaction that is ongoing in nature will be
reviewed by our Disinterested Directors annually to ensure that the transaction has been conducted in accordance with any previous approval and that all
required disclosures regarding the transaction are made. A “Disinterested Director” is defined in our Related Person Transaction Policy as a member of our
Board of Directors who (a) does not have a financial interest (directly or through any trust or beneficial ownership of more than 5% of any class of voting
securities of any business entity) in the Related Person Transaction, and (b) does not have an Immediate Family Member with a financial interest (directly or
through any trust or beneficial ownership of more than 5% of any class of voting securities of any business entity) in the Related Person Transaction.

As appropriate for the circumstances, the Disinterested Directors will review and consider:

· the interest of the officer, director, beneficial owner of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or any member of their immediate
family (“Related Person”) in the Related Person Transaction;

· the approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the Related Person Transaction;

· the approximate dollar value of the amount of the Related Person’s interest in the transaction without regard to the amount of any profit or loss;

· whether the transaction was undertaken in the ordinary course of our business;

· whether the transaction with the Related Person is proposed to be, or was, entered into on terms no less favorable to us than terms that could
have been reached with an unrelated third party;

· the purpose of, and the potential benefits to the transaction to us; and

· any other information regarding the Related Person Transaction or the Related Person in the context of the proposed transaction that would be
material to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.

Our Disinterested Directors will review all relevant information available to it about a Related Person Transaction. Our Disinterested Directors may
approve or ratify the Related Person Transaction only if they determine that, under all of the circumstances, the transaction is in, or is not in conflict with, our
best interests. Our Disinterested Directors may, in their sole discretion, impose such conditions as they deem appropriate on us or the Related Person in
connection with approval of the Related Person Transaction.

Following the creation of our Audit Committee in June 2013, the Audit Committee makes all determinations under the Related Person Transaction
Policy instead of our Disinterested Directors.

The information required by Item 407(a) of Regulation S-K on Director Independence is incorporated herein by reference to "Corporate Governance"
in this Form 10-K/A.

Director Independence

Asterias Biotherapeutics is a “controlled company” under the Corporate Governance Rules of the NYSE MKT, which means that a majority of our
issued and outstanding voting stock is controlled by a single person or related group of persons (namely BioTime), and that Asterias has elected controlled
company status.
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A controlled company is exempted from certain rules otherwise applicable to companies whose securities are listed on NYSE MKT, including (i) the
requirement that a company have a majority of independent directors, (ii) the requirement that nominations to Asterias’ Board be either selected or
recommended by a nominating committee consisting solely of independent directors, and (iii) the requirement that officers’ compensation be either
determined or recommended by a compensation committee consisting solely of independent directors.

Pursuant to the NYSE MKT Company Guide, no director qualifies as independent until the Board makes an affirmative determination to that effect.
In making this determination, the Board must affirmatively conclude that the director does not have a material relationship with us that would interfere with
the exercise of his or her independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. The Board considers, among other factors, the director’s
current and historic relationships with us and our competitors, suppliers, customers and auditors, including compensation directly or indirectly paid to the
director; the director’s professional and family relationships with management and other directors; the relationships that the director’s current and former
employers may have with us; and the relationships between us and other companies of which the director may be a director or executive officer.

We have four independent directors on our Board. After considering the factors described in the previous paragraph, the Board has determined that
Richard T. LeBuhn, Andrew Arno, Natale S. Ricciardi and Don Bailey are independent. The NYSE MKT Company Guide requires that the independent
directors meet on a regular basis as often as necessary to fulfill their responsibilities, including at least annually in executive session. In addition to their
meetings as members of the Audit and Compensation Committees, of which they are the sole members, Mr. LeBuhn, Mr. Arno and Mr. Ricciardi meet at least
annually without the presence of non–independent directors and management in person in fulfillment of this NYSE MKT requirement during fiscal year
2014, in executive session each time.

Michael D. West and Judith Segall do not qualify as “independent” because they are full-time employees of our parent company, BioTime. Alfred D.
Kingsley does not qualify as “independent” because he served for a period of time as our Executive Chairman and also because he received compensation for
serving in an executive role as Chairman of certain of BioTime’s subsidiaries. Robert W. Peabody does not qualify as "independent" because he was our
Chief Financial Officer within the past three years. Stephen L. Cartt does not qualify as "independent" because he is currently our President and Chief
Executive Officer.

 
Compliance with Section 16(A) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Section 16(a) of Exchange Act, requires our directors and executive officers and persons who own more than ten percent (10%) of a registered class
of our equity securities to file with the SEC initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of common shares and other Asterias equity
securities. Officers, directors and greater than ten percent beneficial owners are required by SEC regulations to furnish us with copies of all reports they file
under Section 16(a).

To our knowledge, based solely on our review of the copies of such reports furnished to us, all Section 16(a) filing requirements applicable to our
officers, directors, and greater than ten percent beneficial owners were complied with during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

General

OUM & Co., LLP (“OUM”) served as our independent registered public accountants and audited our annual financial statements for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2015 and 2014.

On June 30, 2014, KPMG LLP acquired certain assets of ROTHSTEIN-KASS, P.A. (d/b/a Rothstein Kass & Company, P.C.) and certain of its
affiliates (“Rothstein Kass”), our independent registered public accounting firm. As a result of this transaction, on June 30, 2014, Rothstein Kass resigned as
our independent registered public accounting firm.

Rothstein Kass had audited our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2013, and for the periods from inception (September 24, 2012) to December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013, as set forth in their report. Following their
resignation, our Board of Directors approved the engagement of OUM as our new independent registered public accounting firm.
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The audit reports of Rothstein Kass on Asterias’ financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 did not contain
an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, and were not qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope or accounting principles.

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and through the subsequent interim period preceding Rothstein Kass’
resignation, there were no disagreements between us and Rothstein Kass on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or
auditing scope or procedures, which disagreements, if not resolved to the satisfaction of Rothstein Kass would have caused them to make reference thereto in
their reports on our financial statements for such years.

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and to December 31, 2012, and through the subsequent interim period preceding Rothstein Kass’
resignation, there were no reportable events within the meaning set forth in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of Regulation S-K.

During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, and through the subsequent interim period preceding OUM’s
engagement, we did not consult with OUM on either (1) the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or
the type of audit opinion that may be rendered on our financial statements, and OUM did not provide either a written report or oral advise to us that OUM
concluded was an important factor considered by us in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or (2) any matter that
was either the subject of a disagreement, as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(iv) of Regulation S-K, or a reportable event, as defined in Item 304(a)(1)(v) of
Regulation S-K.

The following table presents the aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by Rothstein Kass and OUM for the year ended December
31, 2014 and December 31, 2013.

Audit Fees, Audit Related Fees, Tax Fees and Other Fees

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to Asterias during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 by Rothstein Kass,
OUM, and Bolar, Hirsh, and Jennings:

  
Fiscal

2015 ($)   
Fiscal

2014 ($)  
       
Audit Fees (1)  $ 309,000  $ 372,000 
Audit Related Fees (2)   68,200   62,800 
Tax Fees (3)   20,500   60,300 
Total Fees  $ 397,700  $ 495,100 

(1) Audit Fees consist of fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of Asterias’ consolidated annual financial statements included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K and review of the interim consolidated financial statements included in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and services
that are normally provided by our independent registered public accountants in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements. For the
fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, aggregate fees for professional services billed by Rothstein Kass were $0 and $125,000, respectively
and by OUM were $309,000 and $247,000, respectively.

(2) Audit-Related Fees consist of fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of
Asterias’ consolidated financial statements and are not reported under “Audit Fees.” This category includes fees related to non-routine SEC filings. For
the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, aggregate fees for professional services billed by Rothstein Kass were $62,200 and $55,800,
respectively and by OUM were $6,000 and $7,000, respectively.

(3) Tax Fees were billed for services including assistance with tax compliance and the preparation of tax returns, tax consultation services, assistance in
connection with tax audits and tax advice related to mergers, acquisitions and dispositions. For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, fees
for professional services billed by Rothstein Kass were $0 and $10,000, respectively, by Bolar, Hirsh, and Jennings were $20,500 and 50,300,
respectively, and none by OUM.
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Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services

Our Audit Committee has considered whether the provisions of services described in the table above are compatible with maintaining auditor
independence. Our Audit Committee requires pre-approval of all audit and non-audit services in one of two methods, and each of the permitted non-auditing
services described above has been pre-approved by the Audit Committee. Under the first method, the engagement to render the services would be entered into
pursuant to pre-approval policies and procedures established by the Audit Committee, provided (i) the policies and procedures are detailed as to the services
to be performed, (ii) the Audit Committee is informed of each service, and (iii) such policies and procedures do not include delegation of the Audit
Committee’s responsibilities under the Exchange Act to Asterias’ management. Under the second method, the engagement to render the services would be
presented to and pre-approved by the Audit Committee (subject to the de minimis exceptions for non-audit services described in Section 10A(i)(1)(B) of the
Exchange Act that are approved by the Audit Committee prior to the completion of the audit). The Chairman of the Audit Committee has the authority to
grant pre-approvals of audit and permissible non-audit services by the independent registered public accounting firm, provided that all pre-approvals by the
Chairman must be presented to the full Audit Committee at its next scheduled meeting.

The prior approval of the Board of Directors is required for the engagement of our auditors to perform any non-audit services for us. Other than de
minimis services incidental to audit services, non-audit services shall generally be limited to tax services such as advice and planning and financial due
diligence services. All fees for such non-audit services must be approved by the Board of Directors, except to the extent otherwise permitted by applicable
SEC regulations.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a-1) Financial Statements.

The following financial statements of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. are filed in the Form 10-K:

Balance sheets
Statements of operations
Statements of comprehensive loss
Statements of stockholders' equity/(deficit)
Statements of cash flows

Notes to Financial Statements

(a-2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because the required information is inapplicable or the information is presented in the financial statements or the notes
thereto.

(a-3) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Numbers

 Description

   
2.1  Asset Contribution Agreement, dated January 4, 2013, by and among BioTime, Inc., BioTime Acquisition Corporation, and Geron

Corporation. (1) Schedules to the Asset Contribution Agreement have been omitted. Asterias agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of the
omitted schedules to the Commission upon request

   
3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (2)
   
3.2  Bylaws (2)
   
4.1  Specimen of Series A Common Stock Certificate (3)
   
4.2  Warrant Agreement, dated October 1, 2013, by Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. for the benefit of BioTime, Inc. (4)
   
4.3  Form of Warrant (Included in Exhibit 4.2) (4)
   
4.4  Warrant Agreement, dated October 1, 2013, by Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. for the benefit of Romulus Films Ltd. (4)
   
 4.5  Form of Warrant (Included in Exhibit 4.4) (4)
   
10.1  Stock and Warrant Purchase Agreement, dated January 4, 2013, between BioTime Acquisition Corporation and Romulus Films Ltd. (2)
   
10.2  Sublease dated April 1, 2013 between BioTime, Inc. and BioTime Acquisition Corporation (2)
   
10.3  Shared Facilities and Services Agreement, dated April 1, 2013, between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. and BioTime, Inc. (2)
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10.4  Promissory Note, dated April 1, 2013, payable to BioTime, Inc. (2)
   
10.5  2013 Equity Incentive Plan (5)
   
10.6  Form of Employee Incentive Stock Option Agreement (6)
   
10.7  Form of Non-employee Director Stock Option Agreement (6)
   
10.8  Employment Agreement, dated as June 24, 2013, between Thomas Okarma and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (6)
   
10.9  Employment Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013, between Katharine E. Spink and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (6)

10.10  Employment Agreement, dated as of June 24, 2013, between Jane S. Lebkowski and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (6)
   
10.11  Share Exchange Agreement, dated September 25, 2012, between Thomas Okarma and BioTime Acquisition Corporation (6)
   
10.12  Royalty Agreement, dated October 1, 2013 between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. and Geron Corporation (7)
   
10.13  Exclusive Sublicense Agreement between Geron Corporation and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (7)
   
10.14  Sublicense Agreement between BioTime, Inc. and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (7)
   
10.15  Exclusive License Agreement, dated February 20, 2003, and First Amendment thereto dated September 7, 2004, between The Regents of the

University of California and Geron Corporation (7)
   
10.16  Non-exclusive License Agreement, dated October 7, 2013, between the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation and Asterias Biotherapeutics,

Inc. (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment) (7)
   
10.17  Lease, dated December 30, 2013, by and between BMR 6300 Dumbarton Circle, LP, and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (8)
   
10.18  Warrant Agreement, dated June 16, 2014, by Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. for the benefit of certain warrant holders (9)
   
10.19  Form of Warrant (included in Exhibit 10.18) (9)
   
10.20  Employment Agreement, dated as of June 9, 2014, between Pedro Lichtinger and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
   
10.21  Employment Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2014, between Pedro Lichtinger and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
   
10.22  Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 12, 2014, between Pedro Lichtinger and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
   
10.22  Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between Broadwood Partners, L.P. and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
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10.22  Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 13, 2014, between The George Karfunkel 2007 Grantor Trust #1 and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
   
10.23  Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 16, 2014, between The George Karfunkel 2007 Grantor Trust #1, Broadwood Partners, L.P., and

Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (9)
   
10.28  At the Market Issuance Sales Agreement, dated April 10, 2015, by and between the Registrant and MLV & Co. LLC. (12)
   
10.29  Employment Agreement with Edward D. Wirth III, dated June 16, 2013. (13)
   
10.30  Services Agreement, dated October 8, 2015 by Aserias and Catapult. (14)
   
10.31  Employment Agreement dated November 2, 2015 between Georgia Erbez and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. *
   
10.32  Employment Agreement dated February 28, 2016 between Stephen L. Cartt and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. *
   
10.33  Separation Agreement, as of March 10, 2016, between Pedro Lichtinger and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. *
   
10.34  Amendment to the Notice of Award from the California Institute of Regenerative Medicine dated March 2, 2016 * +
   
10.35  Separation Agreement, as of March 21, 2016, between Georgia Erbez and Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. *
   
23.1  Consent of OUM & Co. LLP *
   
23.2  Consent of Rothstein Kass*
   
31  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification.*
   
32  Section 1350 Certification.*
   
101  Interactive Data File

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document *
   
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema *
   
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase *

101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase *
   
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase *
   
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Document *
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+ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a confidential treatment order from the Securities and Exchange Commission.

++ Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and have been separately filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

(1) Incorporated by reference to Asterias’ Current Report on Form 8-K filed by BioTime, Inc. with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
January 8, 2013.

(2) Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-187706) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 3,
2013.

(3) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 3 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-187706) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on September 3, 2013

(4) Incorporated by reference to Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 1, 2013.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-187706) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on June 26, 2013.

(6) Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 2 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-187706) filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on August 13, 2013.

(7) Incorporated by reference to Asterias’ Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013.

(8) Incorporated by reference to Asterias’ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

(9) Incorporated by reference to Post-Effective Amendment No. 4 to Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-187706) filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on June 19, 2014.

(10) Incorporated by reference to Asterias’ Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q/A-1 for the quarter ended September 30, 2014

(11) Incorporated by reference to Asterias' Annual Report on Form 10-K, for the year ended December 31, 2014

(12) Incorporated by reference to Asterias' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed April 10, 2015

(13) Incorporated by reference to Asterias' Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, for the period ended June 30, 2015

(14) Incorporated by reference to Asterias' Current Report on Form 8-K, filed August 10, 2015

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report on Form 10-K
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on the 29th day of March, 2016.

 ASTERIAS BIOTHERAPEUTICS, INC.
  
 By: /s/ Stephen L. Cartt
  Stephen L. Cartt,
  President and Chief Executive Officer
 

Signature  Title  Date
     
/s/ Stephen L. Cartt  Chief Executive Officer and  March 29, 2016
STEPHEN L. CARTT  Director (Principal Executive Officer)   
     
/s/ Russell L. Skibsted  Chief Financial Officer (Principal   
RUSSELL L. SKIBSTED  Financial and Accounting Officer)  March 29, 2016
     
/s/ Andrew Arno  Director  March 29, 2016
ANDREW ARNO     
     
/s/ Don M. Bailey  Director  March 29, 2016
DON M. BAILEY     
     
/s/ Alfred D. Kingsley  Director  March 29, 2016
ALFRED D. KINGSLEY     
     
/s/ Richard LeBuhn  Director  March 29, 2016
RICHARD LEBUHN     
     
/s/ Robert W. Peabody  Director  March 29, 2016
ROBERT W. PEABODY     
     
/s/ Natale Ricciardi  Director  March 29, 2016
NATALE RICCIARDI     
     
/s/ Judith Segall  Director  March 29, 2016
JUDITH SEGALL     
     
/s/ Michael D. West  Director  March 29, 2016
MICHAEL D. WEST     
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Exhibit 10.31
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as of November 2, 2015 by and between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias”), a

Delaware corporation, and Georgia Erbez ("Executive").

1.           Engagement; Position and Duties.

a) Asterias agrees to employ Employee in the position described on Exhibit A (which Exhibit A is a part of this Agreement) effective
as of the date of this Agreement. Executive shall perform the duties and functions described on Exhibit A and such other duties as
the executive(s) to whom Executive reports or the Board of Directors of Asterias may from time to time determine.  Executive shall
devote Employee’s best efforts, skills, and abilities, on a full‑time basis, exclusively to the business of Asterias and its Related
Companies pursuant to, and in accordance with, business policies and procedures, as fixed from time to time by the Board of
Directors (the “Policies”).  Employee covenants and agrees that Executive will faithfully adhere to and fulfill the Policies,
including any changes to the Policies that may be made in the future.  Executive may be provided with a copy of Asterias’s
employee manual (the “Manual”) which contains the Policies. Asterias may change its Policies from time to time, in which case
Executive will be notified of the changes in writing by a memorandum, a letter, or an update or revision of Asterias’s employee
manual.

b) Performance of Services for Related Companies.  In addition to the performance of services for Asterias, Executive shall, to the
extent so required by Asterias, also perform services for one or more members of a consolidated group of which Asterias is a part
("Related Company"), provided that such services are consistent with the kind of services Executive performs or may be required
to perform for Asterias under this Agreement.  If Executive performs any services for any Related Company, Executive shall not be
entitled to receive any compensation or remuneration in addition to or in lieu of the compensation and remuneration provided
under this Agreement on account of such services for the Related Company.  The Policies will govern Executive’s employment by
Asterias and any Related Companies for which Executive is asked to provide Services. In addition, Executive covenants and
agrees that Executive will faithfully adhere to and fulfill such additional policies as may established from time to time by the
board of directors of any Related Company for which Executive performs services, to the extent that such policies and procedures
differ from or are in addition to the Policies adopted by Asterias.

c) No Conflicting Obligations.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias and each Related Company that Executive is under no
obligations or commitments, whether contractual or otherwise, that are inconsistent with Executive’s obligations under this
Agreement or that would prohibit Executive, contractually or otherwise, from performing Executive’s duties as under this
Agreement and the Policies.

 



d) No Unauthorized Use of Third Party Intellectual Property.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias and each Related
Company that Executive will not use or disclose, in connection with Executive’s employment by Asterias or any Related
Company, any patents, trade secrets, confidential information, or other proprietary information or intellectual property as to which
any other person has any right, title or interest, except to the extent that Asterias or a Related Company holds a valid license or
other written permission for such use from the owner(s) thereof.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias and each Related
Company that Executive has returned all property and confidential information belonging to any prior employer.

2.           Compensation

a) Salary.  During the term of this Agreement, Asterias shall pay to the Executive the salary shown on Exhibit A.  Executive's salary
shall be paid in equal semi-monthly installments, consistent with Asterias's regular salary payment practices.  Executive's salary
may be increased from time-to-time by Asterias, in Asterias’s sole and absolute discretion, without affecting this Agreement.

b) Bonus.  Executive shall be eligible to earn an annual cash incentive bonus award determined by the Board in respect of each fiscal
year during Executive’s employment (the “Annual Bonus”), with a target bonus equal to no less than thirty percent (40%) of Base
Salary (the “Target Bonus”) for achievement of the specified performance goals at target levels for the applicable calendar year. 
The actual Annual Bonus payable shall be based upon the level of achievement of objectively determinable Company and
individual performance goals for the applicable calendar year, as determined by the Board in consultation with Executive.  Such
performance goals shall be determined and memorialized in writing no later than January 31 of each calendar year.

c) Expense Reimbursements. Asterias or a Related Company shall reimburse Executive for reasonable travel and other business
expenses (but not expenses of commuting to work) incurred by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties under this
Agreement, subject to the Policies and procedures in effect from time to time, and provided that Executive submits supporting
vouchers.

d) Benefit Plans.  Executive may be eligible (to the extent Executive qualifies) to participate in certain retirement, pension, life,
health, accident and disability insurance, stock option plan or other similar employee benefit plans which may be adopted by
Asterias (or a Related Company) for its employees. Asterias and the Related Companies have the right, at any time and without any
amendment of this Agreement, and without prior notice to or consent from Executive, to adopt, amend, change, or terminate any
such benefit plans that may now be in effect or that may be adopted in the future, in each case without any further financial
obligation to Executive.  Any benefits to which Executive may be entitled under any benefit plan shall be governed by the terms
and conditions of the applicable benefit plan, and any related plan documents, as in effect from time to time.  If Executive receives
any grant of stock options or restricted under any stock option plan or stock purchase plan of Asterias or any Related Company,
the terms and conditions of the stock options or restricted stock, and Executive’s rights with respect to the stock options or
restricted stock, shall be governed by (i) the terms of the applicable stock option or stock purchase plan, as the same may be
amended from time to time, and (ii) the terms and conditions of any stock option agreement or stock purchase agreement and
related agreements that Executive may sign or be required to sign with respect to the stock options or restricted stock.

 

2



e) Vacation; Sick Leave.  Executive shall be entitled to the number of days of vacation and sick leave (without reduction in
compensation) during each calendar year shown on Exhibit A or as may be provided by the Policies.  Executive’s vacation shall be
taken at such time as is consistent with the needs and Policies of Asterias and its Related Companies.  All vacation days and sick
leave days shall accrue annually based upon days of service.  Executive’s right to leave from work due to illness is subject to the
Policies and the provisions of this Agreement governing termination due to disability, sickness or illness.  The Policies governing
the disposition of unused vacation days and sick leave days remaining at the end of Asterias's fiscal year shall govern whether
unused vacation days or sick leave days will be paid, lost, or carried over into subsequent fiscal years.

3.           Competitive Activities. During the term of Executive's employment, and for one year thereafter, Executive shall not, for Executive or any
third party, directly or indirectly employ, solicit for employment or recommend for employment any person employed by Asterias or any Related Company. 
During the term of Executive's employment, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly as an employee, contractor, officer, director, member, partner, agent, or
equity owner, engage in any activity or business that competes or could reasonably be expected to compete with the business of Asterias or any Related
Company, except to the extent such activities by Executive are approved by the Board of Directors of Asterias.  Executive acknowledges that there is a
substantial likelihood that the activities described in this Section would (a) involve the unauthorized use or disclosure of Asterias's or a Related Company's
Confidential Information and that use or disclosure would be extremely difficult to detect, and (b) result in substantial competitive harm to the business of
Asterias or a Related Company.  Executive has accepted the limitations of this Section as a reasonably practicable and unrestrictive means of preventing such
use or disclosure of Confidential Information and preventing such competitive harm.

4.           Inventions/Intellectual Property/Confidential Information

a) As used in this Agreement, “Intellectual Property” means any and all inventions, discoveries, formulas, improvements, writings,
designs, or other intellectual property.  Any and all Intellectual Property relating to or in any way pertaining to or connected with
the systems, products, apparatus, or methods employed, manufactured, constructed, or researched by Asterias, or any Related
Company, which Executive may conceive or make while performing services for Asterias or a Related Company shall be the sole
and exclusive property of Asterias or the applicable Related Company.  Executive hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to
Asterias, or a Related Company, all rights, title and interest in and to all Intellectual Property that Executive may now or in the
future have under patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark or other law, in perpetuity or for the longest period otherwise permitted
by law, without the necessity of further consideration.  Asterias and the Related Companies will be entitled to obtain and hold in
their own name all copyrights, patents, trade secrets, trademarks and other similar registrations with respect to such Intellectual
Property.
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b) Moral Rights.  To the extent allowed by law, the rights to Intellectual Property assigned by Executive to Asterias or any Related
Company includes all rights of paternity, integrity, disclosure and withdrawal, and any other rights that may be known as or
referred to as “moral rights,” “artist’s rights,” “droit moral,” or the like (collectively “Moral Rights”).  To the extent Executive
retains any such Moral Rights under applicable law, Executive hereby ratifies and consents to any action that may be taken with
respect to such Moral Rights by or authorized by Asterias or a Related Company and agrees not to assert any Moral Rights with
respect thereto.  Executive shall confirm in writing any such ratifications, consents, and agreements from time to time as requested
by Asterias or Related Company.

c) Execution of Documents; Power of Attorney.  Executive agrees to execute and sign any and all applications, assignments, or other
instruments which Asterias or a Related Company may deem necessary in order to enable Asterias or a Related Company, at its
expense, to apply for, prosecute, and obtain patents of the United States or foreign countries for the Intellectual Property, or in
order to assign or convey to, perfect, maintain or vest in Asterias or a Related Company the sole and exclusive right, title, and
interest in and to the Intellectual Property.  If Asterias or a Related Company is unable after reasonable efforts to secure
Executive’s signature, cooperation or assistance in accordance with the preceding sentence, whether because of Executive’s
incapacity or any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby designates and appoints Asterias or any Related Company or its
designee as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act on Executive’s behalf, to execute and file documents and to do all other
lawfully permitted acts necessary or desirable to perfect, maintain or otherwise protect Asterias’s or a Related Company’s rights in
the Intellectual Property.  Executive acknowledges and agrees that such appointment is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.

d) Disclosure of Intellectual Property.  Executive agrees to disclose promptly to Asterias or a Related Company all Intellectual
Property which Executive may create or conceive solely, jointly, or commonly with others.  This paragraph is applicable whether
or not the Intellectual Property was made under the circumstances described in paragraph (a) of this Section.  Executive agrees to
make such disclosures understanding that they will be received in confidence and that, among other things, they are for the
purpose of determining whether or not rights to the related Intellectual Property is the property of Asterias or a Related Company.
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e) Limitations.  The obligations provided for by this Section 4, except for the requirements as to disclosure in paragraph 4(d), do not
apply to any rights Executive may have acquired in connection with Intellectual Property for which no equipment, supplies,
facility, or trade secret information of Asterias or a Related Company was used and which was developed entirely on the
Executive’s own time and (i) which at the time of conception or reduction to practice does not relate directly or indirectly to the
business of Asterias or a Related Company, or to the actual or demonstrable anticipated research or development activities or plans
of Asterias or a Related Company, or (ii) which does not result from any work performed by Executive for Asterias or a Related
Company.  All Intellectual Property that (1) results from the use of equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information of
Asterias or a Related Company; (2) relates, at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention, to the business of
Asterias or a Related Company, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of Asterias or a Related Company;
or (3) results from any work performed by Executive for Asterias or a Related Company shall be assigned and is hereby assigned to
Asterias or the applicable Related Company.  The parties understand and agree that this limitation is intended to be consistent
with California Labor Code, Section 2870, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A.  If Executive wishes to clarify that something
created by Executive prior to Executive’s employment by Asterias or a Related Company that relates to the actual or proposed
business of Asterias or a Related Company is not within the scope of this Agreement, Executive has listed it on Exhibit B in a
manner that does not violate any third party rights.

f) Confidential and Proprietary Information.  During Executive’s employment, Executive will have access to trade secrets and
confidential information of Asterias and one or more Related Companies.  Confidential Information means all information and
ideas, in any form, relating in any manner to matters such as: products; formulas; technology and know-how; inventions; clinical
trial plans and data; business plans; marketing plans; the identity, expertise, and compensation of employees and contractors;
systems, procedures, and manuals; customers; suppliers; joint venture partners; research collaborators; licensees; and financial
information.  Confidential Information also shall include any information of any kind, whether belonging to Asterias, a Related
Company, or any third party, that Asterias or a Related Company has agreed to keep secret or confidential under the terms of any
agreement with any third party.  Confidential Information does not include:  (i) information that is or becomes publicly known
through lawful means other than unauthorized disclosure by Executive; (ii) information that was rightfully in Executive's
possession prior to Executive’s employment with Asterias and was not assigned to Asterias or a Related Company or was not
disclosed to Executive in Executive’s capacity as a director or other fiduciary of Asterias or a Related Company; or (iii)
information disclosed to Executive, after the termination of Executive’s employment by Asterias, without a confidential restriction
by a third party who rightfully possesses the information and did not obtain it, either directly or indirectly, from Asterias or a
Related Company, and who is not subject to an obligation to keep such information confidential for the benefit of Asterias, a
Related Company, or any third party with whom Asterias or a Related Company has a contractual relationship.  Executive
understands and agrees that all Confidential Information shall be kept confidential by Executive both during and after Executive’s
employment by Asterias or any Related Company.  Executive further agrees that Executive will not, without the prior written
approval by Asterias or a Related Company, disclose any Confidential Information, or use any Confidential Information in any
way, either during the term of Executive’s employment or at any time thereafter, except as required by Asterias or a Related
Company in the course of Executive’s employment.
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5.           Termination of Employment.  Executive understands and agrees that Executive’s employment has no specific term.  This Agreement, and
the employment relationship, are "at will" and may be terminated by Executive or by Asterias (and the employment of Executive by any Related Company
by be terminated by the Related Company) with or without cause at any time by notice given orally or in writing.  Except as otherwise agreed in writing or as
otherwise provided in this Agreement, upon termination of Executive's employment, Asterias and the Related Companies shall have no further obligation to
Executive by way of compensation or otherwise as expressly provided in this Agreement or in any separate employment agreement that might then exist
between Executive and a Related Company.

a) Payments Due Upon Termination of Employment.  Upon termination of Executive's employment with Asterias and all Related
Companies at any time and for any reason, Executive will be entitled to receive only the severance benefits set forth below, but
Executive will not be entitled to any other compensation, award, or damages with respect to Executive’s employment or
termination of employment.
 
(i)          Termination for Cause, Death, Disability, or Resignation.  In the event that the employment of Executive is terminated for

Cause, or is terminated as a result of death, Disability, or resignation, Executive will be entitled to receive payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued
but unpaid bonus, if any, and vacation accrued as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment.  Executive will not be entitled to any cash severance
benefits or additional vesting of any stock options or other equity or cash awards.

 
(ii)         Termination Without Cause.  In the event that the employment of the Executive is terminated by Asterias without “cause”

as defined in this Agreement, otherwise than within twelve (12) months following a “change in control” as defined in this Agreement, Executive shall receive
payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unpaid bonus, if any, and vacation accrued as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment,
and as severance compensation (A) three months of base salary if Executive’s employment is terminated within the first 12 months of employment, or (B) six
months of base salary if Executive’s employment is terminated after 12 months of employment, and (C) accelerated vesting of fifty percent (50%) of the then
unvested stock options granted to Executive if Executive has been employed by Asterias for at least 12 months.  The severance compensation described in
clauses (A) and (B) of the immediately preceding sentence may be paid in a lump sum or, at the election of Asterias, in installments consistent with the
payment of Executive's salary while employed by Asterias, subject to such payroll deductions and withholdings as are required by law.  This paragraph shall
not apply to (x) termination of Executive’s employment by a Related Company if Executive remains employed by Asterias

 
(iii)        Change of Control.  In the event Asterias (or any successor in interest to Asterias that has assumed Asterias's obligation

under this Agreement) terminates Executive's employment without Cause within twelve (12) months following a Change in Control, Executive will be
entitled to receive payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unpaid bonus, if any, and vacation accrued as of the date of termination of
Executive’s employment, and as severance compensation (A) payment of an amount equal to 12 months of base salary, which shall be paid in a lump sum,
subject to such payroll deductions and withholdings as are required by law, and (B) accelerated vesting of one hundred percent (100%) of the then unvested
stock options granted to Executive.  This paragraph shall not apply to (x) termination of Executive’s employment by a Related Company if Executive
remains employed by Asterias or a successor in interest.
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b) Release.  Any other provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, paragraphs (a)(ii) and (a)(iii) of this Section shall not apply
unless the Executive (i) has executed a general release of all claims against Asterias or its successor in interest and the Related
Companies (in a form prescribed by Asterias or its successor in interest) and (ii) has returned all property in the Executive's
possession belonging Asterias or its successor in interest and any Related Companies.

c) Definitions.  For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply:
 
(iv)         "Affiliated Group" means (A) a Person and one or more other Persons in control of, controlled by, or under common

control with such Person; and (B) two or more Persons who, by written agreement among them, act in concert to acquire Voting Securities entitling them to
elect a majority of the directors of Asterias.

 
(v)          "Cause" means: (A) the failure to properly perform Executive's job responsibilities, as determined reasonably and in good

faith by the Board of Directors; (B) commission of any act of fraud, gross misconduct or dishonesty with respect to Asterias or any Related Company; (C)
conviction of, or plea of guilty or "no contest" to, any felony, or a crime involving moral turpitude; (D) breach of any provision of this Agreement or any
provision of any proprietary information and inventions agreement with Asterias or any Related Company; (E) failure to follow the lawful directions of the
Board of Directors of Asterias or any Related Company; (F) chronic alcohol or drug abuse; (G) obtaining, in connection with any transaction in which
Asterias, any Related Company, or any of Asterias’s affiliates is a party, a material undisclosed financial benefit for Executive or for any member of
Executive’s immediate family or for any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or trust in which Executive or any member of Executive’s
immediate family owns a material financial interest; or (H) harassing or discriminating against, or participating or assisting in the harassment of or
discrimination against, any employee of Asterias (or a Related Company or an affiliate of Asterias) based upon gender, race, religion, ethnicity, or nationality.

 
(vi)         "Change of Control" means (A) the acquisition of Voting Securities of Asterias by a Person or an Affiliated Group entitling

the holder thereof to elect a majority of the directors of Asterias; provided, that an increase in the amount of Voting Securities held by a Person or Affiliated
Group who on the date of this Agreement owned beneficially owned (as defined in Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the
regulations thereunder) more than 10% of the Voting Securities shall not constitute a Change of Control; and provided, further, that an acquisition of Voting
Securities by one or more Persons acting as an underwriter in connection with a sale or distribution of such Voting Securities shall not constitute a Change of
Control under this clause (A); (B) the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of Asterias; or (C) a merger or consolidation of Asterias with or into another
corporation or entity in which the stockholders of Asterias immediately before such merger or consolidation do not own, in the aggregate, Voting Securities
of the surviving corporation or entity (or the ultimate parent of the surviving corporation or entity) entitling them, in the aggregate (and without regard to
whether they constitute an Affiliated Group) to elect a majority of the directors or persons holding similar powers of the surviving corporation or entity (or
the ultimate parent of the surviving corporation or entity); provided, however, that in no event shall any transaction described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) be a
Change of Control if all of the Persons acquiring Voting Securities or assets of Asterias or merging or consolidating with Asterias are one or more Related
Companies.
 

7



(vii)       "Disability" shall mean Executive's inability to perform the essential functions of Executive’s job responsibilities for a
period of one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate in any twelve (12) month period.

 
(viii)      "Person" means any natural person or any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated

business association, or other entity.
 
(ix)        "Voting Securities" means shares of capital stock or other equity securities entitling the holder thereof to regularly vote for

the election of directors (or for person performing a similar function if the issuer is not a corporation), but does not include the power to vote upon the
happening of some condition or event which has not yet occurred.

6.           Turnover of Property and Documents on Termination.  Executive agrees that on or before termination of Executive’s employment,
Executive will return to Asterias and all Related Companies all equipment and other property belonging to Asterias and the Related Companies, and all
originals and copies of Confidential Information (in any and all media and formats, and including any document or other item containing Confidential
Information) in Executive's possession or control, and all of the following (in any and all media and formats, and whether or not constituting or containing
Confidential Information) in Executive's possession or control:  (a) lists and sources of customers; (b) proposals or drafts of proposals for any research grant,
research or development project or program, marketing plan, licensing arrangement, or other arrangement with any third party; (c) reports, job or laboratory
notes, specifications, and drawings pertaining to the research, development, products, patents, and technology of Asterias and any Related Companies; (d)
any and all Intellectual Property developed by Executive during the course of employment; and (e) the Manual and memoranda related to the Policies.

7.           Arbitration.  Except for injunctive proceedings against unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information, any and all claims or
controversies between Asterias or any Related Company and Executive, including but not limited to (a) those involving the construction or application of
any of the terms, provisions, or conditions of this Agreement or the Policies; (b) all contract or tort claims of any kind; and (c) any claim based on any federal,
state, or local law, statute, regulation, or ordinance, including claims for unlawful discrimination or harassment, shall be settled by arbitration in accordance
with the then current Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s)
may be entered by any court having jurisdiction over the Company and Executive.  The location of the arbitration shall be San Francisco, California.  Unless
Asterias or a Related Company and Executive mutually agree otherwise, the arbitrator shall be a retired judge selected from a panel provided by the American
Arbitration Association, or the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (JAMS).  Asterias, or a Related Company if the Related Company is a party to the
arbitration proceeding, shall pay the arbitrator’s fees and costs.  Executive shall pay for Executive’s own costs and attorneys' fees, if any.  Asterias and any
Related Company that is a party to an arbitration proceeding shall pay for its own costs and attorneys' fees, if any.  However, if any party prevails on a
statutory claim which affords the prevailing party attorneys' fees, the arbitrator may award reasonable attorneys' fees and costs to the prevailing party.
 

8



EXECUTIVE UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHT TO A
TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY MATTERS COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.
 

8.           Severability. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement or the Policies shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable in whole
or in part, those provisions to the extent enforceable and all other provisions shall nevertheless continue to be valid and enforceable as though the invalid or
unenforceable parts had not been included in this Agreement or the Policies.  In the event that any provision relating to a time period of restriction shall be
declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to exceed the maximum time period such court deems reasonable and enforceable, then the time period of
restriction deemed reasonable and enforceable by the court shall become and shall thereafter be the maximum time period.

9.           Agreement Read and Understood. Executive acknowledges that Executive has carefully read the terms of this Agreement, that Executive
has had an opportunity to consult with an attorney or other representative of Executive’s own choosing regarding this Agreement, that Executive understands
the terms of this Agreement, and that Executive is entering this agreement of Executive’s own free will.

10.         Complete Agreement, Modification.  This Agreement is the complete agreement between Executive and Asterias on the subjects contained
in this Agreement.  This Agreement supersedes and replaces all previous correspondence, promises, representations, and agreements, if any, either written or
oral with respect to Executive’s employment by Asterias or any Related Company and any matter covered by this Agreement.  No provision of this
Agreement may be modified, amended, or waived except by a written document signed both by Asterias and Executive.

11.         Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State of California.

12.         Assignability.  This Agreement, and the rights and obligations of Executive and Asterias under this Agreement, may not be assigned by
Executive.  Asterias may assign any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any successor or surviving corporation, limited liability company,
or other entity resulting from a merger, consolidation, sale of assets, sale of stock, sale of membership interests, or other reorganization, upon condition that
the assignee shall assume, either expressly or by operation of law, all of Asterias's obligations under this Agreement.

13.         Survival.  This Section 13 and the covenants and agreements contained in Sections 4, 6, and 7 of this Agreement shall survive termination
of this Agreement and Executive's employment.

14.         Notices.  Any notices or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be mailed
by certified mail, return receipt requested, or sent by next business day air courier service, or personally delivered to the party to whom it is to be given at the
address of such party set forth on the signature page of this Agreement (or to such other address as the party shall have furnished in writing in accordance with
the provisions of this Section 14).

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Executive and Asterias have executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.
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EXECUTIVE:  
   
/s/ Georgia Erbez  
Georgia Erbez  
 
Address:   
   
 
    
ASTERIAS:    
    
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.  
    
 By: /s/ Pedro Lichtinger  
    
 Title: President & CEO  
    
 Address: 230 Constitution Drive  
  Menlo Park, California 94025  
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EXHIBIT A
Job Title:  Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Description of Job and Duties:

Annual Salary: $330,000

PTO:  15 days (120.00 hours)

Stock Option Awards:  Options to purchase 380,000 shares of common stock under the Asterias Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) on such terms and
conditions consistent with the Plan as the Board of Directors determines.
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EXHIBIT B
California Labor Code Section 2870.

Application of provision providing that employee shall assign or offer to assign rights in invention to employer.
(a)            Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign, or offer to assign, any of his or her rights in an

invention to his or her employer shall not apply to an invention that the employee developed entirely on his or her own time without using the employer's
equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information except for those inventions that either:

 
(i)           Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the employer's business, or actual or demonstrably

anticipated research or development of the employer; or

(ii)          Result from any work performed by the employee for his employer.

(b)           To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to require an employee to assign an invention otherwise excluded from
being required to be assigned under subdivision (a), the provision is against the public policy of this state and is unenforceable.
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EXHIBIT C
PRIOR MATTERS

None
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Exhibit 10.32
 

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
 

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as of February 28, 2016 by and between Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.
(“Asterias”), a Delaware corporation, and Stephen L. Cartt (“Executive”).

 
1.             Engagement; Position and Duties.
 

(a)           Asterias agrees to employ Executive in the position described on Exhibit A effective as of the date of this Agreement to and secure
his services as a member of the Board of Directors of Asterias (the “Board”).  Executive shall perform the duties and functions described on Exhibit A and
such other duties as the Board may from time to time determine.  Executive shall report to the Board and all employees of Asterias will report directly or
indirectly to Executive.  Executive shall be employed by Asterias on a full-time basis unless Exhibit A provides for part-time employment.  Executive shall
devote Executive’s best efforts, skills, and abilities to the business of Asterias pursuant to, and in accordance with, business policies and procedures, as fixed
from time to time by the Board (the “Policies”).  Executive covenants and agrees that Executive will faithfully adhere to and fulfill the Policies, including
any changes to the Policies that may be made in the future.  Executive shall be provided with a copy of Asterias’ employee manual (the “Manual”) which
contains the Policies.  Asterias may change its Policies from time to time, in which case Executive will be notified of the changes in writing by a
memorandum, a letter, or an update or revision of the Manual.  Asterias expressly agrees that Executive shall be permitted to continue his service on the
Board of Directors of Sirona.

 
(b)           No Conflicting Obligations.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias that Executive is under no obligations or commitments,

whether contractual or otherwise, that are inconsistent with Executive’s obligations under this Agreement or that would prohibit Executive, contractually or
otherwise, from performing Executive’s duties as under this Agreement and the Policies.

 
(c)           No Unauthorized Use of Third Party Intellectual Property.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias that Executive will not

use or disclose, in connection with Executive’s employment by Asterias, any patents, trade secrets, confidential information, or other proprietary information
or intellectual property as to which any other person has any right, title or interest, except to the extent that Asterias holds a valid license or other written
permission for such use from the owner(s) thereof.  Executive represents and warrants to Asterias that Executive has returned all property and confidential
information belonging to any prior employer.

 
2.             Compensation
 

(a)           Salary.  During the term of this Agreement, Asterias shall pay to Executive the salary shown on Exhibit A.  Executive’s salary shall
be paid in equal semi-monthly installments, consistent with Asterias’ regular salary payment practices.  Executive’s salary may be increased from time-to-
time by Asterias, Executive’s salary shall be reviewed on an annual basis, or more often if appropriate, and shall be set consistent with a compensation
philosophy which targets the 50th percentile of a group of comparator companies selected by the Board or a compensation committee of the Board.
 



(b)           Bonus.  Executive shall receive an annual bonus opportunity equal to up to 50% of Executive’s salary as in effect from time to
time based on corporate and individual performance targets established by the Board or a compensation committee of the Board, after consultation with
Executive.  The Committee or the Board shall have the absolute discretion to determine whether and to what extent Executive has satisfied the performance
targets and may allocate in its complete discretion amounts that may be less than or greater than the bonus opportunity set forth above.

 
(c)           Expense Reimbursements.  Asterias shall reimburse Executive for reasonable travel and other business expenses (but not expenses

of commuting to work) incurred by Executive in the performance of Executive’s duties under this Agreement, subject to the Policies and procedures in effect
from time to time, and provided that Executive submits supporting vouchers, receipts, or other documentation.

 
(d)           Equity and Benefit Plans.  Executive is receiving certain incentive stock options and restricted stock as set forth in Exhibit A. 

Every year, the Board will consider whether to grant Executive additional stock options or restricted stock consistent with an overall compensation
philosophy which targets the 50th percentile of a group of comparator companies selected by the Board or a compensation committee of the Board.  In
addition, Executive may be eligible (to the extent Executive qualifies) to participate in certain retirement, pension, life, health, accident and disability
insurance, stock option, or other similar employee benefit plans which may be adopted by Asterias for its employees.  Asterias has the right, at any time and
without any amendment of this Agreement, and without prior notice to or consent from Executive, to adopt, amend, change, or terminate any such benefit
plans that may now be in effect or that may be adopted in the future, in each case without any further financial obligation to Executive.  Any benefits to
which Executive may be entitled under any benefit plan shall be governed by the terms and conditions of the applicable benefit plan, and any related plan
documents, as in effect from time to time.  If Executive receives any grant of stock options or restricted stock under any stock option, restricted stock, or stock
purchase plan of Asterias, the terms and conditions of the stock options or restricted stock, and Executive’s rights with respect to the stock options or
restricted stock, shall be governed by (i) the terms of the applicable stock option, restricted stock, or stock purchase plan, as the same may be amended from
time to time, and (ii) the terms and conditions of any stock option, restricted stock, or stock purchase agreement and related agreements that Executive may
sign or be required to sign with respect to the stock options or restricted stock; provided, however, that no such amendments or agreements shall adversely
affect Executive’s rights with respect to any then outstanding awards of stock options or restricted stock without Executive’s written agreement.

 
(e)           Vacation; Sick Leave.  Executive shall be entitled to the number of days of vacation and sick leave (without reduction in

compensation) during each calendar year shown on Exhibit A or as may be provided by the Policies (whichever is greater).  Executive’s vacation shall be
taken at such time as is consistent with the needs and Policies of Asterias.  All vacation days and sick leave days shall accrue annually based upon days of
service.  Executive’s right to leave from work due to illness is subject to the Policies and the provisions of this Agreement governing termination due to
disability, sickness or illness.  The Policies governing the disposition of unused vacation days and sick leave days remaining at the end of Asterias’ fiscal
year shall govern whether unused vacation days or sick leave days will be paid, lost, or carried over into subsequent fiscal years.
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(f)            Legal Fees.  Asterias shall reimburse Executive for any and all reasonable expenses (including, without limitation, attorney’s fees
and other charges of counsel) incurred by him in connection with the negotiation and documentation of this Agreement, in an amount not to exceed
$10,000.00
 

3.            Competitive Activities. During the term of Executive’s employment, and for one year thereafter, Executive shall not, for Executive or any
third party, directly or indirectly employ, solicit for employment, or recommend for employment any person employed by Asterias.  During the term of
Executive’s employment, Executive shall not, directly or indirectly as an employee, contractor, officer, director, member, partner, agent, or equity owner,
engage in any activity or business that competes or could reasonably be expected to compete with the business of Asterias, except to the extent such
activities by Executive are approved by the Board.  Executive acknowledges that there is a substantial likelihood that the activities described in this Section
would (a) involve the unauthorized use or disclosure of Asterias’ Confidential Information and that use or disclosure would be extremely difficult to detect,
and (b) result in substantial competitive harm to the business of Asterias.  Executive has accepted the limitations of this Section as a reasonably practicable
means of preventing such use or disclosure of Confidential Information and preventing such competitive harm.

 
4.            Inventions/Intellectual Property/Confidential Information
 

(a)           As used in this Agreement, “Intellectual Property” means any and all inventions, discoveries, formulas, improvements, writings,
designs, or other intellectual property relating to or in any way pertaining to or connected with the systems, products, apparatus, or methods employed,
manufactured, constructed, or researched by Asterias that Executive may conceive or make while performing services for Asterias, which shall be the sole and
exclusive property of Asterias.  Executive hereby irrevocably assigns and transfers to Asterias all rights, title and interest in and to all Intellectual Property
that Executive may have under patent, copyright, trade secret, trademark or other law, in perpetuity or for the longest period otherwise permitted by law,
without the necessity of further consideration.  Asterias will be entitled to obtain and hold in their own name all copyrights, patents, trade secrets, trademarks
and other similar registrations with respect to such Intellectual Property.

 
(b)           Moral Rights.  To the extent allowed by law, the rights to Intellectual Property assigned by Executive to Asterias includes all

rights of paternity, integrity, disclosure and withdrawal, and any other rights that may be known as or referred to as “moral rights,” “artist’s rights,” “droit
moral,” or the like (collectively “Moral Rights”).  To the extent Executive retains any such Moral Rights under applicable law, Executive hereby ratifies and
consents to any action that may be taken with respect to such Moral Rights by or authorized by Asterias and agrees not to assert any Moral Rights with
respect thereto.  Executive shall confirm in writing any such ratifications, consents, and agreements from time to time as requested by Asterias.

 
(c)           Execution of Documents; Power of Attorney.  Executive agrees to execute and sign any and all applications, assignments, or other

instruments which Asterias  may deem necessary in order to enable Asterias, at its expense, to apply for, prosecute, and obtain patents of the United States or
foreign countries for the Intellectual Property, or in order to assign or convey to, perfect, maintain or vest in Asterias the sole and exclusive right, title, and
interest in and to the Intellectual Property.  If Asterias is unable after reasonable efforts to secure Executive’s signature, cooperation or assistance in
accordance with the preceding sentence, whether because of Executive’s incapacity or any other reason whatsoever, Executive hereby designates and
appoints Asterias or its designee as Executive’s agent and attorney-in-fact, to act on Executive’s behalf, to execute and file documents and to do all other
lawfully permitted acts necessary or desirable to perfect, maintain or otherwise protect Asterias rights in the Intellectual Property.  Executive acknowledges
and agrees that such appointment is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable.
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(d)           Disclosure of Intellectual Property.  Executive agrees to disclose promptly to Asterias all Intellectual Property which Executive
may create or conceive solely, jointly, or commonly with others.  This paragraph is applicable whether or not the Intellectual Property was made under the
circumstances described in paragraph (a) of this Section.  Executive agrees to make such disclosures understanding that they will be received in confidence
and that, among other things, they are for the purpose of determining whether or not rights to the related Intellectual Property is the property of Asterias.

 
(e)           Limitations.  The obligations provided for by this Section 4, except for the requirements as to disclosure in paragraph 4(d), do not

apply to any rights Executive may have acquired in connection with Intellectual Property for which no equipment, supplies, facility, or trade secret
information of Asterias was used and which was developed entirely on Executive’s own time and (i) which at the time of conception or reduction to practice
does not relate directly or indirectly to the business of Asterias, or to the actual or demonstrable anticipated research or development activities or plans of
Asterias, or (ii) which does not result from any work performed by Executive for Asterias.  All Intellectual Property that (1) results from the use of equipment,
supplies, facilities, or trade secret information of Asterias; (2) relates, at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention, to the business of
Asterias, or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development of Asterias; or (3) results from any work performed by Executive for Asterias shall be
assigned and is hereby assigned to Asterias.  The parties understand and agree that this limitation is intended to be consistent with California Labor Code,
Section 2870, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B.  If Executive wishes to clarify that something created by Executive prior to Executive’s employment
by Asterias that relates to the actual or proposed business of Asterias is not within the scope of this Agreement, Executive has listed it on Exhibit B in a
manner that does not violate any third party rights.

 
(f)           Confidential and Proprietary Information.  During Executive’s employment, Executive will have access to trade secrets and

confidential information of Asterias.  Confidential Information means all information and ideas, in any form, relating in any manner to matters such as:
products; formulas; technology and know-how; inventions; clinical trial, plans and data; business plans; marketing plans; the identity, expertise, and
compensation of employees and contractors; systems, procedures, and manuals; customers; suppliers; joint venture partners; research collaborators; licensees;
and financial information.  Confidential Information also shall include any information of any kind, whether belonging to Asterias or any third party that
Asterias has agreed to keep secret or confidential under the terms of any agreement with any third party.  Confidential Information does not include:  (i)
information that is or becomes publicly known through lawful means other than unauthorized disclosure by Executive; (ii) information that was rightfully in
Executive’s possession prior to Executive’s employment with Asterias and was not assigned to Asterias or was not disclosed to Executive in Executive’s
capacity as a director or other fiduciary of Asterias; or (iii) information disclosed to Executive, after the termination of Executive’s employment by Asterias,
without a confidential restriction by a third party who rightfully possesses the information and did not obtain it, either directly or indirectly, from Asterias,
and who is not subject to an obligation to keep such information confidential for the benefit of Asterias or any third party with whom Asterias has a
contractual relationship.  Executive understands and agrees that all Confidential Information shall be kept confidential by Executive both during and after
Executive’s employment by Asterias.  Executive further agrees that Executive will not, without the prior written approval by Asterias, disclose any
Confidential Information, or use any Confidential Information in any way, either during the term of Executive’s employment or at any time thereafter, except
as required by Asterias in the course of Executive’s employment or, after providing reasonable notice to Asterias (unless prohibited by law), as may be
required by law or legal process.
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5.            Termination of Employment.  Executive understands and agrees that Executive’s employment has no specific term.  This Agreement, and
the employment relationship, are “at will” and may be terminated by Executive or by Asterias with or without cause at any time by notice given orally or in
writing.  Except as otherwise agreed in writing or as otherwise provided in this Agreement, upon termination of Executive’s employment, Asterias shall have
no further obligation to Executive by way of compensation or otherwise as expressly provided in this Agreement or in any separate employment agreement
that might then exist between Executive and Asterias.

 
(a)           Payments Due Upon Termination of Employment.  Upon termination of Executive’s employment with Asterias at any time and for

any reason, Executive will be entitled to receive only the severance benefits set forth below, but Executive will not be entitled to any other compensation,
award, or damages with respect to Executive’s employment or termination of employment.

 
(i)          Termination for Cause, Death, Disability, or Resignation.  In the event that the employment of Executive is terminated for

Cause, or is terminated as a result of death, Disability, or resignation without “Good Reason” as defined in this Agreement, Executive will be entitled to
receive payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unpaid bonus, if any, and vacation accrued as of the date of termination of
Executive’s employment.  Executive will not be entitled to any cash severance benefits or vesting of any stock options or other equity or cash awards.

 
(ii)         Termination Without Cause and Resignation for Good Reason.  In the event that the employment of Executive is

terminated by Asterias without “Cause” as defined in this Agreement or resigns for “Good Reason,” otherwise than within twelve (12) months following a
“Change in Control” as defined in this Agreement, Executive shall receive payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unpaid bonus, if any, and
vacation accrued as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, and as severance compensation (A) salary continuation at Executive’s then-current
base salary for six (6) months ’and 50% of Executive’s target bonus as in effect at the date of termination if Executive’s employment is terminated within the
first 12 months of employment, or (B) salary continuation at Executive’s then-current base salary for twelve (12) months ’and 100% of Executive’s target
bonus as in effect at the date of termination if Executive’s employment is terminated after 12 months of employment, (C) accelerated vesting of 100% of the
then unvested restricted stock granted to Executive, and (D) accelerated vesting of 50% of the then unvested stock options granted to Executive.  The salary
continuation described in clauses (A) and (B) of this paragraph shall begin as soon as practicable after the effective date of Executive’s separation agreement,
no later than 60 days after the date of Executive’s termination of employment, subject to such payroll deductions and withholdings as are required by law.

 
(iii)        Change of Control.  In the event Asterias (or any successor in interest to Asterias that has assumed Asterias’ obligation

under this Agreement) terminates Executive’s employment without “Cause” or Executive resigns for “Good Reason” within twelve (12) months following a
Change in Control, Executive will be entitled to receive payment for all accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unpaid bonus, if any, and vacation accrued as
of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, and as severance compensation (A) an amount equal to the sum of 100% of Executive’s base salary
and 100% of Executive’s target bonus as in effect at the date of termination, which shall be paid in a lump sum as soon as practicable after the effective date
of Executive’s separation agreement, no later than 60 days after the date of Executive’s termination of employment, subject to such payroll deductions and
withholdings as are required by law and (B) accelerated vesting of 100%) of Executive’s then unvested stock options and restricted stock.
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(b)           Release.  Any other provision of this Agreement notwithstanding, paragraphs (a)(ii) and (a)(iii) of this Section shall not apply
unless Executive (i) has executed a separation agreement including a general release of all claims against Asterias or its successor in interest (in a form
prescribed by Asterias or its successor in interest), (ii) has returned all property in Executive’s possession belonging Asterias or its successor in interest, and
(iii) if serving as a director has tendered his written resignation as a director as provided in Section 7.

 
(c)           Definitions.  For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply:

 
(i)          “Affiliated Group” means (A) a Person and one or more other Persons in control of, controlled by, or under common control

with such Person; and (B) two or more Persons who, by written agreement among them, act in concert to acquire Voting Securities entitling them to elect a
majority of the directors of Asterias.

 
(ii)         “Cause” means:  (A) commission of any act of fraud as determined by the Board; (B) commission of any act of gross

misconduct or dishonesty with respect to Asterias which causes material harm to either Asterias; (C) indictment for, conviction of, or plea of guilty or “no
contest” to, any felony; (D material breach of any provision of this Agreement or  of any proprietary information and inventions agreement with Asterias; (E)
failure to follow the lawful directions of the Board after receiving written notice of the specific failure and fifteen (15) days in which to cure such failure; (F)
chronic alcohol or drug abuse; (G) obtaining, in connection with any transaction in which Asterias is a party, a material undisclosed (to the Board or an audit
committee of the Board) financial benefit for Executive or for any member of Executive’s immediate family or for any corporation, partnership, limited
liability company, or trust in which Executive or any member of Executive’s immediate family owns a material financial interest; or (H) harassing or
discriminating against, or participating or assisting in the harassment of or discrimination against, any employee of Asterias based upon gender, race,
religion, ethnicity, or nationality as determined by the Board; provided, however, that with respect to each of foregoing clauses (A) through (H), no “Cause”
shall exist unless the Board shall have acted in good faith in determining that such Cause exists, after providing Executive with reasonable written notice of
the specific act(s) at issue and a fair opportunity to present his position (with the involvement of counsel) to the Board prior to any decision being reached.

 
(iii)        “Change of Control” means (A) the acquisition of Voting Securities of Asterias by a Person or an Affiliated Group entitling

the holder thereof to elect a majority of the directors of Asterias; provided, that an increase in the amount of Voting Securities held by a Person or Affiliated
Group who on the date of this Agreement owned beneficially owned (as defined in Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the
regulations thereunder) more than 30% of the Voting Securities shall not constitute a Change of Control unless such Person or Affiliated Group acquires 80%
or more of the Voting Securities; and provided, further, that an acquisition of Voting Securities by one or more Persons acting as an underwriter in connection
with a sale or distribution of such Voting Securities shall not constitute a Change of Control under this clause (A); (B) the sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of Asterias; or (C) a merger or consolidation of Asterias with or into another corporation or entity in which the stockholders of Asterias immediately
before such merger or consolidation do not own, in substantially the same percentages, Voting Securities of the surviving corporation or entity (or the
ultimate parent of the surviving corporation or entity) entitling them, in the aggregate (and without regard to whether they constitute an Affiliated Group) to
elect a majority of the directors or persons holding similar powers of the surviving corporation or entity (or the ultimate parent of the surviving corporation or
entity).
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(iv)         “Disability” shall mean Executive’s inability to perform the essential functions of Executive’s job responsibilities for a
period of one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate in any twelve (12) month period.

 
(v)          “Good Reason” means (A) a diminution in Executive’s base salary; (B) a material change in geographic location at which

Executive must perform services (a change in location of the Asterias  office at which Executive will primarily work will be considered material only if it
increases Executive’s current one-way commute by more than twenty five (25) miles); (C) any material failure of the successors to Asterias after a Change of
Control to perform, or causing Asterias not to perform, Asterias’ obligations under this Agreement; (D) any action or inaction of Asterias that constitutes a
material breach of the terms of this Agreement; or (E) any other material adverse change in Executive’s duties, authorities, responsibilities, or reporting
structure (for example, if Executive is required to report to anyone other than the Board or its successor, or if Executive is removed from the Board as a result
of an action by the Board or by an action of BioTime, Inc.”, provided, however, that Good Reason shall not be deemed to have occurred unless (A) Executive
shall first have provided written notice of said Good Reason to Asterias within thirty (30) days of the occurrence of the event(s) giving rise to Good Reason,
reasonably explaining such events in said written notice, and (B) Asterias shall have failed to cure said Good Reason within thirty (30) days of its receipt of
Executive’s written notice, and (C) Executive shall have provided written notice of termination within thirty (30) days of the expiration of Asterias’ 30-day
cure period.

 
(vi)          “Person” means any natural person or any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, unincorporated

business association, or other entity.
 
(vii)          “Voting Securities” means shares of capital stock or other equity securities entitling the holder thereof to regularly vote

for the election of directors (or for person performing a similar function if the issuer is not a corporation), but does not include the power to vote upon the
happening of some condition or event which has not yet occurred.

 
(d)           Limitation on Payments.  In the event that any payments to Executive shall be subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the

Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) the limitations set forth in Exhibit C shall apply.
 

6.            Turnover of Property and Documents on Termination.  Executive agrees that on or before termination of Executive’s employment,
Executive will return to Asterias all equipment and other property belonging to Asterias, and all originals and copies of Confidential Information (in any and
all media and formats, and including any document or other item containing Confidential Information) in Executive’s possession or control, and all of the
following (in any and all media and formats, and whether or not constituting or containing Confidential Information) in Executive’s possession or control: 
(a) lists and sources of customers; (b) proposals or drafts of proposals for any research grant, research or development project or program, marketing plan,
licensing arrangement, or other arrangement with any third party; (c) reports, job or laboratory notes, specifications, and drawings pertaining to the research,
development, products, patents, and technology of Asterias; (d) any and all Intellectual Property developed by Executive during the course of employment;
and (e) the Manual and memoranda related to the Policies.
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7.            Resignation as a Director on Termination of Employment.  If Executive’s employment by Asterias is terminated for any reason or for no
reason, whether by way of resignation, Disability, or termination by Asterias with or without Cause, and if Executive is then a member of the Board or any
subsidiary of Asterias, Executive shall within two business days after such termination of employment resign from the Board and from the board of directors
of each and every subsidiary of Asterias, by delivering to Asterias (or subsidiary as applicable) a letter or other written communication addressed to the Board
(or subsidiary as applicable) stating that Executive is resigning from the Board(or subsidiary of Asterias as applicable) effective immediately.  A business day
shall be any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday on which federal offices are closed.

 
8.            Arbitration.  Except for injunctive proceedings against unauthorized disclosure of Confidential Information or a violation of Section 3

above, any and all claims or controversies between Asterias and Executive, including but not limited to (a) those involving the construction or application of
any of the terms, provisions, or conditions of this Agreement or the Policies; (b) all contract or tort claims of any kind; and (c) any claim based on any federal,
state, or local law, statute, regulation, or ordinance, including claims for unlawful discrimination or harassment, shall be settled by arbitration in accordance
with the then current Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  Judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator(s)
may be entered by any court having jurisdiction over Asterias and Executive.  The location of the arbitration shall be San Francisco, California.  Unless
Asterias and Executive mutually agree otherwise, the arbitrator shall be a single arbitrator selected from a panel provided by the American Arbitration
Association, or the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Service (JAMS).  Asterias shall pay the arbitrator’s fees and costs.  Executive shall pay for Executive’s
own costs and attorneys’ fees, if any.  Asterias shall pay for its own costs and attorneys’ fees, if any.  However, if any party prevails on a statutory claim which
affords the prevailing party attorneys’ fees, the arbitrator shall award reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs to the prevailing party consistent with the relevant
statute(s).

 
EXECUTIVE UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE CONSTITUTES A WAIVER OF EXECUTIVE’S RIGHT
TO A TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY MATTERS COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT TO ARBITRATE.
 
9.            Severability. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement or the Policies shall be held to be invalid or unenforceable in whole

or in part, those provisions to the extent enforceable and all other provisions shall nevertheless continue to be valid and enforceable as though the invalid or
unenforceable parts had not been included in this Agreement or the Policies.  In the event that any provision relating to a time period of restriction shall be
declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to exceed the maximum time period such court deems reasonable and enforceable, then the time period of
restriction deemed reasonable and enforceable by the court shall become and shall thereafter be the maximum time period.

 
10.          Agreement Read and Understood. Executive acknowledges that Executive has carefully read the terms of this Agreement, that Executive

has had an opportunity to consult with an attorney or other representative of Executive’s own choosing regarding this Agreement, that Executive understands
the terms of this Agreement, and that Executive is entering this agreement of Executive’s own free will.
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11.          Complete Agreement, Modification.  This Agreement, including all Exhibits hereto, is the complete agreement between Executive and
Asterias on the subjects contained in this Agreement.  This Agreement supersedes and replaces all previous correspondence, promises, representations, and
agreements, if any, either written or oral with respect to Executive’s employment by Asterias and any matter covered by this Agreement.  No provision of this
Agreement may be modified, amended, or waived except by a written document signed both by Asterias and Executive.

 
12.          Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State of California.
 
13.          Assignability.  This Agreement, and the rights and obligations of Executive and Asterias under this Agreement, may not be assigned by

Executive.  Asterias may assign any of its rights and obligations under this Agreement to any successor or surviving corporation, limited liability company,
or other entity resulting from a merger, consolidation, sale of assets, sale of stock, sale of membership interests, or other reorganization, upon condition that
the assignee shall assume, either expressly or by operation of law, all of Asterias’ obligations under this Agreement.

 
14.          Survival.  This Section 14 and the covenants and agreements contained in Sections 3, 4, 6, 7, and 8 of this Agreement shall survive

termination of this Agreement and Executive’s employment.
 
15.          Notices.  Any notices or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be

mailed by certified mail, return receipt requested, or sent by next business day air courier service, or personally delivered to the party to whom it is to be
given at the address of such party set forth on the signature page of this Agreement (or to such other address as the party shall have furnished in writing in
accordance with the provisions of this Section 15).

16.          Indemnification and Insurance.  Subject to any limitation imposed by the bylaws, for so long as Executive is employed by Asterias and at
all times thereafter, Asterias shall indemnify Executive (and Executive’s legal representatives or other successors) to the fullest extent permitted by
applicable law or by the terms of any indemnification agreement between Executive and Asterias, whichever affords or afforded greater protection to
Executive, against all costs, charges and expenses whatsoever incurred or sustained by Executive or his legal representatives at the time such costs, charges
and expenses are incurred or sustained, in connection with any legal action, suit or proceeding to which Executive (or Executive’s legal representatives or
other successors) may be made a party by reason of Executive’s being or having been a director, officer, employee, or consultant of or to Asterias, or any
subsidiary or Executive’s serving or having served any other enterprise as a director, officer, employee or fiduciary at the request of Asterias.  In addition,
during Executive’s employment with Asterias and at all times thereafter, Asterias agrees to continue and maintain a directors and officers liability insurance
policy covering Executive with coverage no less than that available to active directors and officers of Asterias.  Asterias’ obligations hereunder shall inure to
the benefit of Executive’s heirs, executors and administrators and shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

 
17.          Section 409A of the Code.  It is intended that the payments and benefits provided under this Agreement shall comply with the provisions of

Section 409A of the Code and the regulations relating thereto (“Section 409A”), or an exemption to Section 409A, and this Agreement shall be interpreted
accordingly.  Any payments or benefits that qualify for the “short-term deferral” exception or another exception under Section 409A shall be paid under the
applicable exception.  Each payment under this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A.  All payments that constitute
“nonqualified deferred compensation” under Section 409A that are to be made upon a termination of employment under this Agreement may only be made
upon a “separation from service” under Section 409A.  In addition, to the extent that any payments of “nonqualified deferred compensation” due under this
Agreement are subject to the effectiveness of a release, and the period for executing, delivery, and not revoking such release begins and ends in different tax
years for Executive, all such “nonqualified deferred compensation” shall be paid or settled in the later taxable year.  If Executive becomes entitled to a
payment of “nonqualified deferred compensation” as a result of Executive's termination of employment and at such time Executive is a “specified
employee,” such payment shall be postponed to the extent necessary to satisfy Section 409A, and any amounts so postponed shall be paid in a lump sum on
the first business day that is six months and one day after Executive's separation from service (or any earlier date of Executive's death).  If the compensation
and benefits provided under this Agreement would subject Executive to taxes or penalties under Section 409A, Asterias and Executive shall cooperate
diligently to amend the terms of this Agreement to avoid such taxes and penalties, to the extent possible under applicable law.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Executive and Asterias have executed this Agreement on the day and year first above written.

EXECUTIVE:  
   
/s/ Stephen L. Cartt  
Stephen L. Cartt  
 
Address: Last address on file with Asterias
   
ASTERIAS:   
 
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.  
    
 By: /s/ Natale Ricciardi  
    
 Title: Compensation Committee Chair  
    
 Address: 6500 Dumbarton Circle  
  Fremont, CA  94555  
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EXHIBIT A
 

Job Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

Description of Job and Duties:  Executive shall perform the duties and functions as are normally carried out by a Chief Executive Officer of a developer of
pharmaceutical or medical products of a size comparable to Asterias, and as the Board shall from time to time reasonably determine.  Without limiting the
generality of the immediately preceding sentence, Executive shall (i) manage stem cell research and development of technologies and products for human
therapeutic purposes based on human stem cells, including but not limited to embryonic stem cells, induced pluripotent stem cells, and human embryonic
progenitor cells; (ii) participate in capital raising efforts on behalf of Asterias; and (iii) participate in the acquisition of companies in the business of
developing products and technologies in the field of human stem cell research and regenerative medicine, or, the acquisition of assets of such companies, to
the extent that Asterias has or obtains sufficient capital for such purpose.

Annual Salary: $ 452,400 commencing as of February 29, 2016.

Vacation and Sick Days Annually:  21 days.  For the year 2016, Executive shall be permitted to take up to 20 days of vacation to attend to previously
planned family commitments.

Equity Incentive Plan Awards:  Pursuant to award agreements that reflect the relevant terms of this Agreement, (A) incentive stock options (within the
meaning of Section 422 of the Code to purchase 1,000,000 shares of common stock under the Asterias Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) at an exercise price
of $3.64 per share, subject to vesting as set forth below and (B) 200,000 shares of restricted stock under the Plan, which shares shall be subject to vesting as
described below:

· Option vesting:  in 48 equal monthly installments commencing on March 31, 2016 conditioned upon Executive’s employment at the end of the
applicable month, subject to accelerated vesting as set forth below

· Restricted stock restriction provisions:  50% on each of August 31, 2016 and February 28, 2017,  conditioned upon Executive’s employment on
each vesting date, subject to accelerated vesting as set forth below
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EXHIBIT B
California Labor Code Section 2870.

 
Application of provision providing that employee shall assign or offer to assign rights in invention to employer.
 

(a)           Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign, or offer to assign, any of his or her rights in an
invention to his or her employer shall not apply to an invention that the employee developed entirely on his or her own time without using the employer’s
equipment, supplies, facilities, or trade secret information except for those inventions that either:

 
(i)          Relate at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention to the employer’s business, or actual or demonstrably

anticipated research or development of the employer; or

(ii)          Result from any work performed by the employee for his employer.

(b)          To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to require an employee to assign an invention otherwise excluded from
being required to be assigned under subdivision (a), the provision is against the public policy of this state and is unenforceable.
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EXHIBIT C
Limitation on Payments.

 
(a)           Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, in the event that any payment or benefit received or to be received by Executive

(including any payment or benefit received in connection with a Change in Control or the termination of Executive’s employment, whether pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement or any other plan, arrangement or agreement) (all such payments and benefits, including the payments and benefits under Section 5
of this Agreement, being hereinafter referred to as the “Total Payments”) would be subject (in whole or part), to the excise tax imposed under Section 4999 of
the Code (the “Excise Tax”), then, after taking into account any reduction in the Total Payments provided by reason of Section 280G of the Code in such
other plan, arrangement or agreement, the Total Payments shall be reduced to the extent necessary so that no portion of the Total Payments is subject to the
Excise Tax but only if (i) the net amount of such Total Payments, as so reduced (and after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income taxes
on such reduced Total Payments and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such reduced
Total Payments) is greater than or equal to (ii) the net amount of such Total Payments without such reduction (but after subtracting the net amount of federal,
state and local income taxes on such Total Payments and the amount of Excise Tax to which Executive would be subject in respect of such unreduced Total
Payments and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such unreduced Total Payments).  The
Total Payments shall be reduced in the following order: (A) reduction of any cash severance payments otherwise payable to Executive that are exempt from
Section 409A, (B) reduction of any other cash payments or benefits otherwise payable to Executive that are exempt from Section 409A, but excluding any
payment attributable to the acceleration of vesting or payment with respect to any stock option or other equity award with respect to the Company's Common
Stock that are exempt from Section 409A, (C) reduction of any other payments or benefits otherwise payable to Executive on a pro-rata basis or such other
manner that complies with Section 409A, but excluding any payment attributable to the acceleration of vesting and payment with respect to any stock option
or other equity award with respect to the Company's common stock that are exempt from Section 409A, and (D) reduction of any payments attributable to the
acceleration of vesting or payment with respect to any stock option or other equity award with respect to the Company's common stock that are exempt from
Section 409A.  The foregoing reductions shall be made in a manner that results in the maximum economic benefit to Executive and, to the extent
economically equivalent, in a pro rata manner.

 
(b)           For purposes of determining whether and the extent to which the Total Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, (i) no portion of the

Total Payments the receipt or enjoyment of which Executive shall have waived at such time and in such manner as not to constitute a “payment” within the
meaning of Section 280G(b) of the Code shall be taken into account, (ii) no portion of the Total Payments shall be taken into account which, in the written
opinion of an accounting firm or compensation consulting firm with nationally recognized standing and substantial expertise and experience on Section
280G matters (the “280G Firm”) selected by Executive, does not constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code
(including by reason of Section 280G(b)(4)(A) of the Code) and, in calculating the Excise Tax, no portion of such Total Payments shall be taken into account
which, in the opinion of the 280G Firm, constitutes reasonable compensation for services actually rendered, within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of
the Code, in excess of the Base Amount (as defined in Section 280G(b)(3) of the Code) allocable to such reasonable compensation, and (iii) the value of any
non-cash benefit or any deferred payment or benefit included in the Total Payments shall be determined by the 280G Firm in accordance with the principles
of Sections 280G(d)(3) and (4) of the Code.
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(c)           The 280G Firm will be directed to submit its determination and detailed supporting calculations to both Executive and the Company
within fifteen (15) days after notification from either the Company or Executive that Executive may receive payments which may be “parachute payments.” 
Executive and the Company will each provide the 280G Firm access to and copies of any books, records, and documents in their possession as may be
reasonably requested by the 280G Firm, and otherwise cooperate with the 280G Firm in connection with the preparation and issuance of the determinations
and calculations contemplated by this section.  The fees and expenses of the 280G Firm for its services in connection with the determinations and
calculations contemplated by this section will be borne by the Company
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Exhibit 10.33
 

 
March 10, 2016
 
Pedro Lichtinger

Re: Separation Agreement and Release of All Claims
 
Dear Pedro:
 
1. This letter will confirm our agreement (“Agreement”) concerning your separation from employment with Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias” or

“Company”).
 
2. Your employment with Asterias terminated on February 29, 2016 at 12:01am Pacific Time. (“Separation Date”)  Your Employment Agreement

terminated on your Separation Date.
 
3. Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will pay you Severance in the amount of $226,200, less withholding.
 
4. Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will also pay you $248,800, less withholding, which represents your

total potential bonus opportunity.
 
5. On your Separation Date you were paid all accrued but unpaid wages ($16,958.33) and accrued but unused vacation ($19,958.65), all less

withholding, irrespective of whether you sign the Agreement.
 
6. On or before March 14, 2016, you will deliver to Asterias’ Chief Executive Officer an expense report for reasonable and necessary business expenses

you have incurred since you submitted your last expense report.  The expense report shall have attached supporting documentation.  Such
reasonable and necessary business expenses shall be paid to you within ten (10) business days of your delivery of the expense report to the Chief
Executive Officer.

 
7. You will receive accelerated vesting of fifty percent (50%) of the unvested stock options granted to you as of your Separation Date.
 
8. You will receive accelerated vesting of the remaining 5,983 shares of unvested restricted stock that you have been awarded in connection with your

2014 bonus and that are scheduled to vest on March 31, 2016.
 
6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA 94555
Tel: (510) 456-3800



9. Within two (2) business days of your execution of this Agreement, you will return all equipment and other property belonging to Asterias and its
related companies, and all originals and copies of confidential information (in any and all media and formats, and including any document or other
item containing confidential information) in your possession or control, and all of the following (in any and all media and formats, and whether or
not constituting or containing confidential information) in your possession or control:  (a) lists and sources of customers; (b) proposals or drafts of
proposals for any research grant, research or development project or program, marketing plan, licensing arrangement, or other arrangement with any
third party; (c) reports, job or laboratory notes, specifications, and drawings pertaining to the research, development, products, patents, and
technology of Asterias and its related companies; (d) any and all intellectual property developed by you during the course of employment; and (e)
the Asterias employment manual and memoranda related to the Company’s policies and procedures.

 
10. Effective March 3, 2016, you resigned from the Board of Directors of Asterias and from the Board of Directors of each and every Company

subsidiary.
 
11. In consideration for the payment in paragraph 3 above, you fully release Asterias and its related and/or affiliated companies, their past and present

agents, employees, officers, directors and representatives (“Releasees”) from all rights, claims and actions of any kind which you have or may have
against Releasees arising out of your employment with or separation from Asterias, through action of law, statute, constitution or contract, including,
but not limited to, claims for wrongful discharge and claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Fair Employment and Housing Act, the California Labor Code, the New York
State and City Human Rights Laws and the New York Labor Law.  The foregoing statutory and common-law theories are recited only as examples. 
This release extends to all claims, which may be lawfully released by you, whether included in the list or not.

 
12. You agree not to file any suit or complaint against Releasees relating to your employment with Asterias, the severance of that relationship, or any

cause of action or event that arose prior to the date of this Agreement or that is contemplated by this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement is
intended to prevent you from filing charges with administrative agencies such as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), or the
Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or from participating in any investigation by such an agency.  You agree, however, that this Agreement
precludes any subsequent individual non-governmental legal action by you or on your behalf against Releasees and that the payments received
pursuant to this Agreement constitute a full accord and satisfaction of any individual claims against Releasees.  Nothing in this Agreement shall
prevent you from bringing claims that may not be individually released by you.

 
13. The parties agree that they will not unlawfully interfere with existing or prospective business relationships of the other.  Nothing in the Agreement

shall be construed to limit the parties’ ability to engage in competitive business.
 



14. You expressly waive all rights under section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:
 

A general release does not extend to claims which a creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favour at the
time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the
debtor.
 

15. Notwithstanding your separation from the Company, the Company shall indemnify you and hold you harmless for any expenses, liability or losses
incurred by you in the course and scope of or arising out of the course and scope of your employment with Asterias.  By entering into this Agreement
you do not waive any coverage provided by the Company’s Directors and Officers insurance.

 
16. You affirm that you have no pending legal actions against Asterias or Releasees and that you have not sustained any workplace injuries or illnesses

that are not the subject of a previously filed workers' compensation claim.
 
17. You acknowledge and agree that during your employment, and with the payments provided in paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8 above, you have

received all of the pay and benefits to which you were entitled under Asterias policy and by law, that you have been reimbursed for all business
expenses you incurred during your employment with Asterias, and that you are not entitled to any other compensation, benefits or payments.

 
18. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered as an admission of fault by any party or construed as an admission of liability on the part of any of

the parties to this Agreement.
 
19. You agree to waive any and all rights to reinstatement of employment with Asterias and its related or affiliated companies and agree that Asterias

and its related or affiliated companies may reject without cause any application for employment made by you.
 
20. You fully understand that if any facts with respect to this Agreement, or your prior treatment by, relationship with or employment with Asterias, be

found in the future to be other than or different from the facts now assumed by you to be true, you expressly accept and assume the risk of such
possible difference of facts and agree that this Agreement shall remain effective notwithstanding such difference in facts or belief.

 
21. You acknowledge access to and receipt of confidential business and proprietary information regarding Asterias and its clients while working for the

Company.  This information may be in a variety of paper and electronic forms.  You agree not to make any such information known to any member
of the public and to comply with all applicable ethical responsibilities.

 
22. You agree to cooperate with Releasees regarding any pending or subsequently filed litigation claims or other disputes involving Releasees that

relate to matters within your knowledge or responsibility and in which you are not a party.  Without limiting the foregoing, you agree (i) to meet
with Releasees’ representatives, their counsel or other designees at mutually convenient times and places with respect to any items within the scope
of this provision; (ii) to provide truthful testimony regarding same to any court, agency, or other adjudicatory body; and (iii) to provide Asterias
with notice of contact by any adverse party or such adverse party’s representative, except as may be required by law.  Asterias will reimburse you for
reasonable expenses in connection with the cooperation described in this paragraph.

 



23. By signing this Agreement you acknowledge that:
 

(a) You understand that you have twenty-one (21) days from the date you received this Agreement to consider whether to enter into this
Agreement.  You may enter into this Agreement before the 21-day consideration period expires, but by doing so you acknowledge that
Asterias has in no way pressured or encouraged you to do so.

 
(b) Any changes, whether material or immaterial, to this Agreement do not restart the twenty-one (21) day period.

 
(c) You have been advised in writing to have counsel of your choice review this Agreement, and you have had counsel review the Agreement.

 
(d) The lump sum payment described in Paragraph 3 above is in addition to anything to which you are otherwise entitled.

 
(e) You intend to release all potential claims of discrimination, including age discrimination.

 
(f) You intend that this Agreement is a binding waiver of claims against Releasees.

 
24. You have seven (7) calendar days following the execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement.  This Agreement will not become effective or

enforceable until the revocation period has expired.  The eighth (8th) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement and your delivery of
the Agreement to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer will be the Effective Date of this Agreement.  If you seek to revoke within seven (7)
calendar days following your execution of this Agreement, such revocation must be in writing and delivered to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, by the seventh (7th) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement.

 
25. This Agreement constitutes the complete and total agreement between you and Asterias regarding your employment or separation from employment

and supersedes any other agreements between the Parties.  If any provision or term of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, the
validity of the remaining provisions or terms shall not be affected.

 
26. You understand that the release of claims described in this Agreement extends to matters which have occurred up until you sign this Agreement and

to matters which are contemplated by this Agreement, including your separation from employment.
 



27. Provided you fully understand and agree to the terms of this Agreement, please sign this letter in the space provided below and return it to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer at 6500 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA  94555.

/s/ Natale Ricciardi  
  
Natale Ricciardi  
Compensation Committee Chair  
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.  

I have read and understand the foregoing, and agree to its terms.
 
Dated:    March 10, 2016

/s/ Pedro Lichtinger  
Pedro Lichtinger  
 
 



Exhibit 10.34
                                    
Confidential Materials Omitted and Filed Separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment under

Rule 24b-2 under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  Confidential Portions are marked: [***]
                                    

AMENDMENT TO NOTICE OF AWARD – RFA 13-03A - CIRM Strategic Partnership III Track A Awards
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine

Amendment Number: 2
Amendment Date: 3/2/16

Award Number: SP3A-07552 Total Award Amount: $14,323,318
Awardee Name: Asterias Biotherapeutics Awardee ID: PR-Y0035A-SF
Principal Investigator: Jane Stephanie Lebkowski

 
Project Period Start Date:
Project Period End Date:

10/01/2014
09/30/2018

Project Title: A Phase I/IIa Dose Escalation Safety Study of AST-OPC1 in Patients with Cervical Sensorimotor Complete Spinal
Cord Injury

 Authorized Organization Official and Address: Official and Address to Receive Payments:
 Katherine E. Spink  Katherine E. Spink  
 Chief Operating Officer  Chief Operating Officer  
 6300 Dumbarton Circle  6300 Dumbarton Circle  
 Fremont, CA 94555  Fremont, CA 94555  
 
The terms and conditions of the original NGA and any prior Amendments to the NGA continue in full force and effect except for those changes specified in
this Amendment. The Principal Investigator and Authorized Organizational Official must sign and return this Amendment to CIRM within 30 days of
the Amendment date stated above. CIRM may hold future payments on this Award until the fully signed Amendment is received. This Amendment replaces
the Go/No Go and Progress Milestones set forth in Appendix A to the NGA, Amendment 1, and the disbursement schedule (“Quarterly Installments on Grant
Payments”) in the NGA, Amendment 1, beginning with the previously planned 4/1/16 payment, and is effective immediately:
 
A. Change in Milestones and Payment Schedule

Operational Milestone achievement is an important indicator of progress and will determine future award disbursements.  Funds will not be disbursed
until each Operational Milestone is achieved. Failure to achieve an Operational Milestone, as determined in CIRM’s sole discretion, will result in the
suspension of further funding. These Operational Milestones will be used as a basis for payment disbursement, unless further modified with Prior
Approval from CIRM.  Changes to Operational Milestones and/or Suspension Events shall be accomplished only by agreement of both parties via an
Amendment to this Notice of Award.

The Operational Milestones (OM) and disbursement schedule are as follows:

OM  Description  Payment Amount  
A  [***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 2  $ 2,500,000  
B  [***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 3  $ 2,500,000  
C  [***] Patient Enrolled in Cohort 3 (as planned with 5 patients)  $ 1,525,614  

CIRM will also impose Suspension Events; defined as any event that halts or terminates the planned clinical study including:

· Failure to manufacture and release the cell product
· Failure to enroll and dose patients

The Awardee must immediately report the occurrence of a Suspension Event to CIRM and must submit a plan to resolve the issues associated with the
Suspension Event to CIRM within 30 days of the Suspension Event.  The Awardee may only use CIRM funds for allowable Project Costs for up to 30
days following the occurrence of a Suspension Event.  After 30 days, the Awardee must use its own funding for the project, unless CIRM, in its sole
discretion, determines that Awardee has satisfactorily resolved the Suspension Event.
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By continuing to accept and use CIRM funds provided under this award, Awardee and Principal Investigator accept the modified terms reflected in this
Amendment.
 
/s/ Ramona Doyle  
Ramona Doyle, M.D.  
Vice President, Therapeutics, CIRM  
 
/s/ Jane Stephanie Lebkowski  
Jane Stephanie Lebkowski  
Principal Investigator, Asterias Biotherapeutics  
 
/s/ Katharine E. Spink  
Katharine E. Spink  
Authorized Organization Official, Asterias
Biotherapeutics  
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Exhibit 10.35
 

March 9, 2016

Re: Separation Agreement and Release of All Claims

Dear Georgia:

1. This letter will confirm our agreement (“Agreement”) concerning your separation from employment with Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (“Asterias” or
“Company”).

2. Your employment with Asterias will terminate on March 10, 2016. (“Separation Date”) Your Employment Agreement will also terminate on your
Separation Date. Your termination of employment will be treated as a resignation.

3. There is no material dispute between the parties.

4. Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will pay you Severance in the amount of $82,500, less withholding.

5. Within five (5) business days of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Asterias will also pay you $27,500, less withholding, which represents your
total potential bonus opportunity.

6. On your Separation Date you will be paid all accrued but unpaid wages ($11,423.08) and accrued but unused vacation ($6,598.57), all less
withholding, irrespective of whether you sign this Agreement.

7. On or before March 31, 2016, you will deliver to Asterias’ Chief Executive Officer an expense report for reasonable and necessary business expenses
you have incurred since you submitted your last expense report. The expense report shall have attached supporting documentation. Such reasonable
and necessary business expenses shall be paid to you within ten (10) business days of your delivery of the expense report to the Chief Executive
Officer.

8. The parties agree that they will not interfere with existing or prospective business relationships of the other.

6300 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA 94555
Tel: (510) 456-3800



9. Within two (2) business days of your Separation Date, you will return all equipment and other property belonging to Asterias and its related
companies, and all originals and copies of confidential information (in any and all media and formats, and including any document or other item
containing confidential information) in your possession or control, and all of the following (in any and all media and formats, and whether or not
constituting or containing confidential information) in your possession or control: (a) lists and sources of customers; (b) proposals or drafts of
proposals for any research grant, research or development project or program, marketing plan, licensing arrangement, or other arrangement with any
third party; (c) reports, job or laboratory notes, specifications, and drawings pertaining to the research, development, products, patents, and
technology of Asterias and its related companies; (d) any and all intellectual property developed by you during the course of employment; and (e)
the Asterias employment manual and memoranda related to the Company’s policies and procedures.

10. In consideration for the payment in paragraph 3 above, you fully release Asterias and its related and/or affiliated companies, their past and present
agents, employees, officers, directors and representatives (“Releasees”) from all rights, claims and actions of any kind which you have or may have
against Releasees arising out of your employment with or separation from Asterias, through action of law, statute, constitution or contract, including,
but not limited to, claims for wrongful discharge and claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, the Fair Employment and Housing Act, and the California Labor Code. The
foregoing statutory and common-law theories are recited only as examples. This release extends to all claims, which may be lawfully released by
you, whether included in the list or not.

11. You agree not to file any suit or complaint against Releasees relating to your employment with Asterias, the severance of that relationship, or any
cause of action or event that arose prior to the date of this Agreement or that is contemplated by this Agreement. Nothing in this Agreement is
intended to prevent you from filing charges with administrative agencies such as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), or the
Securities & Exchange Commission (“SEC”) or from participating in any investigation by such an agency. You agree, however, that this Agreement
precludes any subsequent individual non-governmental legal action by you or on your behalf against Releasees and that the payments received
pursuant to this Agreement constitute a full accord and satisfaction of any individual claims against Releasees. Nothing in this Agreement shall
prevent you from bringing claims that may not be individually released by you.

12. You expressly waive all rights under section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which reads as follows:

A general release does not extend to claims which a creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favour at the time of executing the
release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

 



13. You affirm that you have no pending legal actions against Asterias or Releasees and that you have not sustained any workplace injuries or illnesses
that are not the subject of a previously filed workers' compensation claim.

14. You acknowledge and agree that during your employment, and with the payments provided in paragraphs 4, 5, 6 and 7, above, you have received all
of the pay and benefits to which you were entitled under Asterias policy and by law, that you have been reimbursed for all business expenses you
incurred during your employment with Asterias, and that you are not entitled to any other compensation, benefits or payments.

15. Nothing in this Agreement shall be considered as an admission of fault by any party or construed as an admission of liability on the part of any of
the parties to this Agreement.

16. You agree to waive any and all rights to reinstatement of employment with Asterias and its related or affiliated companies and agree that Asterias
and its related or affiliated companies may reject without cause any application for employment made by you.

17. You fully understand that if any facts with respect to this Agreement, or your prior treatment by, relationship with or employment with Asterias, be
found in the future to be other than or different from the facts now assumed by you to be true, you expressly accept and assume the risk of such
possible difference of facts and agree that this Agreement shall remain effective notwithstanding such difference in facts or belief.

18. You acknowledge access to and receipt of confidential business and proprietary information regarding Asterias and its clients while working for the
Company. This information may be in a variety of paper and electronic forms. You agree not to make any such information known to any member of
the public and to comply with all applicable ethical responsibilities.

19. You agree to cooperate with Releasees regarding any pending or subsequently filed litigation claims or other disputes involving Releasees that
relate to matters within your knowledge or responsibility and in which you are not a party. Without limiting the foregoing, you agree (i) to meet with
Releasees’ representatives, their counsel or other designees at mutually convenient times and places with respect to any items within the scope of
this provision; (ii) to provide truthful testimony regarding same to any court, agency, or other adjudicatory body; and (iii) to provide Asterias with
notice of contact by any adverse party or such adverse party’s representative, except as may be required by law. Asterias will reimburse you for
reasonable expenses in connection with the cooperation described in this paragraph.

20. By signing this Agreement you acknowledge that:

(a) You understand that you have twenty-one (21) days from the date you received this Agreement to consider whether to enter into this
Agreement. You may enter into this Agreement before the 21-day consideration period expires, but by doing so you acknowledge that
Asterias has in no way pressured or encouraged you to do so.

 



(b) Any changes, whether material or immaterial, to this Agreement do not restart the twenty-one (21) day period.

(c) You have been advised in writing to have counsel of your choice review this Agreement.

(d) The lump sum payment described in Paragraph 3 above is in addition to anything to which you are otherwise entitled.

(e) You intend to release all potential claims of discrimination, including age discrimination.

(f) You intend that this Agreement is a binding waiver of claims against Releasees.

21. You have seven (7) calendar days following the execution of this Agreement to revoke this Agreement. This Agreement will not become effective or
enforceable until the revocation period has expired. The eighth (8th) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement and your delivery of
the Agreement to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer will be the Effective Date of this Agreement. If you seek to revoke within seven
(7) calendar days following your execution of this Agreement, such revocation must be in writing and delivered to the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer, by the seventh (7th) calendar day following your execution of this Agreement.

22. This Agreement constitutes the complete and total agreement between you and Asterias regarding your employment or separation from employment
and supersedes any other agreements between the Parties. If any provision or term of this Agreement is found to be invalid or unenforceable, the
validity of the remaining provisions or terms shall not be affected.

23. You understand that the release of claims described in this Agreement extends to matters which have occurred up until you sign this Agreement and
to matters which are contemplated by this Agreement, including your separation from employment.

24. Provided you fully understand and agree to the terms of this Agreement, please sign this letter in the space provided below and return it to the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer at 6500 Dumbarton Circle, Fremont, CA 94555.

/s/ Stephen L. Cartt  
Stephen L. Cartt  
President and Chief Executive Officer
Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.

I have read and understand the foregoing, and agree to its terms.
 
Date: March 21, 2016  
   
/s/ Georgia Erbez  
Georgia Erbez  
 
 



EXHIBIT 23.1
 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-200745 and 333-204441), and on Form
S-8 (Registration No. 333-202674 and 333-206237) and related prospectuses of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. of our reports dated March 29, 2016 relating to
the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc., which appear in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

/s/ OUM & CO. LLP

San Francisco, California
March 29, 2016
 
 



EXHIBIT 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements and related Prospectus of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”)
on Form S-3 (Registration No. 333-200745 and 333-204441) and on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-202674 and 333-206237) of our report dated March 17,
2014, with respect to the financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2013, included in its Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 31, 2015, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
/s/ Rothstein Kass

New York, New York
March 29, 2016
 
 



Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stephen L. Cartt, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this periodic report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2016

/s/ Stephen L. Cartt  
Stephen L. Cartt  
Principal Executive Officer  
 



Exhibit 31

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Russell L. Skibsted, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this periodic report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date: March 29, 2016

/s/ Russell L. Skibsted  
Russell L. Skibsted  
Principal Financial Officer  
 
 



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Asterias Biotherapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2015 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we Stephen L. Cartt, Chief Executive Officer, and Russell L. Skibsted, Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
 Date: March 29, 2016  
   
 /s/ Stephen L. Cartt  
 Stephen L. Cartt  
 Principal Executive Officer  
   
 /s/ Russell L. Skibsted  
 Russell L. Skibsted  
 Principal Financial Officer  
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